

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

> Brussels, 27.10.2021 SWD(2021) 320 final

PART 1/4

COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT

IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT

Accompanying the documents

Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions as regards requirements for credit risk, credit valuation adjustment risk, operational risk, market risk and the output floor

Proposal for a DIRECTIVE OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Directive 2013/36/EU as regards supervisory powers, sanctions, third-country branches, and environmental, social and governance risks, and amending Directive 2014/59/EU

 $\{COM(2021) 663 final\} - \{SEC(2021) 380 final\} - \{SWD(2021) 321 final\}$

Table of contents

1.	INTRODUCTION: POLITICAL AND LEGAL CONTEXT	5			
2.	PROBLEM DEFINITION				
	2.1. What are the problems and problem drivers?	12			
	2.1.1. Deficiencies in the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements				
	2.1.2. No dedicated capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework17				
	2.1.3. Inconsistency of powers and tools made available to supervisors across the Union				
	2.1.4. Fragmentation and inefficiency in the disclosure of banks' prudential information				
	2.2. How will the problems evolve?				
3.	WHY SHOULD THE EU ACT?				
	3.1. Legal basis				
	3.2. Subsidiarity: Necessity of EU action				
	3.3. Subsidiarity: Added value of EU action	27			
4.	OBJECTIVES: WHAT IS TO BE ACHIEVED?	27			
	4.1. General objectives	27			
	4.2. Specific objectives				
5.	WHAT ARE THE AVAILABLE POLICY OPTIONS?				
	5.1. What is the baseline from which options are assessed?				
	5.2. Description of policy options				
	5.2.1. Improve the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements				
	5.2.2. Dedicated capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework41				
	5.2.3. Improve the consistency in the application of supervisory powers42				
	5.2.4. Reduce disclosure costs and improve market access to bank prudential information				
6.	WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS OF THE POLICY OPTIONS AND HOW WOULD THEY COMPARE?	45			
	6.1. Improve the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements	45			
	6.2. Dedicated capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework	55			
	6.3. Improve the consistency in the application of supervisory powers	57			
	6.4. Reduce disclosure costs and improve market access to bank prudential information	60			
7.	PREFERRED POLICY OPTIONS	61			

	7.1.	Effectiveness		61
	7.2.	Efficiency		62
	7.3.	Coherence		63
	7.4.	REFIT (simplification and improved efficiency	y)	64
8.	HOW	WILL ACTUAL IMPACTS BE MONITORE	D AND EVALUATED	65
AN	NEX 1	: PROCEDURAL INFORMATIONERROR! I	BOOKMARK NOT DEFIN	ED.
1.	LEA	D DG, DECIDE PLANNING/CWP REFEREN	CESERROR! BOOKMARF	K NOT DEFINED.
2.	ORG	ANISATION AND TIMINGERROR! B	OOKMARK NOT DEFINE	CD.
3.	CON	SULTATION OF THE RSB ERROR! B	OOKMARK NOT DEFINE	CD.
4.	EVID	DENCE, SOURCES AND QUALITYERROR!	BOOKMARK NOT DEFIN	NED.
AN	NEX 2	: STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATIONERRO	R! BOOKMARK NOT DEF	TINED.
AN	NEX 3	: WHO IS AFFECTED AND HOW?ERROR!	BOOKMARK NOT DEFIN	NED.
AN	NEX 4	: EVALUATION ERROR! B	OOKMARK NOT DEFINE	CD.
AN	NEX 5	: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT PO	OLICY OPTIONSERROR! I	BOOKMARK NOT
1.	IMPF BASI	ROVE THE CURRENT FRAMEWORK FOR (ED CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS . ERROR! B	CALCULATING RISK- OOKMARK NOT DEFINE	D.
	1.1.0	Credit risk framework – Standardised approach	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
	1.2.0	Credit risk framework – Internal model approach	h Error! Bookmark not defir	ned.
	1.3. N	Market risk framework	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
	1.4. 0	Dperational risk framework	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
	1.5. 0	Credit valuation adjustment risk framework	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
	1.6. N	Ainimum haircut floor framework for SFTs	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
	1.7. S	standardised approach for counterparty credit ris	sk Error! Bookmark not def i	ined.
	1.8. 0	Dutput Floor	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
AN	NEX 6	: SPECIFIC IMPACTS OF PREFERRED POL	LICY OPTIONSERROR! BC	OKMARK NOT D
1. Ir	npact	on administrative and operational costs	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
2. Ir	npact	on competitiveness	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
3. Ir	npact	on SMEs	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
4. N	lacro-e	economic costs and benefits analysis	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
AN	NEX 7	: ANALYTICAL METHODS ERROR! B	OOKMARK NOT DEFINE	CD.
1. E	BA im	pact analysis	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
2. E	CB ma	acroeconomic costs and benefits analysis	Error! Bookmark not define	ed.

List of abbreviations

Term or acronym	Meaning or definition
AIRB	Advanced IRB
BA-CVA	Basic Approached for Credit Valuation Adjustment
BCBS	Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
ССВ	Capital Conservation Buffer
ССуВ	Countercyclical Capital Buffer
CfA	Call for Advice
CIU	Collective Investment Undertaking
CMU	Capital Markets Union
CRR	Capital Requirements Regulation
CRD	Capital Requirements Directive
CVA	Credit Valuation Adjustment
EAD	Exposure At Default
EBA	European Banking Authority
ECB	European Central Bank
EGD	European Green Deal
ESMA	European Securities Markets Authority
EU	European Union
EUCLID	European Centralised Infrastructure for Supervisory Data
FRTB	Fundamental Review of the Trading Book
GaR	Growth-at-Risk
GFC	Great Financial Crisis
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GI	Gross Income
ILM	Internal Loss Multiplier
IRB	Internal Ratings Based
LDP	Low Default Portfolio
MRC	Minimum Required Capital
MS	Member State
OF	Output Floor
PD	Probability of Default

P2R	Pillar 2 Requirement
QIS	Quantitative Impact Study
RW	Risk Weight
RWA	Risk-Weighted Asset
SA-CCR	Standardised Approach for Counterparty Credit Risk
SA-CR	Standardised Approach for Credit Risk
SA-CVA	Standardised Approach for Credit Valuation Adjustment
SFT	Security Financing Transaction
SFTR	Securities Financing Transactions Regulation
SME	Small and medium-sized enterprise
SyRB	Systemic Risk Buffer
SSM	Single Supervisory Mechanism
SREP	Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process
TLAC	Total Loss-Absorbing Capacity
TRIM	Targeted Review of Internal Models

1. INTRODUCTION: POLITICAL AND LEGAL CONTEXT

The Great Financial Crisis of 2008-09 (GFC) had its origins in various deficiencies of the financial sector, in particular in the banking sector. According to the 'Report of the de Larosière Group'¹, the origins of the GFC emanated from the combination of several factors, mainly the low cost of borrowing prevailing before the GFC, the financial market search for ever–higher returns and the emergence, and widespread use, of complex financial products created by bundling up new tradable securities from existing underlying risky loans. The deterioration of the credit quality of a large number of these loans triggered a rapid contagion of financial difficulties across the banking sector, highlighting its various deficiencies, including the failure of credit agencies and financial institutions to appropriately assess the risks of these new securities, the excessive interconnectedness of financial institutions worldwide, the inadequacy of banks' prudential framework to impose sufficient loss-absorbing own funds and liquid assets requirements and the insufficiency of supervisory oversight.

The consequences of the GFC on the financial sector resulted in major costs² for governments as they had to support the financial sector, and also in a massive contraction³ of economic activity in the Union and across the world. In response to the GFC, the Union implemented substantial reforms of the prudential framework applicable to banks in order to enhance their resilience and thus help prevent the recurrence of a similar crisis. Those reforms were largely based on international standards adopted since 2010 by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS)⁴. The standards are collectively known as the Basel III standards, the Basel III reforms or the Basel III framework⁵. A summary of the content and timelines of those reforms, as well as their implementation in the Union, is provided at the end of this Section (see *Figure 3*).

The global standards developed by the BCBS have become increasingly important due to the ever more global and interconnected nature of the banking sector. While a globalised banking sector facilitates international trade and investment, it also generates more complex financial risks. Without uniform global standards, banks could choose to establish their activities in the jurisdiction with the most lenient regulatory and supervisory regimes. This might lead to a regulatory race to the bottom to attract bank businesses, increasing at the same time the risk of global financial instability. International coordination on global standards limits this type of risky competition to a large extent and is key for maintaining financial stability in a globalised world. Global

¹ See "<u>Opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee on the Report of the de Larosière Group</u> (<u>Own-initiative opinion</u>)".

² The total amounts of state aid used by Member States to shore up the banking sector during and after the GFC (i.e. over the 2008-2017 period) is estimated to €2 trillion.

³ While the annual EU GDP growth remained slightly positive in 2008 (+0.8%), it dropped in 2009 (-4.2%) (see <u>https://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/european_economy/2010/interim_forecast_2010-09_en.htm</u>).

⁴ Members of the BCBS comprise central banks and bank supervisors from 28 jurisdictions worldwide. Among the EU Member States, Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Spain, as well as the European Central Bank are members of the BCBS. The European Commission and the EBA participate in BCBS meetings as observers.

⁵ The consolidated Basel III framework is available at <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d462.htm</u>.

standards also simplify the life of internationally active banks – among which are a good number of EU banks – as they guarantee that broadly similar rules are applied in the most important financial hubs worldwide. The EU has therefore been a key proponent of international cooperation in the area of banking regulation

In the Union, the first set of post-crisis reforms that are part of the Basel III framework have been implemented in two steps:

- in June 2013 with the adoption of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, also known as the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR)⁶, and Directive 2013/36/EU, also known as the fourth Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV)⁷;
- in May 2019 with the adoption of Regulation (EU) 2019/876⁸, also known as the second Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR II), and Directive (EU) 2019/878, also known as the fifth Capital Requirements Directive (CRD V)⁹.

The reforms implemented so far focused on increasing the quality and quantity of regulatory capital that banks have to hold to cover potential losses. Furthermore, they aimed at reducing banks' excessive leverage, increasing banks' resilience to short-term liquidity shocks, reducing their reliance on short-term funding, reducing banks' concentration risk, and addressing too-big-to-fail problems¹⁰.

As a result, the new rules strengthened the criteria for eligible regulatory capital, increased minimum capital requirements, and introduced new requirements for credit valuation adjustment¹¹ (CVA) risk and for exposures to central counterparties¹². Furthermore, several new prudential measures were introduced: a minimum leverage ratio requirement, a short-term liquidity ratio (known as the liquidity coverage ratio), a longer-term stable funding ratio (known as the net stable funding ratio), large exposure limits¹³ and macro-prudential capital buffers¹⁴.

⁶ Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (OJ L 321, 26.6.2013, p. 6).

⁷ Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC (OJ L 176, 27.6.2013, p. 338).

⁸ Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 as regards the leverage ratio, the net stable funding ratio, requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities, counterparty credit risk, market risk, exposures to central counterparties, exposures to collective investment undertakings (CIU), large exposures, reporting and disclosure requirements, and Regulation (EU) No 648/2012.

⁹ Directive (EU) 2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending Directive 2013/36/EU as regards exempted entities, financial holding companies, mixed financial holding companies, remuneration, supervisory measures and powers and capital conservation measures. ¹⁰ See <u>https://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs189.htm</u>.

¹¹ CVA is an accounting adjustment to the price of a derivative to account for counterparty credit risk. For more details, see Section 1.5 in Annex 5.

¹² These were the only significant changes to the part of the standards that deal with risk-based capital requirements that were introduced as part of the first stage of the Basel III reform.

¹³ A minimum requirement on large exposure limits was already a feature of Union legislation, but was a novelty for the Basel standards.

Thanks to this first set of reforms implemented in the Union¹⁵, the EU banking sector has become significantly more resilient to financial shocks. One key indication of this increased resilience is the overall increase in regulatory capital EU banks have: between the end of 2014 and mid-2020¹⁶, the average Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)¹⁷ capital ratio¹⁸ of EU banks improved by 2.5 percentage points (pp) to $15\%^{19}$, as shown in *Figure 1*: Weighted average capital and leverage ratios for EU banks over time.²⁰.





Source: Risk Assessment of the European banking system, EBA, December 2020.

Note: the above ratios are based on the prevailing rules of the prudential framework of the Union at the time, including under the prevailing transitional arrangements.

As a result, the EU banking sector entered the COVID-19 crisis on a significantly more resilient footing when compared to its condition at the onset of the GFC. In addition, temporary relief measures were taken by supervisors and legislators at the outset of the COVID-19 crisis. In its Interpretative Communication on the application of the accounting and prudential frameworks to facilitate EU bank lending - Supporting

¹⁴ More specifically the capital conservation buffer (CCB), the countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB), the systemic risk buffer (SyRB), and capital buffers for global and other systemically important banks (respectively, G-SII and O-SII).

¹⁵ Those first set of reforms have also been implemented in most jurisdictions worldwide as can be observed in the eighteenth progress report on adoption of the Basel regulatory framework published in July 2020 (see <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d506.htm</u>).

¹⁶ Before the publication of this impact assessment, these data will be updated with the latest figures as of Q4 2020 which will be published by the EBA in Q2 2021 it their next Risk Assessment Report.

¹⁷ CET 1 capital is the form of banks' capital recognised by the prudential framework for having the highest capacity to absorb unexpected losses that arise during the normal course of banks' businesses. It is mainly composed of banks' common shares and retained earnings.

¹⁸ The CET 1 ratio is calculated by dividing a bank's CET 1 capital by its total assets weighted by their relative riskiness ("risk-weighted assets" or RWA). The CET 1 ratio is a key indicator of banks' resilience to idiosyncratic risks.

¹⁹ EBA Risk Assessment of the European banking system, December 2020 (see <u>https://www.eba.europa.eu/risk-analysis-and-data/risk-assessment-reports</u>).

²⁰ Since 2016 the weighted average leverage ratio of EU banks, which will become a binding requirement in June 2021, remained relatively stable and well above the minimum requirement that would be applicable in the EU (3% for all EU banks from June 2021, at least 3.5% for G-SIIs from January 2023). The fact that the leverage ratio did not increase similar to the capital ratios could be explained by the fact that EU banks reduced their exposures to risky assets over the last few years which has no effect on the leverage ratio.

businesses and households amid COVID-19 of 28 April 2020^{21} , the Commission confirmed the flexibility embedded in the prudential and accounting rules as highlighted by the European Supervisory Authorities and international bodies. In June 2020, colegislators adopted targeted temporary amendments to specific aspects of the prudential framework – the so-called CRR "quick fix" package²². Together with resolute monetary and fiscal policy measures²³, this helped banks to keep on lending to households and companies during the pandemic (as can be observed from *Figure 2* below, which also shows some of the impacts of the relief measures for the Euro area). This, in turn, helped mitigate the economic shock²⁴ resulting from the pandemic.

Figure 2: Annual growth rate of loans to Euro area households (left hand-side) and some aggregate impacts of the temporary relief measures provided by supervisors and legislators in Q2 2020 on banks' CET1 ratio (right hand-side).



Source: European Central Bank (ECB) Financial stability review, November 2020.

Note: In the two right-hand side charts, the y-axis represents the aggregate impacts of temporary relief measures expressed in percentage points changes between the banks' CET1 ratio between end-Q1 2020 (i.e. before the measures applied) and end-Q2 2020 (i.e. after the measures applied). In the left-hand side chart, the x-axis represents the distribution of the aggregate impacts of temporary relief measures across individual banks supervised by the ECB. In the second chart, the x-axis represents the inter-quantile distribution of the individual banks' impacts of two specific temporary relief measures, specifically the amendments to the CRR related to transitional arrangement for the application of IFRS 9 provisions and the date of application of the SME factor.

However, while the overall level of capital in the EU banking system is now considered satisfactory on average, some of the problems that were identified in the wake of the GFC have not yet been addressed. Analyses performed by the EBA and the ECB (see Section 2.1.1) have shown that the capital requirements calculated by EU banks using

²¹ See <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/200428-banking-package-communication_en.</u>

²² See <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32020R0873&from=EN.</u>

²³ A comprehensive list of such measures has been collected by the ESBR, see "<u>Policy measures in</u> response to the COVID-19 pandemic".

²⁴ In its COVID-19 vulnerability analysis published in July 2020, the ECB showed that the largest euro area banks would be sufficiently capitalised to withstand a short-lived deep recession and that the number of those banks with insufficient capital resources in case of a more severe recession would be limited (see https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2020/html/ssm.pr200728_annex~d36d893ca2.en. pdf).

internal models demonstrated a significant level of variability that was not justified by differences in the underlying risks, ultimately undermining the reliability and comparability of their capital ratios. In addition, the lack of risk-sensitivity in the capital requirements calculated using standardised approaches results in insufficient or unduly high capital requirements for some financial products or activities (and hence specific business models primarily based on them). In December 2017, the BCBS agreed on a final set of reforms²⁵ to the international standards to address these problems. In March 2018, the G20 Finance Minister and Central Bank Governors welcomed these reforms²⁶. In 2019, the Commission announced its intention to table a legislative proposal to implement these reforms in the EU prudential framework.²⁷

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the preparatory work has been delayed, reflecting the BCBS's decision of 26 March 2020 to postpone the previously agreed implementation deadlines for the final elements of the Basel III reform by one year²⁸. Beyond the temporary measures adopted to facilitate bank lending in the context of COVID-19 referred above, this delay has allowed the Commission services to reassess the impact of the planned reform in light of the potential consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. The temporarily stressed economic conditions have not altered the Commission services' views on the need to deliver on this structural reform. Completing the reform will address the outstanding issues highlighted above and will thus further strengthen EU banks' financial soundness, putting them in a better position to support economic growth and withstand potential future crises. It will also give banks the necessary regulatory certainty, completing a decade-long reform of the prudential framework for banks. The Commission services consider that the reform can be carried out in a manner that will not disrupt the recovery from the COVID-19 crisis.

This would also be in line with the actions of other members of the BCBS that are committed to implementing the reform timely and faithfully. Indeed, major jurisdictions, (US, UK, JP, HK, CA, AU and SG), have publically committed to adopting rules implementing the reform by 1 January 2023. Some of them, namely JP, CA, HK and SG, have already published draft rules. Those jurisdictions expect the EU to stick to its commitment to implement the reform on time.

Figure 3 below provides an overview of the first and final set of Basel III reforms, as well as the timelines of their adoption in the prudential framework applicable to EU banks.

²⁵ See <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d424.htm</u>

²⁶ See <u>http://www.g20.utoronto.ca/2018/2018-03-30-g20_finance_communique-en.pdf</u>. The relevant passage of the statement - the latter was agreed by the European Union as a member of the G20 - reads: "We welcome the finalisation of Basel III, which completes main elements of the post crisis reforms. We remain committed to the full, timely and consistent implementation and finalisation of the reforms and their evaluation to help identify and address any material unintended consequences and ensure that the reforms accomplish their objectives." The message has regularly been repeated in subsequent G20 press statements. ²⁷ See <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/SPEECH_19_6269</u>.

²⁸ More specifically to 1 January 2023 for the starting date of application and to 1 January 2028 for the full application of the final elements of the reform.

Figure 3: Summary of the main revisions to the Basel framework adopted by the BCBS post-GFC and their implementation timelines in the Union.

2010 Initial Basel 3 reforms	2013-2014 LCR, NSFR, SACCR	2016 Initial FRTB IRRBB	2017 Final Basel 3 reforms	2019- 2020 Final FRTB & CVA	
Increased quality and quantity of regulatory capital Enhance counterparty credit risk framework (CCR and CVA risks) Capital buffers Leverage ratio Large exposures Liquidity requirements	Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) promotes short-term resilience of liquidity risk profile while Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) requires a stable funding profile in relation to on- and off- balance sheet activities <u>Standardised</u> approach for counterparty risk (SACCR) for exposures of derivative transactions	Fundamental Review of the Trading Book (FRTB) addresses structural flaws in the capital requirements for market risk Revisions to the capture of interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB) under Pillar 2	Revision of risk- based capital requirements for: - Credit risk - Operational risk - CVA risk Aggregate <u>output</u> floor Binding leverage ratio and leverage buffer for G-SIBs	Final calibration of FRTB and CVA risk frameworks	
Adoption in Union law					
CRR/CRD4 (2013)	LCR DA (2014)	CRR2/CRD5 (2019)		CRR3/CRD6 ()	

Source: European Commission.

Note: The dates coloured in yellow at the top are the dates of adoption of the various Basel III standards by the BCBS. The dates coloured in blue at the bottom are the dates of adoption of standards in Union law.

The completion of the reform of the prudential framework for banks following the GFC is not the only important initiative related to the banking sector.

Another initiative is linked to the Commission's ongoing work on the transition to a sustainable economy. The Commission Communication on the European Green Deal (EGD)²⁹ clearly set out the Commission's commitment to transform the EU economy into a sustainable economy while also dealing with the inevitable consequences of climate change. It also announced a Sustainable Finance Strategy³⁰ that will build on previous initiatives and reports, such as the action plan on financing sustainable growth³¹ and the reports of the Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance³², but will reinforce the Commission's efforts in this area to bring them in line with the ambitious goals of the EGD. The Taxonomy Regulation³³ will play an important enabling role in this context, by establishing a list of environmentally sustainable economic activities.

Bank-based intermediation will play a crucial role in financing the transition to a more sustainable economy. At the same time, the transition to a more sustainable economy is likely to entail risks for banks that they will need to properly manage to ensure that risks to financial stability are minimised. This is where prudential regulation can play an important role. The abovementioned Strategy acknowledged this and highlighted the need to include a better integration of climate and environmental risks into the EU prudential framework.

 ²⁹ See <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1588580774040&uri=CELEX:52019DC0640.</u>
 ³⁰ See <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/12635-Renewed-</u>sustainable-finance-strategy

³¹ See <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0097</u>.

³² https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/sustainable-finance-high-level-expert-group_en

³³ https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32020R0852

Work in that direction has already started. In the CRR II, the co-legislators introduced a requirement for large, listed banks to disclose environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks and mandated the EBA to prepare two reports on how the treatment of ESG risks could be incorporated in the prudential framework. In October 2019, the EBA published its Action Plan on sustainable finance³⁴, outlining how it intends to achieve the three actions above. In this report, among other things, the EBA encouraged banks to integrate ESG risks, identify simple climate-risk metrics, adopt climate change related scenarios and use scenario analysis.

Work is also ongoing within the international supervisory community. In 2017, central banks and supervisors launched the Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS)³⁵. The aim of the network is to enhance the role of the financial system to manage risks and to mobilise funding for green and low-carbon investments in the broader context of environmentally sustainable development. In May 2020, it has published a handbook for supervisors on how to incorporate climate-related risks into supervision.³⁶

The final area of focus is the proper enforcement of prudential rules. Both supervisors and markets play a crucial role in this respect. In order for rules to achieve their intended effect, they need to be properly enforced. For this to happen, supervisors need to have at their disposal the necessary tools and powers (e.g. powers to authorise banks and their activities, require information from them, or sanction them in case they break the rules). The Commission keeps monitoring the functioning of the supervisors framework laid down in the CRD, including through close dialogue with national supervisors, the ECB and the EBA, in order to ascertain whether the powers and tools made available to supervisors are adequate, complete and used appropriately.

Market discipline is another important tool. In order to for investors to properly exercise they role of monitoring the behaviour of banks, they need to access the necessary information. This is why the CRR requires banks to disclose certain information to the markets. As in the case of the supervisory framework, the Commission keeps monitoring disclosure rules, including through dialogue with market participants, to gauge whether the information disclosed by banks is sufficient and easy to obtain.

The above monitoring activity allows the Commission to identify areas where rules need to be adjusted in order to address identified issues.

³⁴ <u>https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/EBA%20Action%20plan%20</u> on%20sustainable%20finance.pdf.

³⁵ See <u>https://www.ngfs.net/en</u>.

³⁶ https://www.ngfs.net/sites/default/files/medias/documents/ngfs_guide_for_supervisors.pdf

2. **PROBLEM DEFINITION**

2.1. What are the problems and problem drivers?

2.1.1. Deficiencies in the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements

Banks are exposed to different types of risk as part of their day-to-day business. While the specific types of risks (as well as the intensity of those risks) a bank will be exposed to will depend on the business model of that bank, the four main types of risk that might result in financial losses for banks are credit risk, operational risk, market risk and counterparty risk³⁷. In order to ensure that banks have sufficient amounts of regulatory capital to cover unexpected financial losses caused by those risks, banks are subject to binding risk-based capital requirements under the prudential framework (*Figure 4* below shows the aggregate level of risk weighted assets³⁸ (RWA) for those risks for EU banks over the last few years).

Despite the wide-ranging first set of reforms implemented in the Union after the GFC, increased levels of capital (as shown in *Figure 1*: Weighted average capital and leverage ratios for EU banks over time.) have not yet allowed to fully restore the confidence in the EU banking sector and some problems identified during the GFC remain. One important reason for this is the lack of trust in the risk-based capital requirements calculated by using internal models³⁹.

³⁷ Counterparty risk relates to bilateral transactions (e.g. derivatives or securities financing transactions) and include two types of risks: the risk of losses upon the default of the counterparty (default risk) and the risk of market value losses on bilateral transactions due to the decrease in the creditworthiness of the counterparty (CVA risk).

³⁸ In the prudential framework, banks have first to calculate the corresponding RWAs for those risks (the RWAs are calculated by multiplying the size of a bank's exposure (e.g. a loan) with the appropriate risk weight, which captures the degree of riskiness of the exposure) and then determine the capital requirements as a small portion of those RWAs.

³⁹ See for instance <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/basel-committee-to-stop-banks-gaming-risk-models-1446472711; https://blogs.cfainstitute.org/marketintegrity/2015/03/17/bank-risk-weighted-assets-how-to-restore-investor-trust/; or p. 53 of https://voxeu.org/sites/default/files/file/Post_Crisis_Banking_Regulation_VoxEU.pdf.</u>

Figure 4: Amount in EUR trillions of risk weighted assets by type of risk for EU banks over time⁴⁰.



Source: Risk Assessment of the European banking system, EBA, December 2020.

Indeed, banks can use two types of approaches to calculate their risk-based capital requirements: the standardised approaches, which banks have to use by default, or the internal model approaches (based on banks' own modelling assumptions), which banks may use upon the permission from their supervisors.

Standardised approaches are benchmark risk measurement techniques which banks have to us by default unless they have been granted permission to use the internal model approaches. Under these approaches, banks have to calculate their risk-based capital requirements according to standard formulas and pre-defined parameters (e.g. regulatory risk weights, loss-given default parameters, market volatilities, etc.) specified in the legislation. This ensures that banks apply those approaches in a uniform manner which makes the calculation of capital requirements under those approaches largely comparable across banks for similar risks. The standardised approaches' parameters are intended to capture a conservative estimate of the average risk of an exposure in a way that is sufficiently simple for a widespread use. The majority of EU banks relies on standardised approaches to calculate their capital requirements.

Standardised approaches have shown a number of weaknesses during the GFC which prevent them from acting as solid benchmark. First, some observations of actual losses incurred by banks during the GFC showed that the existing standardised approaches do sometimes underestimate the risks of certain types of exposures leading to insufficient amounts of capital required. The opposite was also found to be true: sometimes standardised approaches overestimated risks, leading to excessive amount of capital required. This can be explained, to an important extent, by the fact that they are designed to be simple. They hence do not always properly reflect the various characteristics of financial products, especially the most complex ones. This may, in turn, have an impact on banks' activities. For example, if the capital requirement for a certain type of loan is

⁴⁰ Before the publication of this impact assessment, these data will be updated with the latest figures as of Q4 2020 which will be published by the EBA in Q2 2021 it their next Risk Assessment Report

too low compared to the riskiness of that loan, then the bank may grant too many of those loans while having insufficient capital if those loans start defaulting (and vice versa).

The lack of risk-sensitivity of standardised approaches has been observed for all types of risks, although to different extents. For example, in its 2019 benchmarking exercise of internal models for credit risk⁴¹, the EBA highlighted the high variability of the ratio between the risk weights generated by banks' internal models for credit risk and the corresponding risk weights under the standardised approaches, for different types of credit exposures. As shown in *Figure 5* below, the high discrepancies of those ratios across institutions cannot be explained solely by the high variability in banks' internal model approaches but also by the lack of risk-sensitivity in the standardised approaches.

Figure 5: Comparison between risk weights implied by individual banks' internal models for credit risk or 'Internal Rating Based' (RW IRB) and risk weight of the credit risk standardised approach (RW SA) for mortgage exposures.



Source: EBA.

Notes: Each point represent one EU bank participating to the exercise.

Unlike the standardised approaches, internal model approaches allow banks to estimate most or all the parameters required to compute capital requirements on their own. Since putting in place and maintaining such internal models requires significant resources, the cost of operating internal model approaches are significantly higher than the costs of using standardised approaches. This is why the number of banks that use internal models is much smaller than the number of banks using standardised approaches: according to the EBA's 2019 study of the impact of the final elements of the Basel III reform, , only 79 banks out of 189 participating to the EBA data collection were using internal models⁴². However, those banks tend to be the largest ones in the EU, accounting for a large proportion of the total EU assets. Hence, the capital requirements calculated under the internal model approaches by those banks represent more than half of the overall

capital requirements of EU banks as shown in

Figure **6**.

⁴¹ See <u>https://eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/supervisory-benchmarking-exercises.</u>

⁴² In reality, the proportion of EU banks using internal model approaches would be much smaller since the EBA data collection does not include the vast majority of the thousands of small and medium-sized banks established in the EU, most of which do not use internal model approaches.



Figure 6: Breakdown of EU banks' RWAs calculated under the standardised and internal model approaches of the current prudential framework for credit, market and CVA risks.

Source: Basel III reforms: Impact study and key recommendations, August 2019, EBA.

When using internal models, banks can capture risks more accurately by taking into account their own assessment of the characteristics of exposures, such as loans (e.g. the likelihood that the borrower would default and the size of the loss the bank would incur in case there is a default). Since the use of internal models is predicated on close monitoring and assessment of the risks banks are exposed to, banks have a better understanding of how to manage and mitigate those risks.

However, the freedom that internal model approaches give to banks has potential downsides. Depending on how these models are built and on the modelling assumptions underpinning them, internal models of different banks can produce different estimates of risks and hence different levels of capital requirements. Given that each bank originates loans to different clients, invests in different assets and trades with different counterparties, a certain degree of variation is to be expected. However, a range of studies conducted at both international⁴³ and EU⁴⁴ levels found a level of variation in capital requirements across banks using internal models that cannot be explained solely by differences in the riskiness of banks' exposures. In fact, those studies have shown that internal models can produce very different capital requirements for very similar or even identical exposures. In some cases, capital requirements for the exact same portfolios of exposures have shown a variation of more than 600%, as illustrated by *Figure 7* below in the area of market risk⁴⁵. This variation and undermines confidence in capital ratios and distorts competition across banks.

⁴³ For the BCBS Regulatory Consistency Assessment Program reports on the variability of risk-weighted assets, see <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d363.htm</u>, <u>https://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs267.htm</u>, and <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d337.htm</u>.

⁴⁴ For EBA benchmarking exercises see <u>https://eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/supervisory-benchmarking-exercises</u>.

⁴⁵ Risk of losses due to adverse price movements in trading activities.

Figure 7: Variability of capital requirements produced by internal models for market risk for different types of trading activities. Ratio between the individual bank "Value-at-Risk" risk measures for a given portfolio with the median for that portfolio.



Source: EBA report - results from the 2019 market risk benchmarking exercise.

Notes: The category 'FX' refers to trading portfolios with foreign-exchange rate risk, 'Comm' to trading portfolios with commodity risk (e.g. energy or agricultural goods) and 'CTP' to trading portfolios with subject to the specific Correlation Trading Portfolio capital requirement (e.g. collateralised debt obligations).

Moreover, a recent study⁴⁶ published by the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) illustrates that, besides a wide degree of variability in capital requirements among banks using internal models, the market perception of the financial risks that banks face is persistently higher than banks' own assessment of risk when calculating capital requirements with internal models. As shown by *Figure 8* Figure 8 below, this problem of perceived underestimation of risks by internal models is significant for certain banks.

The reliability and robustness of the capital requirements produced by internal models is predicated on the condition that banks should not use internal models to reduce their capital requirements to levels which jeopardise the very objectives of safeguarding financial soundness and covering potential losses. For this purpose, the current prudential framework already provides a number of safeguards, most notably the need for supervisory approval to use an internal model as well as its regular monitoring and review. However, given the growing number and sophistication of models used by banks and the updates made to those models⁴⁷, their supervision is becoming more complex and more resource intensive.⁴⁸ Furthermore, a reliable internal model requires sufficient data of sufficient quality to be available. This condition is not always met: in some cases the amount of available data is insufficient to allow for reliable and robust modelling of losses. This in turn produces unreliable estimates of the size of the risks a bank is exposed to and hence leads to inaccurate capital requirements.

⁴⁶ See <u>https://www.bis.org/publ/work844.htm.</u>

⁴⁷ Banks change the design and calibration of (parts of) models to keep pace with changing portfolios, new data and modelling techniques.

⁴⁸ In principle, supervisors have the ability to withdraw the permission to use internal models from a bank. However, such measure can have a significant impact on the bank that loses the permission, which is why it is usually used as a very last resort.

Figure 8: Comparison of the Variability Ratio^{*} across countries.



Source: "Variability in risk-weighted assets: what does the market think?", BIS, 2020.

Notes: * The *variability ratio* is defined as the risk perception by the market compared to the risks measured in the regulatory framework across banks in a given country. The higher the ratio, the larger the perceived underestimation of risk.

The identified problems have raised doubts on the adequacy of internal models. Supervisory approval is required for banks to use internal models and supervisors can naturally decide not to allow a bank to use inappropriate internal models. However, the supervisors' approval process of internal models cannot prevent in itself the variability observed across the outcomes of banks' internal models. The supervisory authorities have already undertaken dedicated initiatives to reduce to some extent such variability. In 2016, the EBA produced a roadmap to comprehensively review the current rules for credit risk internal models and in order to issue guidelines, opinions or develop technical standards⁴⁹. Also since 2016, the ECB/SSM has carried out a large-scale targeted review of internal models (TRIM) for the banks under its direct supervision in cooperation with the national supervisors can make to address issues with individual models used by individual banks, because supervisors have limited resources at their disposal. Once that limit is reached, more structural solutions, like changes to the rules governing models, may need to be contemplated.

2.1.2. No dedicated capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework

Climate change and the profound economic transformations that are needed to contain it pose significant risks to banks, primarily in the form of transition risk (whereby the transition to a sustainable economy can result in big shifts in asset values) and physical risks (whereby more frequent or more severe weather events impact banks and their

⁴⁹ For the current status of this exercise, EBA report on progress made on its roadmap to repair IRB models, July 2019 (see <u>https://eba.europa.eu/eba-publishes-report-on-progress-made-on-its-roadmap-to-repair-irb-models</u>).

⁵⁰ In April 2021, the ECB published the outcomes of the TRIM exercise which resulted in Euros 275 billion increase in RWAs over the last three years and more than 5,000 findings for banks to remediate (see https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2021/html/ssm.pr210419~94c010eb9d.en.html).

customers). Climate (and, more broadly, environmental) risks are often considered together with social risks⁵¹ and governance risks⁵² under the heading of ESG risks, as these risks share a number of characteristics and are often intertwined.⁵³ ESG risks, in turn, are closely linked with the concept of sustainability, as ESG factors represent the main three pillars of sustainability.

ESG risks affect different types of banks' exposures differently: over the longer term, exposures related to the financing of sustainable activities are most likely less risky for banks than exposures financing unsustainable activities. If these risk differentials are not adequately reflected in banks' decision-making, banks may underestimate the overall level of risk that they face, which raises financial stability concerns. For example, Alessi, L., Di Girolamo, F., Petracco-Giudici, M. and Pagano, A. (2021) argue that transition risks might result in an increase of bank losses by 4% in a crisis. Also, banks may also underestimate the risks of unsustainable activities compared to sustainable activities and as a result may overinvest in unsustainable activities while underinvesting in sustainable activities. An adequate reflection of ESG risks in banks' decision-making in turn would help addressing this misallocation of resources and hence make it more likely that banks finance sustainable activities, enabling the Union to reach the EGD's goals.

Against this background, it is essential that banks are able to measure and monitor their exposure to ESG risks, also to enable supervisors and market participants to appropriately assess the ESG risks faced by each bank in order for supervision and market discipline to function effectively.

The current legal framework does not prevent banks from considering ESG risks in their decision-making nor from disclosing information on their exposure to such risks. While availability of relevant data for banks has been an obstacle in this context, steps have been taken to facilitate banks' access to such data, for example by means of requirements under the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD)⁵⁴ and the Taxonomy Regulation. These measures should put banks in a better position to manage ESG risks.

Also, EU co-legislators have deemed that a dedicated approach to capture ESG risks in banks' financial activities could help address the aforementioned challenges and

⁵¹ According to the EBA Discussion Paper on management and supervision of ESG risks for credit institutions and investment firms, "[s]ocial risks are the risks posed by the exposure of institutions to counterparties that may potentially be negatively affected by social factors", with social factors in turn being "related to the rights, well-being and interests of people and communities, which may have an impact on the activities of the institutions' counterparties".

⁵² According to the EBA Discussion Paper on management and supervision of ESG risks for credit institutions and investment firms, "[g]overnance risks are the risks posed by the exposure of institutions to counterparties that may potentially be negatively affected by governance factors", with governance factors in turn covering "governance practices of the institutions' counterparties, including the inclusion of ESG factors in policies and procedures under the governance of the counterparties".

⁵³ According to the EBA Action Plan on Sustainable Finance, "[e]nvironmental and social considerations are often intertwined, as especially climate change can exacerbate existing systems of inequality. The governance of public and private institutions, including management structures, employee relations and executive remuneration, plays a fundamental role in ensuring the inclusion of social and environmental considerations in the decision-making process.

⁵⁴ See <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/non-financial-reporting_en.</u>

introduced in CRR II provisions aimed at improving the capture of ESG risks. First, large banks with publicly listed issuances will start disclosing information on ESG risks from 2022 onwards. Second, the EBA has been mandated to assess by June 2021 the potential inclusion of ESG risks in the supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP) performed by supervisors. Third, the EBA has been mandated to assess by 2025 whether a dedicated prudential treatment of exposures related to assets or activities associated substantially with environmental and/or social objectives would be justified. However, the immediate effectiveness of these provisions is limited, as a large number of banks are outside of the scope of the CRR disclosure rules, and any advice from the EBA on the other two areas under investigation would require subsequent changes to the CRR.

As a result, the present legal requirements alone are insufficient to provide incentives for a systematic and consistent management of ESG risks by banks. This has also been recognised by the EBA in its aforementioned discussion paper, which states that it "sees the need for enhancing the incorporation of ESG risks into institutions' business strategies, business processes and proportionately incorporate ESG risks in their internal governance arrangements". The EBA considers the current legal requirements insufficient for this purpose and therefore "recommends to incorporate ESG risk-related considerations in directives and regulations applicable to the banking sector (e.g. CRD and CRR)".

2.1.3. Inconsistency of powers and tools made available to supervisors across the Union

In order to perform their duties, national and European⁵⁵ competent authorities in charge of banking supervision have to use their powers under national laws transposing the CRD. In this regard, the CRD requires Member States (MS) to provide competent authorities with a minimum set of powers to exercise their supervisory functions⁵⁶ (thereafter "supervisory powers") and to impose sanctions through administrative measures⁵⁷ and administrative penalties⁵⁸ (thereafter "sanctioning powers") for banks breaching regulatory requirements (as set out in the CRR rules or national laws transposing the CRD). While the CRD ensures a minimum level of harmonisation across the Union, some MS have identified⁵⁹ a number of areas for which they considered it

⁵⁵ Since its entry into force in November 2014, the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), established within the ECB, is in charge of the direct supervision of 115 significant banks of the Members of the Eurozone (82% of banking assets in those countries) and of non-Eurozone Member States which have entered, on voluntary basis, into close cooperation with the ECB. The other banks of those Member States (the less significant banks) continue to be supervised by their national supervisors, in close cooperation with the SSM. The action of the SSM is framed by the SSM Regulation and the SSM Framework Regulation, which specifies the functioning and powers of the SSM, within the remit of the broader supervisory framework set at European level by the CRD and transposed in national laws.

⁵⁶ For instance, the power to require institutions to have additional own funds in excess to those required pursuant to Pillar 1 requirements; or the power to restrict or limit the business, operations or network of institutions.

⁵⁷ For instance, the withdrawal of a banking license.

⁵⁸ For instance, fines paid to the supervisory authority.

⁵⁹ The difference of approaches from MS in this area may come from, differences in their legal system prior to the application of Union law, the structure of the national banking sector or the supervisory culture of the MS.

necessary to further elaborate the rules and/or to introduce additional powers for supervisory authorities. Consequently, these MS introduced additional provisions in their national laws, making use of the discretion allowed under the CRD. This has led to a situation where supervisors in different MS have different powers.

In the area of sanctioning powers, some MS included additional provisions in order to, inter alia, sanction banks for breaches⁶⁰ other than those contained in the minimum list provided in the CRD⁶¹, and determine administrative penalties⁶² incurred by banks in case of breaches of CRD/CRR, including the maximum amount⁶³ of administrative penalties.

In the area of supervisory powers, some MS further specified the assessment of the prudential soundness of banks in case of acquisitions of material holdings in entities other than banks⁶⁴, material transfers of assets and liabilities between a bank and a third party, and mergers or de-mergers with other banks.

As regards the supervision of members of a bank's management body and of key function holders⁶⁵, the CRD sets a number of principles to assess their suitability ('fitand-proper assessment'). However, the CRD lacks details on how and when supervisors should conduct fit-and-proper assessments of board members and how to identify the key function holders and assess their suitability. While the publication of joint guidelines⁶⁶ by the EBA and the European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA) published in 2017 and the guide to fit and proper assessments published by the SSM⁶⁷ in 2018 improved the harmonisation⁶⁸ of practices across MS, material divergences in national laws remain. For instance, the supervisors in some MS assess the suitability of board members only a significant period of time after their appointment⁶⁹ while in the majority of MS supervisors perform this assessment prior to their appointment. In the case of key function holders, some supervisors do not properly identify them and therefore do not

⁶⁷ See <u>https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/ecb/pub/pdf/ssm.fap_guide_201705_rev_201805.en.pdf.</u>

⁶⁰ For instance, breaches of capital requirements, internal models approval and remuneration requirements.

⁶¹ The SSM estimates that for several significant institutions under its direct supervision breaches of CRD/CRR requirements with material impacts cannot be sanctioned due to the lack of powers in the relevant national laws.

⁶² Some MS introduced additional powers to impose periodic penalty payments, for instance daily payments until the breach justifying this penalty has ended.

⁶³ Some MS further specified the definition of 'total annual net turnover' (used in the determination of the maximum amount of administrative penalties) since the CRD lacks details on the inclusion of important elements reflecting the ordinary activities of institutions, for instance interest payables and similar charges, commissions and fees, net profit on financial operations.

⁶⁴ Some MS introduced an ex ante notification requirement for banks that allows supervisory authorities to oppose the operation in case of prudential concerns.

⁶⁵ According to the applicable EBA/ESMA guidelines key function holders means persons who have significant influence over the direction of an institution, but who are neither members of the management body and are not the CEO. They include the heads of internal control functions and the CFO, where they are not members of the management body.

⁶⁶See <u>https://www.eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/internal-governance/joint-esma-and-eba-guidelines-on-the-assessment-of-the-suitability-of-members-of-the-management-body.</u>

⁶⁸ For example, the Guidelines identified more specifically key functions holders as the heads of the internal control functions and the CFO, where they are not members of the management body, and provide provisions identify other key functions holders based on an assessment of their materiality by institution.

⁶⁹ Assessment is carried out ex post in eight MS (DK, DE, EE, EL, FR, FI, IT, AT), and partially ex post in four MS (CZ, PL, SI, SE).

carry out an assessment of their suitability to perform their duties, while other do it in a variety of ways⁷⁰.

This fragmented regulatory landscape in the definition of certain powers and tools available to supervisors and their application across MS undermines the level playing field in the Single Market and raises doubts about the sound and prudent management of EU banks and their supervision. This problem is particularly acute in the context of the Banking Union, as already highlighted in the Commission's report on the SSM⁷¹. Differences across 19 different legal systems prevents the SSM from performing its supervisory functions effectively and efficiently⁷². Moreover, as a result of the diverse transposition of the CRD at national level, cross-border banking groups have to deal with a number of different procedures for the same prudential issue, unduly increasing their administrative costs. Banks as well as supervisors, in particular in the SSM, and MS have therefore acknowledged the problem (for more details see Section 6.3. and Annex 2).

2.1.4. Fragmentation and inefficiency in the disclosure of banks' prudential information

Prudential regulation requires banks to publicly disclose financial and other quantitative and qualitative information⁷³ so that investors, clients, depositors and other interested stakeholders can gauge their level of risk. Banks' disclosure of financial information also contributes to enhanced transparency and market discipline, thereby promoting sound risk management.

In the Union, the CRR II implemented the revised BCBS framework⁷⁴ on public disclosure (also known as the 'Pillar 3' framework), and adjusted the content⁷⁵ and scope of bank disclosures to make them applicable to all EU banks in a proportionate manner. Under the CRR II, the amount of information that banks need to disclose depends on the size and complexity of their activities (the larger and more complex a bank is, the more information it is required to disclose).

Banks are currently required to disclose all relevant prudential information in one single document or a separate section of their financial report prepared under the applicable accounting standards. Information on banks are therefore scattered on their individual

⁷⁰ For instance, some MS will only identify key function holders as those performing anti-money laundering or audit duties within an institution while others MS will rely on the definition provided in the EBA/ESMA guidelines, or even extend the scope of this definition.

⁷¹ Cf. SWD(2017) 336 final.

⁷² On the issue of fit-and-proper assessments see the in-depth analysis requested by the ECON committee: <u>Is the current "fit and proper" regime appropriate for the Banking Union?</u>, March 2020.

⁷³ The institution's capital and liquidity ratios are examples of the former, while a description of the institution's processes for managing credit risk is an example of the latter.

⁷⁴ Pillar 3 requirements have been developed in stages and finalised in December 2018. For more information, please be referred to <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d455.htm</u>.

⁷⁵ With limited exceptions, the CRR currently gives institutions a certain degree of freedom in terms of the detail of the information to be disclosed and a significant degree of freedom in terms of the format of the disclosure. The entry into application of the amendments to the disclosure rules (introduced by the CRR II) will bring about a significant harmonisation of disclosures. In particular, this will be done through implementing technical standards to be developed by the EBA, which will contain detailed templates (and related instructions to fill those templates) that institutions will need to use for their disclosures.

websites and other media platforms. However, stakeholders (e.g. investors making investment decisions or analysts making recommendations to their clients) are interested in gathering, analysing and comparing information across several banks.

At present, it is considered difficult and burdensome for these stakeholders to access and aggregate this information. For example, available information on smaller, non-publicly listed banks tends to be harder to find and is usually only available in the language of the Member State in which the bank is established. The current difficulties related to the access to prudential information deprive market participants from the information they need about banks' prudential situations. This ultimately reduces the effectiveness of the prudential framework for banks and potentially raises doubt about the resilience of the banking sector, especially in periods of stress.

In addition to having to disclose certain information, banks must also report certain information⁷⁶ to their supervisors as part of a separate process. Two separate processes to share similar financial information imply undue administrative costs for banks⁷⁷; this also makes these processes more vulnerable to a certain type of operational risk (i.e. the risk of misalignment in the same type of information communicated through two different channels).

Since 2018, the EBA, in cooperation with the ECB and national competent authorities, has been working on the creation of the European Centralised Infrastructure for Supervisory Data (EUCLID) to aggregate in a centralised integrated system the reporting information shared by supervisors on the largest EU banks⁷⁸. This system will be particularly useful to feed public reports and analysis with aggregated data and risk indicators on the overall EU banking sector. However, the prudential framework does not yet grant powers to the EBA to disclose individual bank data that is reported to supervisors. Introducing those powers would allow banks to only report information to their supervisors and the EBA which would then proceed to disclose the required parts of that information on behalf of banks. Banks, in particular small and non-complex ones, have repeatedly called to further reduce the administrative burden stemming from reporting⁷⁹ and disclosure requirements whereas other market participants (investors, analysts) highlighted the need for a centralised and easy access to banks' prudential information.

2.2. How will the problems evolve?

As far as the **deficiencies of internal models in the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements are concerned,** confidence in the risk based capital requirements could be partially restored through the supervisory exercises run by the

⁷⁶ There is an overlap between the information that must be disclosed and the information that must be reported, although the amount of information that needs to be reported is normally much larger (and more detailed).

⁷⁷ The size of the undue costs cannot be estimated due to lack of data.

⁷⁸ EUCLID is expected to be launched in 2021.

⁷⁹ See, for example, <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/4b62e682-4e0f-11ea-aece-01aa75ed71a1.</u>

EBA and the ECB⁸⁰. Those exercises aim at 'model repair' by means of harmonising certain modelling assumptions across EU banks. However, the completion of those exercises could not fully resolve the issues, given the amount of flexibility the current rules still provide banks to design their individual internal models. In addition, enhanced supervisory review would not address the deficiencies identified in the standardised approaches for calculating risk-based capital requirements. In this context it has to be recalled that capital requirements calculated under the standardised approach represent a significant share of total capital requirements across the Union.

In the absence of changes to address the identified deficiencies related to internal model approaches, the risk-based capital requirements calculated by banks using those models would remain incomparable across banks and in some cases may be too low in relation to the risks of certain exposures. If the deficiencies related to the standardised approaches would remain unaddressed, some financial products or activities (and hence specific business models primarily based on them) would attract either insufficient or unduly high capital requirements. In both cases the potential mispricing of risks by individual banks and consequently the inadequate capitalisation of those risks by those banks would persist.

As a consequence, some mistrust in the EU banking sector would persist with negative consequences for banks' market valuations and funding costs which could in turn undermine their ability to finance the EU economy. The lack of confidence in the EU banking sector could ultimately lead to a higher probability that future periods of stress, whatever their origins, could turn into more severe financial crises.

As regards the **capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework**, the problems that such capture could potentially address (i.e. inadequate management of ESG risks) would become ever more pressing. Both transition risks and physical risks to banks would inevitably increase as the economic restructuring gains speed and as environmental events increase in magnitude and frequency. In the absence of timely legislative action to address these problems (in addition to the limited measures included in CRR II and elsewhere, see Section 2.1.2), banks might continue to misprice ESG risks, which would in turn lead to inadequate financing of the transition to a more sustainable economy risks. It could also lead to undercapitalisation of banks which could lead to financial stability issues.

On the **supervisory and sanctioning powers**, in absence of a legal initiative the discrepancies observed across national laws transposing the CRD would continue to exist, maintaining the current fragmentation and the un-level playing field with regard to the application of supervisory powers and the imposition of sanctions. This would have negative consequences in two respects. On the one hand, some MS would maintain a relative low degree of supervision, allowing some of their banks to perform certain operations that could be risky, thus fuelling mistrust in the soundness of banks. Furthermore, in some MS supervisors would still not be empowered to impose sanctions

⁸⁰ See <u>https://www.eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/supervisory-benchmarking-exercises</u> and <u>https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/banking/tasks/internal_models/trim/html/index.en.html</u> for EBA and ECB, respectively.

for breaches of certain prudential requirements and would thus continue to lack an important supervisory tool. On the other hand, other MS would continue to exercise the legal flexibility available in the CRD in a more conservative manner. Additional supervisory and sanctioning powers in these MS could incentivise some banks to carry out certain activities in other MS without such powers. Finally, without a change, the ECB/SSM would not be able to apply the same supervisory tools and exercise the same powers to all banks under its supervision in a consistent way which would impede the effectiveness of its supervision.

The existing **inconsistencies and identified deficiencies of the application of fit-andproper requirements** lead to a less effective and efficient supervision regime. In a number of MS, members of the management body would continue to take up their position without having been vetted upfront by supervisors. This involves the risk that unqualified managers could contribute to key decisions for the banks' businesses and its risk management. In the absence of proper definitions of key function holders and rules for their assessment the current un-level playing field across institutions within the Union would continue to exist, creating reputational risk for EU banks and their supervisors, undermining trust in the banking sector.

Finally, in the absence of actions to address the **fragmentation and the inefficiency in the disclosure of banks' prudential information to the public**, analysing and comparing information on individual banks would remain burdensome and costly for the relevant stakeholders and would continue to undermine the effectiveness of market discipline. In addition, banks' processes to report information to supervisors and to disclose information to the public would continue to run in parallel, unduly maintaining unnecessary administrative costs. Figure 9: Mapping of problems, problem drivers and their consequences if not addressed



3. WHY SHOULD THE EU ACT?

3.1. Legal basis

All actions considered frame the taking up, pursuit and supervision of the business of banks within the Union, with the objective of ensuring the stability of the internal market. One of the fundamental components of the Union's financial system, banking is currently providing the largest part of financing within the internal market. The Union has a clear mandate to act in the area of the internal market and the appropriate legal basis consists of the relevant Treaty Articles⁸¹ underpinning Union competences in such area.

The legal basis falls within the internal market area, which is considered a shared competence, as defined by Article 4 TFEU. Most of the actions considered represent updates and amendments to Union law, and as such, they concern areas where the Union has already exercised its competence and does not intend to cease exercising such competence. A few actions (particularly those amending the CRD) aim to introduce an additional degree of harmonisation in order to achieve consistently the objectives defined by that Directive.

3.2. Subsidiarity: Necessity of EU action

In the context of global cooperation on financial stability, supervisors and regulators meeting within the BCBS, including from several EU Member States, the ECB, the EBA and the Commission, have developed common international standards that members jurisdictions should apply to their internationally active banks. Following the GFC, the BCBS launched a fundamental review of the international standards to strengthen the resilience of the global banking system and improve comparability across banks worldwide. A number of the revised standards have already been incorporated into Union law by means of the CRR and the CRD IV, as subsequently amended by the CRR II and CRD V. However, a number of additional revisions adopted by the BCBS in December 2017 in relation to credit risk, operational risk, CVA risk, market risks and the replacement of the Basel I floor by an aggregate output floor have still to be transposed in Union law. These proposed revisions address remaining shortcomings in the international prudential framework as identified during and after the GFC.

The objectives pursued by those revisions of international standards can be better achieved at Union level rather than by different national initiatives as they represent adjustments to the EU prudential framework. The identified problems (see section 2.1.1) and the underlying causes are similar across Member States and potential differences pertain to the behaviour and business model of individual institutions, not their location within the Union. No action by the Union would render the existing prudential framework outdated in relation to evolving market challenges and would create major misalignments with standards applied by other jurisdictions. This would have reputational, financial stability and market impacts.

⁸¹ The relevant Treaty Articles conferring the Union the right to adopt measures are those concerning the freedom of establishment (in particular Article 53 TFEU), the freedom to provide services (Article 59 TFEU), and the approximation of rules which have as their object the establishment and functioning of the internal market (Article 114 TFEU).

The ability of Member States to adopt national measures to address the identified issues is limited, given that the CRR and the CRD already regulate those aspects, and changes at national level would not be able to derogate from Union law currently in force. If the Union were to cease regulating those aspects, the internal market for banking services would become subject to different sets of rules, leading to fragmentation and undermining the recently built single rulebook in this area. National measures would affect the degree of cross-border service provision, capital flows and market integration across Member States. This would be detrimental to effectively ensuring financial stability in the internal market.

With regard to the current rules on supervision (e.g. fit and proper rules, supervisory powers and sanctions), the current national laws supplementing the prudential framework have displayed some substantial differences. The absence of sufficient common rules does not allow for a level-playing field, potentially fuelling regulatory or supervisory competition. Also, in the context of the Banking Union, where the ECB exercises direct supervisory powers set out in national laws transposing the CRD, the ECB does not have the same range of powers with regard to all banks under its supervision. The objective of efficient and harmonised supervision throughout the Union cannot be achieved by individual MS actions.

3.3. Subsidiarity: Added value of EU action

There are clear benefits from action at Union level. The Union's prudential framework for banks would be aligned with the latest international standards, thus becoming more fit for purpose and ensuring a greater resilience of the Union's banking sector. It is more efficient to change the current Union rules than repealing them and replacing them with national rules. EU action also allows for a more homogenous approach, taking into account all EU specificities in a comprehensive way.

As regards those aspects that would supplement existing rules (e.g. fit and proper rules, supervisory powers, sanctions) additional harmonisation will contribute to a more homogenous approach and reduce the fragmentation of the internal market. At the same time EU action contributes to establishing a level playing field and a higher quality of supervision across the Union.

4. OBJECTIVES: WHAT IS TO BE ACHIEVED?

4.1. General objectives

There are **two general objectives** pursued by this initiative:

- 1. **Contributing to financial stability.** Only a stable and financially sound banking system, which is well capitalised and where risks are adequately managed, will lead to a reduced probability of banking crises, and reduce the impact of such crises should they occur. This will in turn allow to maintain investors' and depositors' confidence in the banking system, especially in periods of stress.
- 2. Contributing to steady financing of the economy in the context of the recovery post-COVID-19 crisis. The EU economy is heavily reliant on financing provided by the

banking sector. While initiatives are underway to develop a Capital Markets Union (CMU) that might over time reduce this reliance, the banking sector will in particular play a key role in financing the medium-to-long term recovery from the COVID-19 crisis.

4.2. Specific objectives

The two general objectives pursued by this initiative can be broken down into the following **four specific objectives**:

- 1. Strengthen the risk-based capital framework, without significant increases in capital requirements. To ensure a resilient and stable banking system, it is essential to have a solid prudential framework in place which ensures that risks are accurately measured and adequately covered by capital. In particular, trust in the banking system is conditional upon trust in the reliability of the risk-based capital framework. Internally modelled approaches that EU banks use for calculating risk-based capital requirements should result in adequate capital levels and produce comparable outcomes. At the same time the prudential framework should provide robust and sufficiently risk-sensitive standardised approaches for banks using them. However, strengthening the risk-based capital framework should not come at the cost of significantly increasing capital requirements as requested by the EU Parliament and the Council⁸².
- 2. Enhance the focus on ESG risks in the prudential framework. Including a sustainability dimension in the prudential framework would ensure a better management of ESG risks and a better allocation of bank funding across projects, thus helping the transition to a more sustainable economy.
- 3. **Further harmonise supervisory powers and tools**. Supervisory tools such as fit-andproper assessments, supervisory powers and sanctioning powers play a key role in ensuring the safety and soundness of individual banks and the stability of the EU banking system as a whole. Certain tools should therefore be made available to supervisors in all Member States and applied consistently. This would also help reduce administrative costs resulting from the current fragmentation.
- 4. **Reduce banks' administrative costs related to public disclosures and improve access to banks' prudential data.** Public information on individual banks that is easily accessible and comparable should enhance the ability of bank clients, investors and other market participants to monitor and exert market discipline on banks' behaviour. Banks in turn would benefit from a more efficient system that integrates supervisory reporting and disclosure, and thereby reduces their administrative burden.

⁸² See <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2016-0439 EN.pdf</u> for the EP and <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/22659/st11052en16.pdf</u> for the Council.

5. WHAT ARE THE AVAILABLE POLICY OPTIONS?

5.1. What is the baseline from which options are assessed?

The baseline option from which the considered policy options are assessed assumes no legislative change to the prudential framework applicable at Union level.

Under this option, the structural shortcomings of internal models of the current prudential framework as described in Section 2.1.1 would remain unaddressed, and the Commission would solely rely on the supervisory initiatives taken by the EBA and the ECB under their current remits to improve the situation. In addition, the EBA will continue performing its annual supervisory benchmarking exercises on credit and market risk internal models to highlight the degree of variability of EU banks' internal models. The EBA and ECB initiatives could achieve to some extent a reduction of the variability in capital requirements calculated based on internal models for credit, counterparty and market risks⁸³. While acting as important complements, these supervisory initiatives cannot substitute for the necessary reforms of the binding requirements included in the current prudential framework. Without those reforms, the problems described in Section 2.1.1 would continue to exist.

In the same vein, without changes to the standardised approaches, they would remain insufficiently risk-sensitive. Since those standardised approaches are legally binding, they are virtually identical for all banks that apply them. Therefore initiatives employed by supervisory authorities cannot be used to tackle the deficiencies identified in Section 2.1.1.

Moreover, under this scenario, the only binding requirement related to ESG risks that would apply would be the requirement for large banks to disclose information on those risks from end-June 2022 onwards, as highlighted in Section 2.1.2. While competent authorities will continue to be able to exercise their Pillar 2 powers to require banks to address ESG risks, due to the lack of an explicit reference to those risks in the CRD, those powers will not be applied systematically and consistently. Any additional requirements that the EBA may propose in the reports due in 2021 and 2025 (see Section 2.1.2) would require legislative action.

Not changing legislation would also mean that divergences among MS in the area of supervisory powers made available to competent authorities under the CRD, identified in Section 2.1.3, would persist. For example, the prudential framework would still not require MS to give competent authorities powers to sanction certain types of regulatory breaches. Furthermore, there would be no legal requirement for an intervention in the case of specific situations that could raise prudential concerns, such as the acquisition of material holdings in entities other than banks, material transfers of assets and liabilities, and (de-)mergers. MS would still have ample leeway to grant the competent authorities these supervisory powers at their own discretion. The CRD would also still not require competent authorities to assess the suitability of key function holders. At the same time, the prudential framework would conduct fit-and-proper assessments. As a result, the rules would remain subject to broad margins of interpretation by

⁸³ Internal models used to calculate capital requirements for operational risk are not covered by TRIM.

MS, leaving clearly identified prudential concerns unaddressed. The initiatives conducted by the EBA and the ECB/SSM (see Section 2.1.3) could help increase the harmonisation of the fit-and-proper assessment across Member States but, only if MS would empower supervisors by amending their national frameworks. In absence of such national empowerments, inadequate supervision of key function holders would persist in some MS, as associated with the risks of employing unsuitable individuals as members of the management body.

Finally, under this scenario of no change to the current prudential framework, banks' investors and other stakeholders interested in banks' prudential information would still find it burdensome to collect such information on individual banks' platforms. In addition, banks would continue to have to follow two separate processes to report and disclose the required information, which would continue to generate an undue administrative burden for them, as described in Section 2.1.4.

5.2. Description of policy options

5.2.1. Improve the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements

Option 1 - Implement the Basel III reforms in full alignment with the BCBS standards and implementation timelines

This option would implement in Union law the final elements of the Basel III reform (adopted by the BCBS between December 2017 and July 2020) in full alignment with the standards and the timelines agreed by the BCBS. The agreement was the result of a strategic review of the international prudential standards for banks, which was conducted by the BCBS in the wake of the GFC, with a view to improving the balance between simplicity, comparability (mainly of the internal model approaches) and risk-sensitivity (mainly of the standards.

This option would entail implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform agreed in December 2017, namely:

- the revisions to the standardised approach for credit risk (SA-CR) to improve the robustness and risk sensitivity of the existing approach;
- the revisions to the IRB approaches for credit risk to reduce unwarranted variability in banks' calculations of RWAs;
- the minimum haircut floors for non-centrally cleared securities financing transactions⁸⁴ (SFTs) to limit the pro-cyclicality of these transactions and the build-up of excessive leverage in the financial system;

⁸⁴ SFTs are secured funding or lending transactions that imply a temporary exchange of assets with one leg of the transaction serving as a guarantee (collateral). Repurchase agreements (repos) constitute the most important category of SFTs in terms of outstanding amounts and turnover. They are generally motivated by the need to borrow cash. From the borrower's point of view, the transaction consists of selling securities against cash, while agreeing in advance to buy back the securities at a predetermined price. The sold securities serve as collateral for the buyer (provider of cash) in the repo. Securities lending, the second largest category of SFTs, is primarily driven by market demand for specific securities, e.g. for short selling or settlement purposes. In this type of

- the revisions to the CVA risk framework consisting of the removal of the use of an internally modelled approach and the introduction of a new basic approach (BA-CVA) as well as revisions to the standardised approach for CVA (SA-CVA) to enhance the risk sensitivity, strengthen the robustness and improve the consistency of the framework;
- the new standardised approach for operational risk (SA-OR), replacing all the existing standardised and internal model approaches for this risk to simplify the framework and increase comparability; and
- the aggregate output floor (OF) to limit the unwarranted variability in the regulatory capital requirements produced by internal models and the excessive reduction in capital that a bank using internal models can derive relative to a bank using the revised standardised approaches.

In addition, this option would implement the revised⁸⁵ (i.e. January 2019) version of the original (i.e. January 2016) market risk standards, known as the 'fundamental review of the trading book' (FRTB), for the purpose of calculating capital requirements. Most of the revised FRTB standards have already been implemented in EU law as part of the CRR II. Following an agreement between the European Parliament and the Council, they were implemented for reporting purposes only (i.e. banks are not required to use them to determine their capital requirements). Under this option they would be converted into a capital requirement, fully aligned with the final 2019 standards.

transaction, one counterparty lends securities for a fee against collateral in the form of cash or other securities given by another counterparty.

⁸⁵ Apart from modifying the calibration of the original FRTB standards, the revised version also aligned the implementation date of the standards with the implementation date of the overall framework (the date was originally set to January 2019).

Table **1** below presents a more detailed list of the key elements of the reforms included in the December 2017 agreement, as well as the revised market risk framework adopted in 2019.

This option would address the main deficiencies, identified in Section 2.1.1, with the current prudential framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements applicable to EU banks⁸⁶. At the same time, this option would entail no adjustments to the final Basel III standards to cater for specificities of the EU economy and would also remove some of the EU-specific rules currently in place to fully align the EU prudential framework with those standards (e.g. it would remove the exemptions from the CVA risk charge and the small and medium-sized enterprise (SME) supporting factor).

⁸⁶ Note that the final elements of the Basel III reform were not specifically intended to address the problems identified with the risk-based capital requirements of EU banks; the same problems have been identified with their international peers with similar business models and activities. When developing the reform, the BCBS took a rather global approach in addressing those problems, therefore not necessarily taking into account the specificities of the banking sector of each of the BCBS members.

Risk area	Main revisions	
Credit risk –	• For rated exposures to banks, some of the RWs have been recalibrated. In addition,	
standardised	the RW treatment for unrated exposures to banks is more granular than the existing	
approach	flat RW, which depends on the RW applicable to the central government of the	
	Member State in which the bank is established.	
	• For exposures to corporates, a more granular RW treatment has been developed. In	
	addition, a specific treatment for exposures to project finance, object finance and	
	commodities finance was developed.	
	• For real estate exposures (both residential and commercial), more risk-sensitive	
	approaches have been developed to better reflect different funding models and stages	
	in the construction process.	
	• For retail exposures, a more granular treatment was developed, which distinguishes	
	between different types of retail exposures and reflects FX risk.	
	• For subordinated debt and equity exposures, a more granular and generally stringent	
	RW treatment was developed.	
	• For off-balance sheet items, a more risk-sensitive treatment was developed, which is	
Credit right	more stringent for unconditionally cancellable commitments.	
internal	 The possibility to use of internal models was either limited of allogener removed for portfolios and risk peremeters where the PCPS had concluded that the available data 	
medala	portionos and fisk parameters where the BCBS had concluded that the available data	
approach	and large corporates, equity exposures)	
approach	 Now minimum values ('input floors') were introduced for banks' estimates of the 	
	probability of default loss-given default and exposure at default (EAD)	
	• The option for banks to pick and choose between the use of internal models and the	
	standardised approach per asset class was introduced.	
Market risk	• More objective rules were introduced to allocate transactions either to the trading	
(FRTB)	book, or to the banking book.	
	• Both the standardised approach and the internal model approach were be completely	
	overhauled to better capture market risk.	
	• New tests were introduced to ensure the robustness of the internal models and leave	
	less flexibility for banks to use their own modelling assumptions.	
CVA risk	• Internal models were replaced by standardised approaches, leaving banks with a	
	choice between a more sophisticated and a simpler approach.	
	• For banks with non-centrally cleared derivatives contracts with a combined notional	
	value of less than EUR 100 bn, a simplified approach was made available.	
Securities	• For certain non-centrally cleared SFTs with certain counterparties, minimum haircut	
Financing	floors were introduced; as a result SFTs which do not meet the haircut floors must be	
Transactions	treated as unsecured loans.	
Operational	• The current internal model approach and the three existing standardised approaches	
risk	were replaced with a single risk-sensitive standardised approach to be used by all	
	banks.	
	• The capital requirement under the new standardised approach depends on the size of	
	the bank (expressed in terms of a refined measure of gross income) and the bank's	
Output flags	operational risk-related loss history.	
Output floor	• A revised output floor was introduced. The floor sets a lower limit to the capital	
	requirements that are produced by a bank's internal model at $/2.5\%$ of the capital requirements that would apply if the bank would calculate its capital requirements	
	using standardised approaches ⁸⁷	
	using standardised approaches.	

Table 1: Overview of the main revisions to the Basel framework introduced by the final elements of the Basel III reform.

⁸⁷ For more details on the level of application see section "Flexibility in the Basel III standards" below.

Option 2 - Implement the final Basel III reforms with EU-specific adjustments and in alignment with the BCBS implementation timelines

Similar to option 1, option 2 would also implement all the final elements of the Basel III reform. Compared to option 1, this option would include a number of targeted adjustments to cater for the specificities of the EU banking sector and the funding structure of the EU economy, and taking into account the context of the recovery, with the objective to avoid disproportionate impacts or unintended consequences of the reforms on essential activities and financial services provided by EU banks. In fact, the Basel standards are designed to capture common financial risks that can be observed across the world. They are calibrated based on averages of data collected across banks and financial markets located in different regions of the world. As a result, the capital requirements under some Basel standards may not capture more specific financial risks appropriately which could lead to disproportionate impacts on the corresponding financial activities. In addition, a few other targeted adjustments under this option would help to ensure an international level playing field for trading activities. Finally, this option would also make use of the flexibility the international standards provide in order to harmonise their application across the Union, in line with the objectives set out for this legislative proposal.

Specificities of the EU banking sector and EU economy

EU businesses (and in particular SMEs, see also Section 3 of Annex 6) rely heavily on bank lending to finance their investment and working capital needs, much more than in other major jurisdictions. However, the international standards do not always sufficiently take into account the specific financing structures and risk management strategies used in the EU. To address this issue, option 2 includes several targeted adjustments:

• <u>Treatment of unrated corporates</u>: corporate lending in the EU is predominantly provided by banks using IRB models. With the implementation of the OF those banks would also need to apply the SA-CR which relies on external ratings to determine the credit quality of the corporate borrower. Most EU corporates, however, do not typically seek external credit ratings, due to the cost of establishing a rating⁸⁸ and other factors⁸⁹. Given that capital requirements calculated under the SA-CR are, on average, more conservative for unrated corporates than for corporates that have a rating,⁹⁰ the implementation of the OF could cause substantial increases in capital requirements for banks using internal models (because the standardised approach would be used to calculate the OF). To avoid disruptive impacts on bank lending to unrated corporates and provide enough time to

⁸⁸ For example, according to one provider of credit ratings the average cost of obtaining a rating for an SME is approximately between EUR 40000 and 50000 for the initial evaluation, and then EUR 30000 to 35000 annually for keeping the rating updated. However, these figures are only indicative, as the cost depends on various factors, such as the complexity of the company, its financial structure, and the size of the debt issue.

⁸⁹ For example, according to one ratings provider some of the other reasons why SMEs do not seek to obtain ratings are the availability of financing from banks (ratings are usually sought when debt is sold in the markets), unmet expectations about the quality of the assigned ratings (ratings turn out worse than the company issuing the debt expects), and reluctance to make financial data available.

⁹⁰ A bank's exposure to an unrated company is assigned a 100% risk weight under the SA-CR, whereas an exposure to a company with a good credit rating can attract a lower risk weight (20% in case of the highest rating).

establish public and/or private initiatives aimed at increasing the coverage of credit ratings, option 2 would introduce a transitional period. During this period banks using internal models could apply a favourable treatment when calculating their OF for exposures to unrated corporates. This transitional arrangement would be coupled with an empowerment for the Commission to further extend the length of the period, based on a report by the EBA. This would ensure sufficient access to bank funding by unrated corporates during the transition period, as banks could continue to apply lower capital requirements whilst initiatives to foster widespread use of credit ratings would be established. After the transition period banks would refer to credit ratings to calculate capital requirements for most of their exposures to corporates in accordance with the Basel III standards. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in subsection 1.1.1 of Annex 5.

- <u>SME supporting factor</u>: Given their fundamental role in creating jobs and economic growth in the EU, EU co-legislators decided that capital requirements for SME exposures should be lower than those for large corporates to ensure appropriate bank financing of SMEs. As a result, an SME supporting factor was introduced in the CRR and its scope extended in CRR II⁹¹. Option 2 would maintain this SME supporting factor in the prudential framework, which would result in lower capital requirements for SMEs than the specific treatment provided by the Basel III standards.
- Infrastructure supporting factor: bank financing of infrastructure and other specialised projects is also a defining characteristic of the EU economy, as compared with other jurisdictions where such projects are predominantly financed by capital markets. Large EU banks are major providers of funding for specialised projects⁹², objects finance⁹³ and commodities finance⁹⁴, in the EU and globally. They have developed a high level of expertise in those areas. A preferential treatment has been introduced in CRR II to foster bank finance and private investment in high quality infrastructure projects ('infrastructure supporting factor'). Option 2 would maintain this treatment, which would result in lower capital requirements for infrastructure projects than the specific treatment provided by the Basel III standards. Furthermore, a new preferential treatment under the standardised approach for "high quality" object finance would be introduced. It would apply where financial risks are specifically managed. Conflicting signals to banks active in this market segment should be avoided.⁹⁵ This option would also empower the Commission to adopt delegated acts that would adjust the internal models approach, if such adjustment would

⁹¹ As a result of CRR and CRRII, banks can now apply a 23.81% discount when computing their capital requirements on SME exposures of up to EUR 2.5mn EUR whereby the part of an SME exposure exceeding EUR 2.5mn EUR are subject to a 15 % reduction in capital requirements (so-called SME supporting factor).

⁹² Namely, loans funding long-term important infrastructure or industrial projects.

⁹³ Namely, loans funding the acquisition of physical assets such airplanes, ships, satellites, railcars, fleets, etc.

⁹⁴ Namely, financing exchange-traded commodities like crude oil, metals or crops.

⁹⁵ This would avoid undermining incentives for proper risk-mitigation of those transactions, for instance through close monitoring and various forms of collateralisation. The EBA would be mandated to develop criteria to determine what constitutes a high-quality project and to determine the calibration of the applicable RW.
be found appropriate based on a comprehensive assessment by the EBA during the implementation period.

- Equity exposures: Many EU banks hold long-standing, strategic⁹⁶ equity participations in financial and non-financial corporates. The final Basel III standards increase the RWs for all kinds of equity exposures over a 5-year transition period without providing a specific treatment for strategic equity investments. Applying the more conservative approach embedded in the Basel III standards to the whole stock of existing equity holdings could jeopardise the economic viability of existing strategic relationships. Option 2 would exclude equity holdings in entities within the same banking group or covered by the same institutional protection schemes (IPS)⁹⁷ from the application of the more conservative treatment. In addition, it would grandfather existing strategic participations where banks exercise influence, including via holdings in insurance undertakings, whilst applying the new, more conservative treatment to new equity exposures. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in subsection 1.1.3 of Annex 5.
- <u>Treatment of Collective Investment Undertakings⁹⁸ (CIUs) used for trading purposes</u>: CIUs play a crucial role in facilitating the accumulation of personal savings, whether for investments or for retirement. The seamless provision of CIUs as investment product hinges on banks' ability to continuously offer to their clients the possibility to buy or sell back those instruments. For that purpose, banks must keep inventories of CIUs in their trading books. The revised market risk standards adopted in 2019 rely on a number of conservative assumptions and complex operational requirements⁹⁹ that could increase significantly the capital requirements for those instruments, therefore restricting their supply. To avoid this unintended effect on those trading activities, Option 2 would provide a number of adjustments to the treatment of CIUs under the market risk rules. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.3 of Annex 5.
- <u>Treatment of financial products based on the EU emission trading scheme (ETS)</u>: banks play an important role in providing liquidity to the EU market for carbon emissions allowances. Banks typically fill their clients' estimated demand for allowances at a future date via derivatives ('forward') transactions. Under the revised market risk rules, the exposures to carbon emission allowances are assimilated to electricity contracts, and

⁹⁶ E.g. investments in equities of corporates with which the bank has a long-term business relationship.

⁹⁷ An institutional protection scheme (IPS) is defined in the CRR as a contractual or statutory liability arrangement which protects its member institutions and in particular ensures that they have liquidity and solvency needed to avoid bankruptcy where necessary.

⁹⁸ Under CRR, a "CIU" means an Undertakings for Collective Investments in Transferable Securities (UCITS) as defined in Article 1(2) of Directive 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council or an alternative investment fund (AIF) as defined in point (a) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2011/61/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council.

⁹⁹ As described in Annex XX, these requirements include the restricted permission to capitalise exposures to CIUs under the internal model approaches only if the bank can look through the CIUs' composition and the conservative calibration of some of the standardised approaches available for those exposures.

therefore get allocated to the same risk weight (60%). In light of the historical price volatility of EU ETS, this risk weight appears excessively high. Furthermore, in its Communication¹⁰⁰ on fostering openness, strength and resilience of the European economic and financial system, the Commission announced its intention to support further ETS trading activity in the EU, notably as part of the 'green' transition¹⁰¹. Option 2 would therefore introduce a specific category for ETS allowances, distinct from electricity, for which RWs would be calibrated to reflect the actual price volatility of this commodity in the EU ETS market. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.3 of Annex 5.

- Exemptions from capital requirements for CVA risk: When implementing the initial Basel III reforms in Union law through the CRR, the EU co-legislators exempted certain transactions¹⁰² from the calculation of capital requirements for CVA risk. These exemptions were agreed to prevent a potential excessive increase in the cost of some derivative transactions triggered by the introduction of the capital requirement for CVA risk, particularly when banks could not mitigate the CVA risks of certain clients¹⁰³. While the introduction of the revised capital requirement for CVA risks adopted as part of the final elements of the Basel III reform would improve to some extent the risk-sensitivity of the standardised approaches for CVA risks, the level of capital requirements would still remain very high for the exempted transactions, notably due to the removal of the internal model approach for CVA risk. In this context, Option 2 would maintain the existing CRR exemptions. To help supervisors monitoring the CVA risks arising from the exempted transactions when they are excessive, option 2 would require institutions to report to their supervisors the calculation¹⁰⁴ of capital requirements for CVA risks of the exempted transactions. In addition, option 2 would introduce EBA guidelines to help supervisors to identify excessive CVA risk. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.5 of Annex 5.
- <u>Introduction of the minimum haircut floor framework for non-centrally cleared SFTs</u>: SFT markets play an essential role¹⁰⁵ in the EU financial system by allowing financial institutions to manage their own liquidity position and support their securities marketmaking activities, as well as central banks to transmit, via financial institutions, their monetary policy plans to the real economy. However, SFTs can also enable market participants to recursively leverage their positions by reinvesting cash collateral and reusing non-cash collateral, respectively. To address some concern with respect to the risk

¹⁰⁰ COM(2021) 32 final.

¹⁰¹ For specific policy options to deliver on the EGD by addressing ESG risks see next section.

¹⁰² The exemptions cover derivative transactions with certain non-financial companies, governments, pension funds, but also intragroup transactions within the same banking group.

¹⁰³ These situations arise where banks could not put exchange collateral on derivative transactions with their clients or where they cannot find guarantee provided by third-parties (e.g. via credit derivatives) to protect them from the non-payment of the clients obligations under the derivative transactions.

¹⁰⁴ That is the calculation of capital required for CVA risks if the transactions were not exempted under CRR.

¹⁰⁵ As an example of the importance of the EU SFTs market, the total value of the EU repo market (the most widely traded form of SFTs in the EU) amounted to around EUR 8.3 trillion at the end of 2019, according to the ESRB.

of build-up of excessive leverage outside the banking sector, the Financial Stability Board (FSB) published¹⁰⁶ in 2013 a recommendation to its member jurisdictions to introduce minimum collateral haircuts for some non-centrally cleared SFTs traded between banks and non-banks, either, at the discretion of each jurisdiction, directly via a market regulation or indirectly via a more punitive capital requirement that was later developed by the BCBS¹⁰⁷. Presently there is still a lack of certainty about the impact of implementing this FSB recommendation on the EU SFTs market and whether its prudential objective could be attained without creating undesirable consequences. In this context, option 2 would propose to delay its implementation in the EU until the EBA and ESMA provide in the coming years a joint report to the Commission assessing its impact and recommending the most appropriate approach. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.6 of Annex 5.

International level playing field for trading activities.

Banks trading activities in wholesale markets can easily be carried out across borders (for certain activities, even between the EU and non-EU countries). The capital requirements applied to these activities should therefore converge as much as possible across jurisdictions to avoid a potential competitive advantage for those banks for which the domestic rules are more lenient.

In this context, option 2 would turn the existing reporting requirement for market risk based on the BCBS FRTB framework into a capital requirement, as proposed under option 1. However, option 2 would contain a safeguard that would allow addressing disruptions to the playing field for EU banks' trading activities that could materialise if other major jurisdictions would delay the implementation of the FRTB framework or adjust its calibration¹⁰⁸. Specifically, option 2 would introduce an empowerment for the Commission to delay, if necessary, the application of the capital requirement based on the FRTB framework and/or to adjust its calibration considering international developments. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.3 of Annex 5.

A second adjustment under option 2 would address the conservative calibration of the standardised approach for counterparty credit risk (SA-CCR) currently applied to derivative transactions and already transposed¹⁰⁹ in Union law by means of the CRR II. At the time of adoption, the EU co-legislators requested the EBA to report by June 2023 on the current SA-

¹⁰⁶ FSB: <u>Strengthening Oversight and Regulation of Shadow Banking</u>, 29 August 2013.

¹⁰⁷ The implementation of this FSB recommendation has been aligned with the implementation of the Basel III reforms, including the one-year postponement to 1 January 2023.

¹⁰⁸ Hong Kong and Singapore publically announced the application of the final FRTB standards as a reporting requirement from 1 January 2023 and committed to implement the standards as a capital requirements at a later stage. Other jurisdictions have already publically indicated a delay of the application of the final FRTB standards as capital requirement, as compared to the BCBS recommended implementation date: Q3 2023 for Japan; 1 January 2014 for Canada and Australia. Finally other major jurisdictions (e.g. US, CH) have publically announced their commitment to implement the FRTB framework as capital requirements without more details at this stage.

¹⁰⁹ The Basel standards for SA-CCR were adopted in 2014.

CCR calibration. Subsequently, in the Capital Market Recovery Package¹¹⁰ they requested the Commission to review the appropriateness of the SA-CCR calibration by June 2021. Considering that at least one major jurisdiction¹¹¹ has already lowered the calibration of SA-CCR for certain types of derivatives transactions, option 2 would temporarily lower the existing calibration of SA-CCR for all derivatives transactions when calculating the OF. This would provide sufficient time to further discuss this issue at international level. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.7 of Annex 5.

Flexibility in the Basel III standards

The Basel standards usually leave some flexibility for their local implementation, either by explicitly allowing jurisdictions to choose between different implementation options at their own discretion or by implicitly not providing all the technical details for the operationalisation of the standards. Option 2 proposes to make use of this flexibility and would implement those discretions in a harmonised manner.

First, the introduction of the OF in the prudential framework represents one of the key elements of the final Basel III reform, aimed at reducing the excessive variability of banks' capital requirements calculated with internal models and thereby enhancing the comparability of capital ratios. The Basel III standards arguably leave some room for interpretation as regards the requirements¹¹² to which the OF should apply and, in case of banking groups, the level¹¹³ at which it should apply. Under option 2, the OF would include all the existing capital requirements in scope of Union law, including the systemic risk buffer (SyRB) requirement and the P2R imposed on EU banks by the relevant authorities (i.e. competent authorities or designated authorities). This is coherent with the current prudential framework and consistent with the objective of the OF. In order to avoid disproportionate capital impacts, while still strengthening financial stability and complying with the Basel III standards, option 2 would also prescribe that any overlap between the risks captured by the OF and the risks captured by any of those two requirements must be avoided¹¹⁴.

Moreover, the Basel standards, including the OF, apply foremost at the level of a banking group (consolidated level). In the EU prudential framework, capital requirements usually apply both at the level of individual banks/subsidiaries (individual/solo level) and at

¹¹⁰ See <u>EUR-Lex - 32021R0337 - EN - EUR-Lex (europa.eu)</u>

¹¹¹ In their implementation of SA-CCR adopted in November 2019, the US authorities introduced a number of adjustments to the Basel standard which would reduce the capital requirements of some derivate transactions with corporates by about 30%.

¹¹² More specifically the Basel III standards refer to the Pillar 1 requirements, the capital conservation buffer requirement, the countercyclical capital buffer requirement, as well as the buffer requirements for global systemically-important and, respectively, other systemically-important institutions (G-/O-SIIs) and the total loss-absorbing capacity (TLAC) requirements. However, they do not include a reference to the systemic risk buffer requirement (SyRB) and the Pillar 2 requirement (P2R), as these are not implemented, or not implemented in comparable ways, in all member jurisdictions of the Basel Committee.

¹¹³ Capital requirements can be calculated at the level of individual banks ("individual level") or at the level of a banking group ("consolidated level"). The Basel standards, including the OF, apply foremost on a consolidated level. The requirements in the CRR are principally applied at both individual and consolidated level.

¹¹⁴ The relevant authority would do this by adjusting the calibration of the requirement that would be found to double-count the risks already covered by the OF.

consolidated level. Some concerns have been raised that certain EU banking groups would incur an excessive increase in capital requirement due to the introduction of the OF if it were applied at solo level, in addition to its application at consolidated level. In this context, option 2 would introduce the OF at consolidated level only. However, to adequately capture the risks of both parent entities and their subsidiaries, whilst remaining consistent with the logic of the Single Market, option 2 would require any additional capital resulting from the application of the OF at consolidated level to be distributed fairly across the various entities of the group according to their risk profile as if the OF was applied at individual level¹¹⁵.

More details about the impacts of the output floor and the different implementation options are provided in section 1.8 of Annex 5.

In addition, the revised standardised approach for operational risk (SA-OR) introduced a discretion to allow jurisdictions to disregard the inclusion of banks' own historical losses related to operational risk through the Internal Loss Multiplier (ILM) indicator in their calculations of capital requirements for operational risk under this approach¹¹⁶. While there is empirical evidence showing that banks experiencing greater operational risk losses historically are more likely to experience operational risk losses in the future, the events that have led to the largest operational losses are less amenable to prediction based on historical loss data than for other types of risks. For this reason, option 2 would exercise the discretion provided by the Basel III standards and set the ILM to 1. More details about this specific issue and the dedicated adjustment to address it are provided in section 1.4 of Annex 5.

Finally, option 2 would also exercise the flexibility provided in the Basel III standards to clarify that holdings of unlisted equities with a holding period of at least 3 years would not be considered as speculative holdings and would therefore not be subject to the most conservative treatment.

Option 3 - Implement the Basel III reforms with EU-specific adjustments and transitional arrangement adapted to the COVID-19 crisis

This option would mirror option 2, but with a later date of application of the reform. Instead from 1 January 2023, the reform would apply from 1 January 2025, followed by a 5-year transitional period as proposed by the BCBS. This would lead to the full application of the reform by 1 January 2030.

Option 3 would fulfil EU's commitment to implement the international standards, and provide certainty for banks' capital planning and lending decisions, whilst at the same time leaving them more time to comply with the revised capital requirements. The extended implementation period would allow banks to focus on managing their financial risks

¹¹⁵ This means that the distribution key for any additional capital required by the OF would depend on the contribution of each entity to the consolidated floor requirement.

¹¹⁶ The inclusion of banks' own historical losses through the ILM indicator would either increase their capital requirement for operational risk in case the banks suffered large operational risk losses in the past (in this case ILM would be higher than 1) or decrease it if banks did not suffer such losses (in this case ILM would be lower than 1). A supervisory discretion introduced in the Basel III standards allows supervisors to set ILM to 1 for all banks in their jurisdictions, in order to disregard banks' own historical losses as a driver of the level of their capital requirement for operational risk.

stemming from the COVID-19 crisis and financing the recovery and give them enough time to adjust before the reform would reach its full effect. In addition, to reinforce the signal that banks would have ample time throughout the recovery phase to adjust to the new rules and thereby help avoid that other market participants would put pressure on banks (in particular the few most impacted banks) to frontload¹¹⁷ the new requirements, this option would entail dedicated communication efforts to explain the additional implementation period.

5.2.2. Dedicated capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework

Option 1 - Introduce measures for a better management of ESG risks by banks

Under this option, several measures would be introduced to improve the management of ESG risks by banks and to reinforce the specific review by bank supervisors as well as the degree of market discipline, without directly targeting banks' minimum capital requirements. These measures would aim to improve the resilience of banks to ESG risks and increase bank funding of sustainable activities by means of an improved understanding of the risks involved and an anticipation of expected market pressures.

As regards risk management, there is currently no explicit requirement for banks to have in place internal processes to manage ESG risks, nor an explicit requirement for ESG risks to be part of the supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP). Under this option, the current CRD V mandate for the EBA to issue a report to assess the inclusion of ESG risks in the SREP would be reinforced by explicitly requiring supervisors to ensure that banks manage ESG risks adequately. To the same end, the EBA's mandate would be clarified to require an assessment of how such risks should be included in the SREP via guidelines. Finally, the EBA would be mandated to specify further how ESG risks should be identified, measured, managed and monitored. This would include internal stress tests on banks' resilience to climate change risks and long-term negative impacts.

The annual stress tests performed by supervisors are an important tool to gauge the viability of banks under adverse conditions. At present, the CRD requires supervisors to perform annual stress tests on the banks they supervise, while the EBA is mandated to define a common stress test methodology via guidelines. Under this option, this requirement would be extended to include regular climate change stress tests and to mandate the EBA together with the other ESAs to develop a methodology for that purpose.

In the area of disclosure, the disclosure requirements related to the disclosure of ESG risks would be extended to a larger universe of banks (i.e. beyond large, listed banks to whom the existing requirement will apply from 2022) while respecting the proportionality principle.

As the EU economy is transitioning towards a sustainable economic model, while at the same time being exposed to sustainability risks, exposures due to the financing of sustainable

¹¹⁷ NB: Large banks and their supervisors have started to prepare for the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform soon after their adoption by the Basel Committee in 2017. This frontloading behaviour is also confirmed by the EBA's Basel III monitoring exercises, which show a steady decline in capital shortfalls at EU banks with respect to the requirements implied by the Basel III reform (see for instance also <u>https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/dutch-banks-unflustered-by-front-loading-of-capital-rules-54955966</u>). The presentation of the Commission proposal is hence not going to cause any additional or accelerated frontloading but rather slow it down.

activities might be expected to be less risky for banks than exposures financing unsustainable activities. While this option would not include comprehensive adjustments to capital requirements for these exposures, it would contain a specific review clause that would allow such adjustments to be made in the near future, once sufficient evidence would be available¹¹⁸. In addition, the deadline for the EBA to deliver its report on the prudential treatment of these exposures would be advanced from 2025 to 2023 in order to ensure greater timeliness of any changes to the prudential rules that may be needed.

Option 2 - Adapt minimum capital requirements to reflect ESG risks

Option 2 would adapt the minimum capital requirements under so-called "Pillar 1" of the prudential framework for the financing of certain activities and/or products where specific evidence exists that they are more or less risky than comparable exposures as a result of ESG factors. For the exact delimitation of environmentally sustainable activities deemed to be of lower risk based on such evidence, the Taxonomy Regulation and its delegated acts would be used.¹¹⁹ Under this option, capital requirements for sustainable exposures would be lowered, while capital requirements for unsustainable activities would be increased, to reflect the differences in ESG risks inherent in the two types of exposures. As under option 1, the deadline for the EBA to deliver its report would be advanced from 2025 to 2023.

5.2.3. Improve the consistency in the application of supervisory powers

Option 1 - Clarify and complement certain provisions on supervisory and sanctioning powers while leaving ample flexibility to Member States

Under option 1, several elements of the prudential framework related to supervisory and sanctioning powers would be clarified compared to the status quo in order to ensure a more consistent application of the supervisory toolkit. However, this option would still grant flexibility to MS to detail certain supervisory and sanctioning powers in national laws.

As regards supervisory powers, this option would introduce harmonised obligations for banks to notify competent authorities ahead of specific events with prudential relevance (acquisitions of holdings, transfers of assets and liabilities, mergers and demergers). To avoid placing an unnecessary burden on competent authorities and banks alike, the notification obligation would be subject to a materiality threshold. This option would abstain from specifying relevant related powers or obligations for the competent authorities. This means that MS would be left with the discretion to grant competent authorities *ex ante* supervisory powers to oppose or to approve these events.

¹¹⁸ Such evidence would primarily come from the EBA report mandated under Article 501c of the CRR.

¹¹⁹ At present, the work on the taxonomy related to environmental risks is the most advanced one: a first delegated act on sustainable activities for climate change adaptation and mitigation objectives (see https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/210421-sustainable-finance-communication_en#taxonomy) was formally adopted on 4 June 2021 for scrutiny by the co-legislators. A second delegated act for the remaining objectives will be published in 2022. On 12 July 2021, the Platform on Sustainable Finance has published two draft reports on the potential extensions of the taxonomy framework to cover i) social objectives and ii) activities that are significantly harmful to environmental sustainability, and those that have no significant impact on it (see https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/210421-sustainable-finance-communication_en#taxonomy) was formally adopted on 4 June 2021 for scrutiny by the co-legislators. A second delegated act for the remaining objectives will be published in 2022. On 12 July 2021, the Platform on Sustainable Finance has published two draft reports on the potential extensions of the taxonomy framework to cover i) social objectives and ii) activities that are significantly harmful to environmental sustainability, and those that have no significant impact on it (see https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/210712-sustainable-finance-platform-draft-reports_en).

As regards sanctioning powers, this option would introduce a generic sanctioning provision, giving competent authorities a general power to sanction all possible breaches of the regulatory framework¹²⁰. This option would also include a clarification of the distinction between the enforcement dimension (e.g. compelling entities to comply with the rules) and the punitive dimension (sanctioning a breach or a misconduct) of sanctioning powers. Lastly, this option would mandate the EBA to harmonise the basis for the calculation of pecuniary sanctions applicable to EU credit institutions (e.g. the total annual net turnover) by means of regulatory technical standards.

Concerning the fit-and-proper framework, this option would introduce harmonised rules for banks by requiring them to carry out an assessment of members of the management body and of key function holders before they take up their positions. This would be mandatory for all the banks in the group in which those persons are supposed to hold their functions. In addition, the option would address the assessment procedure in order to make it more reliable. This would include a specification of competent authorities' powers and processes for the assessment of members of the management body¹²¹ but not for key function holders as this category comprises very different roles¹²².

Option 2 - Ensure a greater level of harmonisation of the provisions on supervisory and sanctioning powers by narrowing down the flexibility of Member States

This option would go a step further compared to option 1. It would frame the current flexibility of Member States in determining which powers and tools to grant supervisors in national laws.

As regards supervisory powers, based on the notification requirement already foreseen in option 1, option 2 would introduce in the CRD explicit powers for competent authorities to *ex ante* oppose or approve events with prudential relevance (e.g. acquisitions of material holdings, material transfers of assets and liabilities, mergers and demergers).

As regards sanctioning powers, compared to option 1, the list of key CRD/CRR breaches subject to administrative sanctions would be completed based on a risk-based approach¹²³. The list of sanctionable breaches would be expanded (e.g. breaches of additional reporting requirements and capital requirements¹²⁴ would be included). In this regard, this option would ensure that the breaches to these important regulatory requirements would fall under the scope of the sanctioning regimes of all Member States. Like option 1, this option would introduce a clarification between enforcement and punitive dimension of sanctioning powers. But in addition to that it would grant an additional enforcement tool (periodic penalty

¹²⁰ This option would also include a general obligation for Member States to ensure that breaches of all relevant CRD and CRR provisions are sanctioned

¹²¹ For instance, competent authorities should assess them prior to their appointment (and not ex post).

¹²² Ranging from e.g. chief financial officers to persons in any other control function.

¹²³ The additional breaches would concern only elements of the regulatory regime applicable to supervised banks which are, according to national and European competent authorities, as the most sensitive from a prudential perspective.

¹²⁴ Financial sanctions would be applicable exclusively to the members of the management bodies of institutions and not to the institutions themselves.

payments¹²⁵) to competent authorities in order to reinforce their ability to ensure a strict application of prudential requirements. Furthermore, this option would include a harmonisation of the definition of total annual net turnover by using the indicator currently used in the calculation of capital requirements for operational risk¹²⁶ in order to foster a comprehensive and consistent application of administrative penalties across the EU and ensure comparability of sanctions.

Finally, under this option, the obligation for competent authorities to assess members of the management body and key function holders before they would occupy their positions would be limited to positions in the parent entity and material subsidiaries of large banks only (i.e. those powers would not be extended to small banks) following a risk-based approach. This would allow both supervisors and banks to focus their resources on the most important appointments. As with option 1, EU law would specify the procedural requirements for the fit-and-proper assessment, irrespective of whether the assessment is done ex ante or ex post.

5.2.4. Reduce disclosure costs and improve market access to bank prudential information

Option 1 - EBA provides a single electronic access to EU banks' quantitative disclosures

Under this option, the EBA would provide investors and other stakeholders with a single electronic web-based access to quantitative information that EU banks are required to disclose. Specifically, the EBA would publish this information on its website. The data would be sourced directly from the supervisory data that banks are required to report to their competent authorities, with the frequency determined by the disclosure rules. Specifically, they would be sourced from the EUCLID platform which is expected to be launched in 2021. This would be similar to what the EBA does as part of its EU-wide Transparency Exercises. It is important to highlight that the EBA would only provide the platform for the centralised disclosure; the ownership of the data and the responsibility for its accuracy would remain with the banks that produce it. Under this option, any qualitative information that banks have to disclose would not have to be published on the centralised platform; the disclosure of that information would be left to banks to manage.

Option 2 - EBA provides a single electronic access to EU banks' quantitative and qualitative disclosures.

Under this option, the EBA would provide investors and other stakeholders with a single electronic web-based access to both quantitative and qualitative information that EU banks are required to disclose. As under option 1, the quantitative information would be sourced from the EUCLID platform. Conversely, the qualitative information would be sent to the EBA by banks. The qualitative information could be simply sent in the format that institutions currently use (e.g. in the form of a pdf document; that document would then be

 $^{^{125}}$ The institution concerned has to pay a daily amount – up to 5% of its average daily turnover – for every day the infringement continues during a maximum period of six months.

¹²⁶ as defined in Article 316 of the CRR

published on the centralised platform). Subsequently, the format could be amended¹²⁷ in line with developments related to other initiatives, e.g. the European Single Access Point (ESAP). As under option 1, the ownership of the information and the responsibility for its accuracy would remain with the banks that produce it.

6. WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS OF THE POLICY OPTIONS AND HOW WOULD THEY COMPARE?

In this section, the policy options identified to address each problem in Section 5 are assessed against three criteria:

- <u>effectiveness</u>: the extent to which the different policy options would achieve the objectives;
- <u>efficiency</u>: the analysis of the costs versus the benefits of the different policy options; and
- <u>coherence</u>: the coherence of the different policy options with the overarching objectives of EU policies

Based on the analysis provided, a score is assigned to each policy option for each criterion. This helps to understand the selection of the preferred policy option, i.e. the policy option with the highest overall score.

6.1. Improve the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements

As explained in Section 5.2.1, **option 1** would address the main outstanding deficiencies of the prudential framework identified after the GFC, by strengthening the calculation of riskbased capital requirements and ensuring more comparability in this calculation across banks. Despite the ongoing COVID-19 crisis, these reforms are still needed since they address structural shortcomings of the prudential framework. Those shortcomings undermine the reliability of banks' risk measurement and calculation of capital requirements. This can, in turn, have negative consequences on financial stability in situations of future financial crises or wider economic downturns. In its response to the CfA published in December 2020, the EBA showed that the reforms would meet their purposes to reduce the variability across banks' internal models (due to the introduction of new constraints in using internal models) and to provide banks with more risk-sensitive standardised approaches.

However, the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform without adjustments would affect the overall level of EU banks' minimum capital requirements. The EBA's updated impact analysis, which uses the latest available estimates (based on Q4 2019 data), confirmed that implementing the final Basel III reforms under option 1 (i.e. in full alignment) would significantly increase the overall minimum capital requirements for EU banks when the reforms apply in full in January 2028 (i.e. once the transitional period would end). By this date, EU banks included in the EBA sample¹²⁸ would face an average¹²⁹

¹²⁷ Please note that this would not require any changes to the CRR.

¹²⁸ 99 EU banks representing 75% of all EU bank assets according to the EBA.

¹²⁹ The EBA impact analysis also shows the distribution of banks' individual total impact in minimum capital requirements as a result of implementing the final Basel III reforms under option 1. It can be noted that a quarter

increase of 18.5% in total minimum capital requirements¹³⁰, with 13 out of the 99 banks in the EBA sample that would have a combined capital shortfall¹³¹ of EUR 52.2bn, all else equal (see *Table 2*). As shown in

of EU banks in the EBA sample will incur a total impact in minimum capital requirements lower than +2.2%, while another quarter of these EU banks will incur a total impact in minimum capital requirements higher than +20.5%.

¹³⁰ The EBA's methodology estimates the impact of the Basel III reforms on EU banks' minimum capital requirements, i.e. taking into account the Pillar 1 minimum requirement, the Pillar 2 requirements and the fully loaded combined buffers requirement.

¹³¹ Banks incurring a capital shortfall as the result of implementing the final Basel III reforms would have to procure collectively that capital amount by the date of application of the reforms to meet the revised minimum requirements introduced by the reforms. The calculation of capital shortfalls in the EBA's methodology therefore does not take into potential capital management buffers that banks often hold in addition to the minimum required capital amount. A potential management buffer could in theory be used to compensate the capital shortfall incurred by the implementation of the final Basel III reforms.

Table **4**, this impact would be driven by the introduction of the output floor (contributing to an average increase of 6.7% in total minimum capital requirements), the revisions to the operational risk framework (+3.8%), the revisions to the credit risk framework (+2.6% for the IRB and +2.4% for the SA) and the revisions to the CVA risk framework (+2.1%).

In the updated impact analysis published in December 2020, the EBA also estimated, based on a smaller sample of 45 banks¹³² out of the 99banks of the EBA sample, the total shortfall in eligible liabilities (TLAC and MREL requirements) resulting from the introduction of the final Basel III standard under option 1: between EUR 7bn to EUR 8.6bn (for the purposes of comparison, the combined capital shortfall for these 45 banks represents EUR 41bn out of the EUR 52.2bn combined capital shortfall for the 99 banks of the EBA sample). Naturally, institutions could not only use own funds, but also MREL-eligible instruments to cover this shortfall. It has to be noted, however, that the shortfalls calculated are an approximation and these estimates should be considered with great caution¹³³.

The impacts of option 1 would be less significant in January 2023, when the revised rules would start to be phased in under the transitional arrangements, mainly due to the lower value of the output floor (i.e. 50%). However, they would remain relatively important: there would be an average increase of 11.8% in total minimum capital requirements, with 10 out of the 99 banks in the EBA sample having a combined capital shortfall of EUR 27.6bn.

Table 3 below highlights the profile of the EU banks that would incur a capital shortfall under option 1. The vast majority of the combined capital shortfall in 2028 is due to those EU banks that would continue to use internal models under the Basel III standards and for which the OF would become the binding capital requirement¹³⁴. It is important to note that the capital shortfall of those banks would build up progressively during the transitional period. In addition, the EBA updated impact analysis published in December 2020 indicates that the combined capital shortfall under option 1 would be concentrated within the largest banks in the EU, while small and medium-sized banks would incur negligible capital shortfalls or no shortfalls at all (as highlighted in Section 2 of Annex 6, capital requirements of small banks would even decrease on average as a result of the reform). Due to their simpler business models and usually very limited use of internal model approaches, small and medium-sized banks would be mainly affected by the revisions to the standardised approach for credit risk. Indeed, for these banks, the impacts of the revision would remain relatively contained, as the increases for other types of credit risk exposures.

¹³² The reduced sample included 45 of the 99 banks of the EBA sample used to calculate the estimates of the final Basel III reforms impacts on own fund requirement, accounting for roughly 85% of the total RWAs of these 99 banks (see Annex 5 of the CfA December 2020 report)

¹³³ For instance, the calculations do not take into account the significant discretion of a resolution authority to adjust MREL decisions upwards or downwards, which is meant to ensure that MREL remains a bank specific requirement. In addition, any changes introduced from BRRD2 besides the subordination requirements have been excluded from the analysis.

¹³⁴ A bank will be bound by the OF where its total minimum capital requirements calculated by its internal models would be lower than 72.5% of its total minimum capital requirements calculated under the standardised approaches, for the same exposures.

Although the updated analysis shows that the overall impacts would decrease compared to the previous EBA impact analysis¹³⁵, option 1 would still not meet the specific objective of "no significant increase" in the minimum capital requirements of EU banks. As a consequence, EU banks that would have a substantial capital shortfall under this option might find it difficult over the next few years to build up¹³⁶ the amount of capital required under the revised rules, especially in the current low profitability environment. Consequently, EU banks might be obliged to significantly reduce their activities in certain segments, or sell existing assets ("deleverage"), which may be detrimental to the real economy. Therefore, option 1 would not meet one of the general objectives of this legislative initiative, i.e. to contribute to the steady financing of the EU economy in the context of the recovery post COVID 19 crisis.

In the two public consultations launched by the Commission services in 2018 and 2019 on the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform, most respondents from the banking sector and some banks' clients raised concerns regarding the increase in capital requirements resulting from the implementation of the reform without any adjustments (see Annex 2 for a full summary of the responses). In its responses to the Commission's CfA on the impact of the reform, the EBA supported the overall implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform under option 1. While Member States share the overall view that those reforms are necessary to address the outstanding deficiencies of the prudential framework (see Annex 2), some of them also expressed concerns about the impacts if the international standards would be implemented without adjustments.

The introduction of EU specific adjustments in the implementation of the final Basel III reforms as proposed under **option 2** would more than halve the estimated impact of option 1, as shown in *Table 2*. In fact, when the reforms would apply in full in 2028, the estimated average increase in total minimum capital requirements under this option would be between 6.4% and 8.4%, with 10 banks out of 99 banks that would have a combined capital shortfall of less than¹³⁷ EUR 27bn. The lower impact of option 2 would be even more pronounced at

 $^{^{135}}$ In its report published in December 2020, the EBA also provided the impacts on the same sample of 99 banks but based on Q2 2018 data which was used in their previous impact analysis. From Q2 2018 to Q4 2019, the total increase in minimum capital requirements decreased by over 5 percentage points (i.e. from +24.1% to +18.5%), while the capital shortfall across these banks has more than halved (from EUR 109.5 bn to EUR 52.2 bn). According to the EBA, this reduction can be mostly explained by the strengthening in the total capital positions of EU banks between the two dates, but also by the reduction in the overall impact of the output floor for few large banks and the revision of the calibration of the CVA risk framework adopted by the BCBS in July 2020.

¹³⁶ Banks can usually build up additional amount of regulatory capital by either retaining more earnings or by issuing new common shares or other forms of regulatory capital. While the former strategy is inherently difficult in a low profitability environment, the later strategy can also be challenging because the future expected profitability of a bank is reflected in its share price. The lower the profitability outlook, the lower the share price and the larger the number of new shares that have to be issued to raise a given amount of capital, making it more difficult to reach a given new issuance target.

¹³⁷ The impact of option 2 in terms of % change to the total MRC includes the Commission estimates for some of EU specific adjustments proposed in Section 5.2.1 that the EBA has not been able to quantify in its impact study (see

Table **4** for the breakdown of these estimates). However, the Commission services did not have the ability to reflect these estimates in the TC shortfall under this option which would require to have access to individual banks data. Therefore, the TC shortfall amounts shown in this table, which only reflect the EU specific

the beginning of the transitional period (i.e. in 2023): the estimated average increase in total minimum capital requirements would range between 0.7% and 2.7%, with only 7 out of 99 banks that would have a combined capital shortfall of less than EUR 7.5bn.

adjustments quantified by the EBA, should be interpreted as an upper bound of the actual TC shortfall incurred by banks in the EBA sample.

Table **4** below provides more details on the mitigating impacts of the various EU specific adjustments under option 2 as compared to option 1.

Under option 2, the estimated shortfall in eligible liabilities would also reduce: between less than EUR 2bn and less than EUR 2.01bn for the 45banks analysed.

The introduction of EU specific adjustments would not jeopardise the overall objective of the Basel III reform, i.e. to address the outstanding deficiencies of the prudential framework. At the same time, option 2 would implement the reform in a way that would meet the specific objective of "no significant" increase in capital requirements across EU banks, as highlighted by the above analysis.

To put the capital shortfalls under the two options into perspective, the 99 banks included in the EBA sample held a total amount of regulatory capital worth EUR 1414bn at the end of 2019 and had combined profits of EUR 99.8bn in 2019. Knowing that option 2 would halve the capital shortfalls of EU banks as compared to option 1, these banks would be in a better position¹³⁸ to build up the amount of capital required under the new rules over the next few years under option 2, without the need to abruptly reduce their exposures, particularly in certain financing activities that are key to the EU economy.

Option 2 is broadly aligned with the views expressed by the bank respondents to the two public consultations: they also proposed some specific adjustments when implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU. After a careful assessment, the adjustments that were deemed justified and appropriate have been included under option 2 (e.g. specific treatment for certain equity and specialised lending exposures, postponement of the implementation of the haircut floor framework, etc.). Other EU specific adjustments proposed under option 2 would simply maintain previously agreed rules already catering for EU specificities (e.g. SME supporting factor and the CVA exemptions). Mixed views have been expressed by the EBA, the ECB, Member States and national supervisors during expert group meeting organised by the Commission on the specific adjustments proposed under option 2. The views of Member States generally depended on the extent to which the EU specificities identified in Section 5.2.1 are present in their banking sector.

Table 2: Summary of overall key impact estimates of the final Basel III reforms on EU banks, under both the implementation policy options 1 and 2.

	Impact in 2023 at star (beginning of transi	rt of application tional period)	Impact in 2028 application (end o period	under full f transitional l)
	Average % change in total MRC ¹³⁹	Combined TC shortfall (in EUR bn)	Average % change in total MRC	Combined TC shortfall (in EUR bn)
Option 1: Full alignment with Basel III standards	+11.8%	27.5	+18.5%	52.2

¹³⁸ Banks without capital shortfalls would also be in a better position to maintain their current level of capital ratio over the next few years under option by building the required amount of capital to do so. ¹³⁹ Minimum Required Capital.

Option 2: Implementation with EU specific adjustments	Between +0.7% and +2.7%	Below 7.5	Between +6.4% and +8.4%	Below 26.3
--	-------------------------	-----------	-------------------------	------------

Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; European Commission estimates.

Table 3: Number and profile of EU banks incurring a capital shortfall with the full application of the final Basel III reforms in 2028, under the implementation policy options 1 and 2.

Profile incurring	ofile of banks Number of banks incurring a capital Combined TC urring a capital shortfall (out of 99 banks in EBA Combined TC		Number of banks incurring a capital shortfall (out of 99 banks in EBA		ned TC sh	ortfall (in l	EUR bn)		
51101	uan	In 2	2023	In 2	028	In 2	023	In 2	2028
		Option 1	Option 2	Option 1	Option 2	Option 1	Option 2	Option 1	Option 2
Using of standardised	only the d approaches	4	4	4	4	0.7	Below 0.6	0.7	Below 0.6
Using internal	Bound by the OF	0	0	6	4	0	0	42.5	Below 22.4
model approaches	Not bound by the OF	6	3	3	1	26.8	Below 6.9	9	Below 3.3
To	otal	10	7	13	10	27.5	Below 7.5	52,2	Below 26.3

Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020.

Table 4: Breakdown of the impacts of the individual elements of final Basel III reforms under options 1 and 2 in 2028^{140} and of the individual EU specific adjustments considered under option 2.

	% change in MRC under		act of EU specific under option 2	% change in MRC under option 2
all risks and per risk type)	Quantified in EBA impact analysis (in percentage points (pp))	Not quantified in EBA impact analysis and based on Commission estimates (in percentage points (pp))	(across all risks and per risk type)	
Across all risks	+ 18.5%			Between +6.4% and +8.4%
Credit risk (=IRB + SA)	+5% (=2.6%+2.4%)	SME supporting factor: -2pp	Unrated corporates: -1.5pp Treatment of equities: -1pp	+0.5%
Market risk	+0.8%			+0.8%
Operational risk	+3.8%	ILM=1: -2.1pp		+1.7%
CVA risk	+2.1%	CVA exemption & proportionality: -1.6pp		+0.5%
Output floor	+6.7%	EU implementation of the output floor: at least ¹⁴¹ - 1pp		+5.7%
Other risk (Securitisation and Leverage ratio)	+0.2%			+0.2%
Broad impact estimates of other adjustments			Market risk (treatment of CIUs and calibration of EU ETS), credit risk (infrastructure supporting factor, specialised lending), the output floor (SACCR calibration in OF) and postponement of minimum haircut floors: -1pp to -3pp	-1% to -3%

Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; European Commission estimates.

The above impact estimates provided by the EBA are based on Q4 2019 data. They implicitly¹⁴² assume that the economic activity and EU banks' balance sheets would recover

¹⁴⁰ The breakdown of these individual impacts in 2023 is basically the same, expect the impact of the output floor which reduces to 0% since its lower value of 50% does not bind EU banks.

¹⁴¹ In the "EU single stack" approach proposed in this note, supervisors will be able to further adjust the overall than was estimated by the EBA in its impact assessment.

¹⁴² These impacts estimates are calculated by the EBA under a 'static balance sheet' assumption, meaning that they only capture the impacts of a change in the prudential framework at the date they have been calculated. Therefore, the impact estimated presented in this impact assessment implicitly assumes banks' balance sheet

to pre-crisis levels by the time the final elements of the Basel III reform would start applying, i.e. by January 2023. However, it cannot be ignored that over this horizon, banks' balance sheets might still be affected by the consequences of the COVID-19 crisis.

To this end, the EBA's updated impact analysis also provides the Commission with a qualitative and a quantitative analysis of the combined effect of the reform and the potential consequences of the COVID-19 crisis over the short-term, i.e. at the start of the application of the reforms in 2023.

First, one key conclusion of the qualitative analysis performed by the EBA is that the effects of the COVID-19 crisis would not necessarily lead to higher capital impacts under the final Basel III standards than they would do under the current prudential framework. Indeed, the EBA expects an increase in banks' capital requirements as a result of the expected deterioration in ratings, higher probabilities of default and higher expected losses caused by the COVID-19 crisis. In the short-term, this increase would occur under the current prudential framework irrespective of whether the final Basel III standards would be implemented and would, to a certain extent, mitigate the capital impact due to the reform. For instance, for banks using internal models under the Basel III standards, the impact of introducing the output floor might be mitigated by an increase in the capital requirements generated by internal models, which might happen in the coming years due to the higher credit risk of banks' borrowers.

Second, the quantitative analysis performed by the EBA defines two hypothetic, adverse economic scenarios which would imply a significant deterioration of the financial situation of EU banks' borrowers over the short-term horizon as a potential negative consequence of the COVID-19 crisis (the two scenarios differ in terms of how severe¹⁴³ this deterioration and the resulting increase of their non-performing loans would be, all other risks of EU banks being equal). Under each scenario, the EBA recalculated the average change in the minimum capital requirements and the resulting capital shortfall of EU banks only under option 2 and only in the short-term, i.e.at the start of application of the reforms in 2023.

As compared to the impact of option 2 (i.e. average increase in banks' minimum capital requirements between +0.7% and +2.7% and a combined capital shortfall of less than EUR 7.5bn as shown in *Table 2*), the average increase in banks' minimum capital requirements under the less (resp. more) severe if the adverse economic scenarios in the short-term would go up to between +4% and +6% (resp. +5% and +7%) leading to a capital shortfall of EUR 30.4bn (resp. EUR 59.8bn).

As recognised by the EBA in its report, the impact estimates under these two adverse scenarios are more significant than using the Q4 2019 data but the assumptions and the

¹⁴³ The first adverse scenario applies a stress effect on the EU banks' credit risk provisions and their credit risk capital requirements to all their borrowers, based on the hypothetical shock arising from the 2018 stress test; the second adverse scenario cumulative the stress effect of the first scenario with more specific stress effects applied to bank's exposures from economic sectors that are the most affected by the COVID-19 crisis. This methodology, which has previously been used by the EBA thematic note on the impact of COVID-19 in the EU banking sector published in May 2020 (see https://www.eba.europa.eu/risk-analysis-and-data/risk-assessment-reports), is described in Annex 6.

methodology used by the EBA in these scenarios were very conservative and need to be interpreted with caution. In fact, the EBA methodology uses a stress-testing approach which assumes a simultaneous deterioration in the financial situation of all borrowers of EU banks, i.e. even for those borrowers that do not currently experience difficulties. Second, the higher combined capital shortfall under the adverse scenarios would not be only due to higher capital shortfalls incurred by banks under option 2 based on Q4 2019 data, but also due to more banks that would incur a shortfall under that scenario. Some of the banks that would incur a capital shortfall under the adverse scenarios would also incur a shortfall if the current prudential framework was used instead of the final Basel III standards (the EBA analysis does not disentangle the two effects – the COVID-19 effect and effect of the final Basel III reforms).

Taking into account these caveats, the EBA analysis still provides a useful indication of what the upper bound of the impacts of the final elements of the Basel III reform could be if the financial situation of EU banks were to significantly deteriorate over the next few years. The continuing EBA monitoring of the impacts of the reform on EU banks will be particularly useful to inform EU co-legislators during the first stage of negotiations of this legislative initiative about the evolution of the impacts of those reforms with more concrete first signs of the consequences of the COVID-19 crisis on EU banks' balance sheets.

Option 3 would lead to the same overall impacts on total capital requirements as option 2 but would give EU banks two more years to comply with the new capital requirements. Due to the uncertainty with the evolution of the financial situation of EU banks' clients, as shown in the above analysis, this delay would give banks time to absorb potential losses coming from the most fragile borrowers that are (or will be) affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, while still leaving them enough room to support the financing of the EU economy during the recovery phase.

Option 3 would provide much needed certainty to the banks that the impact of the EU implementation of Basel III is manageable. Banks usually refer to the EBA's estimates on how much capital requirements would increase if the reforms were implemented in full alignment with the Basel III standards. Given the lack of clarity about the EU's implementation approach and missing certainty on the timeline, banks expect a significant increase in capital requirements as a result of the implementation and the most impacted or weakest amongst them could see this as another reason¹⁴⁴ to hold back from using their capital to lend. Coming forward with option 3 for the implementation would signal that the impact would be quite limited and provide certainty for banks' capital planning and lending decisions throughout the recovery phase while reaffirming the EU's international commitment to the Basel III implementation. In addition, clear communication on the difference between entry into force and effective application of the new requirements would

¹⁴⁴ Recent market observations (e.g. ECB's lending survey or EBA's risk and vulnerabilities assessment) indicate that lending conditions remained broadly favourable in 2020 but started to tighten. This is mainly driven by banks' assessment of the risk related to the deteriorating creditworthiness of borrowers affected by the pandemic, whereas banks' capital position remains strong and did not contribute to the tightening. In the Euro area, banks do not expect that regulatory or supervisory action will constrain their capital positions or lead to a decrease in their total assets.

help reinforce the signalling effect. Postponing further, by contrast, would nurture speculations about the EU's commitment to implement the final elements of the Basel III reform, damage the EU's reputation as a reliable partner in international fora/negotiations, and be likely interpreted as a sign that the EU banking sector is too weak to accommodate the Basel III reforms (with potential negative consequences for EU banks' market valuations and funding costs).

In their communications with the Commission, a good part of the banking sector and some of their clients have been asking for a postponement of this legislative proposal implementing the final elements of the Basel III reforms. Option 3, while not entailing further postponement of the legislative proposal, but given the extended implementation timeline, would largely meet this demand. Member States and supervisors were more supportive of the idea of extending the implementation timelines as an alternative to structural deviations from the final Basel III standards. Most Member States and key MEPs have recently restated their support for a timely and faithful implementation of the final Basel III reforms – taking account of EU specificities – notwithstanding the COVID-19 crisis. They expect the Commission to table a legislative proposal by mid-2021.

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 5* below, **option 3** is deemed the preferred policy option to improve the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements.

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	-	+	*
Option 2	++	+	++	+
Option 3	++	++	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

6.2. Dedicated capture of ESG risks in the prudential framework

Option 1 would provide incentives for banks to improve the management of ESG risks by reinforcing banks' obligations as regards the management of ESG risks as well as the supervisory review thereof. This would help ensure that banks would be able to handle their exposures to ESG risks more effectively and aligning their investment strategies accordingly, in line with the stated objective pursued by this initiative. In addition, the suggested reinforcement of disclosure requirements would allow market participants to scrutinise the degree of exposure of banks to ESG risks as well as how close those banks are to delivering on any sustainability commitments they had already made (or would make in the future).

By introducing a dedicated review clause to adapt capital requirements based on concrete evidence, option 1 would pave the way for better aligning capital requirements with the riskiness of ESG assets.

Through the envisaged change to bring forward the delivery date for the EBA report, option 1 would allow to minimise delays in effectively addressing any additional underlying problems that the report may identify. At the same time, it would ensure that any changes in capital requirements would be based on adequate evidence, which would be coherent with the principles of risk-based capital requirements and thus the objective of financial stability.

Option 1 would result in some costs for banks as they would have to adapt their risk management systems and processes and collect the necessary data. To the extent that the data must be obtained from customers, the latter would also incur additional costs as a result. Supervisors would incur costs as their supervisory processes would become more complex.

In contrast to option 1, **option 2** would adapt capital requirements based on currently available evidence without awaiting the EBA report on the relative riskiness of exposures. It would thus have the advantage of effectively responding to calls for an early intervention in view of the urgency of environmental (and more broadly sustainability) challenges. However, research on how the riskiness of bank exposures differs based on sustainability criteria is in its early stages and empirical evidence in this area is still limited. The available research is focused on a very narrow subset of bank exposures, namely lending for the financing of the construction/purchase of energy-efficient buildings or for the "upgrading" of energy inefficient buildings. That research provides tentative evidence that such lending may be slightly less risky than "traditional" mortgage lending¹⁴⁵. At the same time, other research concludes that such differences either do not exist or can be explained by other factors than environmental ones that are correlated with "green-ness", such as income differences between borrowers.

An attempt to introduce changes to capital requirements for ESG risks based on this limited and inconsistent evidence would likely result in an inadequate calibration of such capital requirements. This would be incoherent with the principles of risk-based capital requirements and would negatively impact financial stability in particular if capital requirements for certain exposures were to be too low to cover the real risks. Also, a premature change in capital requirements would entail the risk that new evidence may subsequently emerge that contradicts the assumptions on the basis of which the changes had been made in the first place, thereby creating the need to undo these changes. At the same time, the available evidence does not allow a detailed assessment of the impact that option 2 might have.

Many stakeholders recognise that prudential requirements for banks must reflect ESG risks, with the EBA recommending "to incorporate ESG risk-related considerations in directives and regulations applicable to the banking sector"¹⁴⁶. This holds true in particular with respect to proposals to strengthen risk management requirements, supervisory review and stress testing as well as disclosure requirements, even though with respect to the latter some stakeholders have cautioned that these must not result in disproportionate costs.

 ¹⁴⁵ Does energy efficiency predict mortgage performance?, Bank of England, 2020 (see https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/working-paper/2020/does-energy-efficiency-predict-mortgage-performance).
 ¹⁴⁶ See the EBA Discussion paper on management and supervision of ESG risks for credit institutions and investment firms.

However, views vary as regards changes to capital requirements based on ESG factors. Banks tend to be open to the idea of lower capital requirements for exposures to sustainable activities and/or products but strongly oppose higher capital requirements for exposures to activities and/or products deemed to be unsustainable. Civil society stakeholders tend to view increased capital requirements for unsustainable activities and/or products more favourably, while some consider that the potential benefit of a decrease in capital requirements for sustainable activities and/or products would be outweighed by a potential negative impact on financial stability. Supervisors consider that any change in capital requirements must be based on solid evidence of risk differentials based on ESG factors, which they do not consider to be available at present.

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 6* below, **option 1** is deemed the preferred policy option to introduce a dedicated capture ESG risks in the prudential framework.

 Table 6: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	+	++	+
Option 2	?	?	?	?

Magnitude of impact as compared with the baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ *strongly positive;* + *positive;* -- *strongly negative;* - *negative;* \approx *marginal/neutral;* ? *uncertain; n.a. not applicable*

6.3. Improve the consistency in the application of supervisory powers

On supervisory powers

In relation to supervisory powers, **option 1** would draw awareness across the Union to the importance of assessing prudentially relevant events in a timely manner. The suggested mandatory ex-ante notification, e.g. of a merger, would allow supervisors to be informed at an early stage and to react promptly, if deemed necessary from a prudential viewpoint. Yet, MS would remain free to implement corresponding supervisory powers. The likely effect would be a perpetuation of the absence of equal rules and limitations for several authorities, including the ECB, to intervene *ex ante*. Option 1 would imply some costs for banks in the form of administrative burden (due to the notification obligation) and would for individual banks depend on whether *ex ante* notification obligations already exist in the relevant MS. However, the materiality thresholds for notifications included in this option would limit those costs, as only event exceeding the thresholds would need to be notified.

On the supervisory powers and procedures concerning the suitability assessment, option 1 would mean assessing *ex ante* all members of the management body by the competent authorities, without considering the characteristics of banks or of the different entities within the group in which those persons hold their functions. While this would ensure a high degree of harmonisation, it would require significant additional efforts from authorities that currently perform *ex-post* assessments, notably to the numerous small banks in their supervisory remit.

By contrast to option 1, the harmonisation of supervisory powers in EU law as suggested in **option 2** would achieve a level playing field, endowing all competent authorities with sufficient capacity to react to prudentially relevant events. It would impact to a different extent banks and supervisory authorities, depending on whether supervisory powers¹⁴⁷ and *ex ante* notification obligations already exist and how they are designed. The incurred costs would in most cases remain ultimately less important than those for *ex-post* supervisory assessments. As in the case of option 1, the costs would be contained due to the materiality thresholds.

As regards the fit-and-proper assessment, under option 2, the *ex-ante* assessment would be introduced only for members of the management body in the parent entity and in material subsidiaries of large banks. Competent authorities would therefore be able to continue *ex-post* assessments for smaller banks which would entail no additional costs. Option 2 would extend the scope to key function holders and require competent authorities to assess them ex ante for the same type of entities as for the members of the management body. The proposed framework would also provide further specifications concerning the supervisory procedures for the assessment of both, board members and key function holders. Furthermore, it would set out criteria for carrying out the assessment of key function holders¹⁴⁸.

Overall, option 2 would achieve a more balanced reform of supervisory powers than option 1. It would ensure a sufficient level of supervisory convergence and keep the administrative burden to a reasonable level.

On sanctioning powers

Option 1 would clarify the distinction between enforcement measures and sanctioning tools for supervisors. This clarification would leave nonetheless an important discretion to Member States to introduce or not additional enforcement¹⁴⁹ and sanctioning powers in their national laws.

Furthermore, option 1 would achieve a significant increase of the harmonisation of sanctioning powers by introducing a general power for supervisors to sanction all potential breaches of the regulatory framework. However, this option might create legal uncertainty as regards its application. A generic clause might not be effective when breaches of a bank are not identified by national and European supervisors under a common standard. In addition, some Member States impose the obligation to state the breach for which a sanction is applicable¹⁵⁰. Therefore, introducing a general sanctioning power could potentially raise constitutional issues in some Member States¹⁵¹.

Finally, under option 1 the basis for the calculation of pecuniary measures imposed on EU banks to sanction breaches would be specified by MS, agreeing on a common definition in a

¹⁴⁷ Most MS have already provided their supervisors with at least some approval powers.

¹⁴⁸ Article 91 of Directive 2013/36/EU already provides criteria for assessing the members of the management body.

¹⁴⁹ The possibility for supervisors to impose periodic penalty payments applicable to credit institutions breaching their regulatory requirements

¹⁵⁰ It is the case especially if the breach would lead to financial penalties

¹⁵¹ In some Member States, it would not be possible to introduce such general administrative sanctioning power because national laws already foresee criminal sanctions for such CRD/CRR breaches

Level 2 text (e.g. Regulatory Technical Standards) that could leave some additional flexibility.

None of the above elements is expected to lead to undue increases in costs for either banks or their supervisors¹⁵².

Option 2 would provide more legal certainty as regards breaches that would be sanctioned than option 1. MS would implement an identical list of key CRD/CRR requirements, which would eliminate inconsistencies as regards the scope of sanctioning powers of the competent authorities. This option considers the proportionality principle. It increases the level of harmonisation as regards sanctioning powers without leaving supervisors and credit institutions with legal uncertainty which is the case for solely generic sanctioning powers under option 1.

Like under option 1, all the important breaches would be subject to administrative sanctions by supervisors and clarifications would be provided on the articulation between enforcement and punitive measures taken by supervisors. However, option 2 would go beyond option 1 by providing an additional enforcement tool to supervisors in the form of periodic penalty payments).

Finally, option 2 suggests a harmonisation of the calculation of pecuniary sanctions based on the notion of total annual net turnover. The use of total annual net turnover as a criterion would benefit from a clarification on the highest level of the EU legislation (e.g. CRD), compared to option 1 (Regulatory Technical Standards).

Similarly to option 1, the changes contemplated under option 2 would not lead to undue increases in costs for banks or for their supervisors (for the latter, the sanctioning procedures could stay unchanged, it is only the scope of breaches to which those procedures would apply that would be expanded).

* * *

Most stakeholders acknowledge that differences in the powers available to supervisors and their application across MS are contrary to the level playing field principle and effective supervision. While supervisors (in particular the ECB) and civil society stakeholders highlight the prudential risks and the uncertainty resulting from the lack of certain powers, definitions and common procedures, the banking industry is concerned about possible distortions to the competition across MS and notes that the status quo would prevent groups from reaping the synergies expected from cross-border acquisitions.

As regards concrete policy options to address the problems, the views of MS and supervisors are largely correlated with their current practices. In particular, those being home and/or predominantly in charge of smaller banks are concerned about potentially increased administrative burden. Their support is hence conditional on the introduction of materiality thresholds which would exempt a significant number of events and the provision of targeted flexibility (particularly regarding the scope of *ex-ante* fit-and-proper assessments) allowing

¹⁵² Under this new regime banks could be hit by sanctions for certain breaches, which would of course represent a cost for those banks. However, those costs are not considered as undue.

for risk-based adjustments as envisaged under option 2. Some MS and the majority of banks, by contrast, prefer limiting the flexibility left to MS and supervisors to the extent possible.

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table* 7 below, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option to improve the consistency in the application of supervisory powers

 Table 7 : Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	+	+	+
Option 2	++	++	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ *strongly positive;* + *positive;* -- *strongly negative;* - *negative;* \approx *marginal/neutral;*? *uncertain; n.a. not applicable*

6.4. Reduce disclosure costs and improve market access to bank prudential information

Both options would increase the efficiency and effectiveness of disclosures, particularly for small and non-complex banks. These banks would be relieved from the burden to prepare disclosures of prudential information¹⁵³, which will be disclosed centrally based on prudential information provided to supervisors. For other banks, the benefits from option 1 may be limited: given that they would still need to manage their disclosures of qualitative information, they may simply decide to continue disclosing the required qualitative and quantitative information as they currently do. At the same time, option 1 would not entail any additional costs for those banks, nor it would entail any additional costs for banks or supervisors more in general as changes to their existing systems would not be required.

For other stakeholders (e.g. investors, academics) **option 1** would achieve all benefits associated with a single, free access point to prudential data (i.e. quantitative information) on all EU banks. It would allow them to undertake a meaningful analysis across EU banks. The disadvantage (but not associated with additional cost) of this option for these stakeholders would be that in order to access banks' qualitative information, they would still need to gather it from the websites of individual banks like they currently do.

Option 2 would entail the same benefits as option 1. In addition, it would eliminate all its drawbacks: all banks would be able to use the centralised platform for all their disclosures (and hence avoid duplication), while the other stakeholders would have a single point of access to those disclosures.

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 8* below, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option to reduce disclosure costs and improve market access to bank prudential information.

¹⁵³ Following the amendments to the disclosure rules introduced by the CRR II, small and non-complex banks are required to disclose quantitative information only.

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	+	+	+
Option 2	++	++	+	++

Table 8 : Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

7. **PREFERRED POLICY OPTIONS**

7.1. Effectiveness

The implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform under the preferred policy option will address the shortcomings of risk-based capital requirements under the prudential framework that have been identified during the GFC. This will ensure an accurate measurement of risk and an adequate capitalisation of institutions which will in turn ensure financial stability. A more stable and resilient EU banking sector will, in turn, effectively strengthen the trust of global financial markets and international partners in the EU financial system.

The preferred option will also take due account of the specificities of the EU banking sector through a number of specific adjustments to the Basel III standards as well as a longer implementation timeline of the reforms. In this way the preferred option will most effectively help to mitigate the risk associated with a sharp increase in capital requirements for institutions, especially in view of the COVID-19 –crisis. This will ensure a smooth provision of essential financial services to the EU economy during the recovery phase and in the long term.

The preferred policy option will enhance the focus on ESG risks in the prudential framework with a dedicated approach to capture those risks. Improved management of ESG risks will ensure that institutions will be better prepared to withstand those risks, in particular risks due to climate change. Moreover, the explicit reference to ESG risks in the supervisory framework will increase supervisors' focus of those risks. Finally, the enhanced transparency about institutions' exposures to those risks will give markets the necessary tools for an effective monitoring of the sustainability of institutions' activities. The combination of these measures will create the necessary incentives for institutions to allocate more financing to more sustainable investments.

The preferred policy option regarding supervisory and sanctioning powers will further harmonise and strengthen the toolkit available to supervisors across the Union, improving the robustness, application and enforcement of the prudential framework applicable to institutions. By strengthening supervisors' powers to ensure institutions' compliance with the prudential framework across the Union, and by giving supervisors the necessary powers to intervene in transactions that can have a significant prudential impact on institutions, the preferred option will ensure a more effective supervision of institutions and therefore a safer banking sector.

Next to supervision, scrutiny by market participants and other stakeholders constitutes another important control mechanism in the prudential framework. The effective functioning of this mechanism is conditional upon the transparency of banks' activities, their financial position and the risks they face. The preferred policy option would ensure that information (i.e. qualitative and quantitative) that institutions have to disclose would be easily accessible in one place and would be easily comparable, thus enhancing the ability of clients, investors and other market participants to monitor and exert market discipline on institutions.

7.2. Efficiency

The preferred policy option will achieve the desired objectives with enhanced efficiency. By adapting the final Basel III framework to several specificities of the EU banking sector, the preferred option would avoid disproportionate capital requirements for certain financial products or activities provided by banks and are essential to the EU economy. Without adapting the Basel III standards to EU specificities, the resulting increase in capital requirements would likely be significant, resulting in higher costs for institutions' clients, including SMEs. This could ultimately undermine the clients' economic activities or capacity to hedge their financial risks. The proposed two-year postponement of the date of application of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the preferred policy option will enable banks to support the recovery post COVID-19 crisis over the short- to medium-term whilst providing EU banks with regulatory certainty early on, thereby allowing for proper planning and a smooth implementation of the revised prudential framework.

The preferred policy option to address ESG risks will provide the necessary incentives for banks and, indirectly, their clients to take due account of the sustainability of their economic activities and will therefore ensure a more efficient allocation of economic resources. This will, in turn, support the effort to transform the EU economy into a resource-efficient, sustainable and competitive economy.

As regards supervisory and sanctioning powers, the preferred option addresses the current fragmentation of supervisory powers by ensuring that scarce supervisory resources are used in the most efficient way. This is done by allowing supervisors to focus only on events that can materially affect the prudential standing of banks. While the preferred policy option involves an increase in costs for at least some supervisors (especially for those that currently do not have the powers that would be introduced under the preferred option) and the banks they supervise, the increase in costs is limited (due to the in-built proportionality of the rules that focuses only on material events). The costs would be outweighed by the benefits of more harmonisation which will contribute to levelling the playing field in the single market and render supervision in the Banking Union more efficient.

Finally, under the preferred policy option for the disclosure of prudential information, banks will benefit from a more efficient system that integrates supervisory reporting and disclosure, and thereby reduces their administrative burden. At the same time, access to bank data for stakeholders will become more efficient as all the relevant information will be available in one place.

7.3. Coherence

In addition to the effectiveness and efficiency of the preferred policy options chosen to address the problems identified, the preferred options shall be coherent with each other as well as the whole package with other policy initiatives at EU level.

The prudential framework for banks in the Union consists of three main pillars, each of which plays a distinct, key role in ensuring the stability of individual institutions and the banking sector as a whole. The preferred policy options propose changes to each of these pillars, which will increase the coherence of the overall framework.

The first pillar consists of minimum capital requirements, in the form of quantitative and qualitative rules. In 2013, in the wake of the GFC, these rules were moved from a Directive to a Regulation to form a "Single Rule Book", and a large number of national options and discretions was removed. This change improved the uniformity of application of minimum capital requirements in all MS, closed regulatory loopholes and thus contributed to a more effective functioning of the single market for banking services. The current proposal further improves the consistent application of these rules by limiting banks' freedom in calculating their capital requirements; this will make capital requirements and reported capital ratios more comparable across the Union.

The second pillar consists of the supervisory review of banks' activities and risks. This review is crucial to ensure a consistent application of the prudential framework, in particular in the Banking Union. However, where powers and tools made available to supervisors in conducting this review differ across the Union, prudential rules are often applied inconsistently. The preferred options will address shortcomings in respect of strengthening supervisory powers and the sanctioning of breaches.

The third pillar consists of market scrutiny. For banks to be subject to comparable levels of scrutiny, stakeholders must have access to comparable information. The preferred policy options will improve such access and will also increase the comparability of the disclosed information.

Furthermore, the preferred policy options are coherent with other policy initiatives at EU level, in particular:

- The Banking Union aims to increase financial integration and stability in the Economic and Monetary Union. Common supervision is a central element of the Banking Union. However, where the ECB exercises direct supervisory powers set out in national law transposing the CRD, the ECB does not have the same range of powers with regard to all banks under its supervision because of differences in the transposition. This impinges on attaining the objective of efficient and harmonised supervision within the Banking Union. The present initiative aims at addressing some of these obstacles.
- The CMU aims to improve the access to financing for companies and projects across the Union. This overall aim is coherent with the general objectives of the present initiative, whereas the specific measures are complementary: banking regulation mostly relates to bank financing, while CMU mostly concerns non-bank financing. This initiative takes

into account the fact that EU banks also play a role in facilitating companies' access to financial markets, and ensures, by considering EU specificities, that the proposed measures do not unduly constrain this important role of banks.

- The EGD Communication announced that environmental risks would be better integrated into the EU prudential framework, and that the suitability of the existing capital requirements for green assets would be assessed. The present initiative puts this announcement into practice. It will help ensure that the banking sector can play an appropriate role in achieving the ambitious aims of the EGD.
- The ESAP aims at providing investors with easy access to regulated financial information of companies listed on the EU's regulated markets. Although the scope of this initiative is different from the scope of the ESAP, the aim of the two is fully compatible. Depending on the final design of the ESAP, the EBA centralised disclosure platform could either feed information into the ESAP or the ESAP could provide a gateway to the information stored on the EBA platform.

7.4. **REFIT** (simplification and improved efficiency)

This initiative is aimed at completing the EU implementation of the international prudential standards for banks agreed by the BCBS between 2017 and 2020. It would complete the EU implementation of the Basel III reform that was launched by the Basel Committee in the wake of the GFC. That reform was in itself a comprehensive review of the prudential framework that was in place before and during the GFC, namely the Basel II framework (in the EU that framework was implemented through Directive 2006/48/EC, i.e. the original CRD). The Commission used the results of that review, together with input provided by the EBA and other stakeholders, to inform its implementation work. A fitness check or refit exercise of the EU implementation of the Basel III reform has not been carried out yet because all the elements of the reform need to be put in place before one can be carried out.

Implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform with the EU specific adjustments envisaged under the preferred option would simplify the risk-based capital framework, notably by removing more complex internal models approaches to calculate capital requirements in for operational and CVA risks and by limiting the scope of internal models for credit risk. This would positively impact the recurring administrative and operational costs of EU banks (see Section 1 of Annex 6) and facilitate their supervision.

In relation to disclosure, this legislative initiative would introduce measures to reduce redundancies in respect of information reported to supervisors and disclosures to markets by centralising disclosures via a European data infrastructure based on supervisory reporting data. This would contribute to a reduction in the administrative burden of banks, in particular small ones.

8. HOW WILL ACTUAL IMPACTS BE MONITORED AND EVALUATED

The changes contained in this legislative initiative would start applying in 2025 and become fully applicable in 2030. After that date, an evaluation of the reform will be carried out in principle three years after the latter date.

The below *Table 9* presents some indicators that would help the Commission to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness and the appropriateness of the proposed preferred policy options to achieve the specific objectives mentioned in Section 4, based on the data/information available. The Commission will mostly use data/information from the European Supervisory Authorities (the EBA, the ESMA and the ESRB), the national supervisory authorities and the ECB/SSM, the BCBS, and other market data indicators to monitor and evaluate the impacts of the proposed preferred policy options.

Table 9: Summary of indicators to monitor and evaluate the impacts of the preferred policy options

Objectives	Indicators	Target	Source of
	EU hontro' marine d'antimiser	No gionificant in anno in 4	Information/data
Strengthen risk- based capital framework, in the context of the recovery from the COVID-19 crisis	EU banks revised minimum capital requirements and capital ratios under the preferred option for implementing the final Basel III reforms	No significant increase in the revised capital requirements over time Gradual increase in the revised capital ratios to comply with the revised requirements over time Banks more resilient to shocks in the future EU stress test exercise	EBA Basel III monitoring exercises EBA stress testing
	Variability metrics in risk weighted assets calculated by internal model approach for market and credit risks	Share of explained variability to increase from current level.	EBA benchmarking exercise reports on market and credit risk internal models
	Volume of exposures subject to standardised approaches, in particular those for which this legislative initiative introduces EU specific adjustments	No significant decrease in the share of key EU banks' activities compared to the total volume of banks' activities.	EBA/ECB/SSM reports
	EU banks' market valuations	No significant decrease in banks market valuations from current level	Market data providers
Incorporate sustainability risks in the prudential	Share of banks capturing ESG factors for risk management purposes	Increase in the share of banks capturing ESG factors for risk management purposes	EBA/ECB/SSM supervisory reports and public disclosure information
framework	Share of banks providing disclosure on ESG risks to stakeholders	Increase in the share of banks providing disclosure on ESG risks to stakeholders	EBA/ECB/SSM supervisory reports and public disclosure information EBA report about integration of ESG risks
Further harmonise supervisory	Number of material acquisitions of holdings by a bank to which the competent authority opposed	Limited number of opposition from competent authorities as institutions gives sufficient importance ex ante, when	EBA/ECB/SSM supervisory reports and public disclosure

powers and tools		assessing the opportunity of a material acquisition of holding, to the prudential concerns the	information
		operation could raise.	
	Number of material transfers of	Limited number of opposition	EBA/ECB/SSM
	assets and liabilities to which the	from competent authorities as	supervisory reports
	competent authority opposed	institutions gives sufficient	and public
		importance ex ante, when	disclosure
		assessing the opportunity of a	information
		material transfer of assets or	
		liabilities, to the prudential	
		concerns the operation could	
		raise.	
	Percentage of decisions related to	Limited number of opposition	EBA/ECB/SSM
	mergers or demergers to which	from competent authorities as	supervisory reports
	the competent authority opposed	institutions gives sufficient	and public
		importance ex ante, when	disclosure
		assessing the opportunity of a	information
		merger/demerger, to the	
		prudential concerns the	
		operation could raise.	
	Number of breaches effectively	Increase in the number of	EBA's central
	sanctioned and corresponding	breaches sanctioned by	database of
	sanctions	competent authorities that do	administrative
		not yet possess the new	penalties and
		sanctioning powers	EBA's lists of
			published sanctions
			ECB's list of
			published sanctions
	Number of fit-and-proper	Increase in share of ex-ante fit-	EBA/ECB/SSM
	assessments	and-proper assessments	reports on fit-and-
		performed by competent	proper assessments
		authorities	
		Reduction in assessments	
		taking longer than six months	
Reducing	Annual volume of visitors and	Gradual increase in visits to	EBA centralised
disclosure costs	downloads from the newly	and downloads from the	disclosure platform
and improving	centralised disclosure platform	platform within the first 5 years	reports
		of its introduction	
bank prudential			
information			



EUROPEAN COMMISSION

> Brussels, 27.10.2021 SWD(2021) 320 final

PART 2/4

COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT

IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT

Accompanying the documents

Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions as regards requirements for credit risk, credit valuation adjustment risk, operational risk, market risk and the output floor

Proposal for a DIRECTIVE OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Directive 2013/36/EU as regards supervisory powers, sanctions, third-country branches, environmental, social and governance risks, and amending Directive 2014/59/EU

{COM(2021) 663 final} - {SEC(2021) 380 final} - {SWD(2021) 321 final}

ANNEX 1: PROCEDURAL INFORMATION

1. LEAD DG, DECIDE PLANNING/CWP REFERENCES

This legislative proposal (CRR III/CRD VI) was prepared under the lead of DG FISMA in association with DG JUST. Within the Agenda Planning of the European Commission, the project is referred to under item 21. In the Adjusted Commission Work Programme for 2020, the Commission committed under the header "An Economy that Works for People" to review of the CRR and the CRD and adopt a legislative proposal by Q2 2020.

The Decide Planning references are:

• REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (Capital Requirements Regulation - CRR) as regards risk-based own funds requirements

PLAN/2019/5320

• DIRECTIVE OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Directive 2013/36/EU (Capital Requirements Directive - CRD) as regards risk management and review processes

PLAN/2019/5321

In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, the preparatory work has been delayed, reflecting the BCBS' decision of 26 March 2020 to postpone the previously agreed implementation deadlines for the final set of Basel III reforms by one year¹⁵⁴. This delay has allowed the Commission services to focus their attention on the response to the COVID-19 crisis. It has also allowed them to reassess the impact of the planned reforms in light of the potential consequences of the crisis.

2. ORGANISATION AND TIMING

DG FISMA work on this legislative proposal started in spring 2018 with the publication of the first public consultation requesting inputs from external stakeholders on the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform (see Annex 3).

An Inter-services Steering Group assisted DG FISMA in the preparation of this Impact Assessment report. The Steering Group was set up on 11 September 2019 and included colleagues from DG ECFIN, DG GROW, DG JUST, DG COMP, and DG TRADE.

Two additional Steering Group meetings were organised on 2 December 2019 (with colleagues from the same DGs as in the previous meeting) and on 23 January 2020 (with colleagues from the same DGs as in the previous meeting, as well as colleagues from the

¹⁵⁴ See https://www.bis.org/press/p200327.htm.

Legal Service). At each occasion, the members of the Steering Group were given the opportunity to provide comments in writing on the draft versions of the documents presented.

A final Steering Group meeting took place on 12 February 2021 (with colleagues from the same DGs as in the previous meeting, as well as colleagues from DG CLIMA and DG ENV) to discuss the revised text before its submission.

All the meetings were chaired by the Secretariat General.

The contributions of the members of the Steering Group have been taken into account in the content and shape of this impact assessment.

3. CONSULTATION OF THE RSB

A first version of the Impact Assessment report was submitted to the Regulatory Scrutiny Board (RSB) on 12 February 2020 and discussed during a physical meeting with the RSB on 4 March 2020. The RSB gave a negative opinion on 6 March 2020, pointing to several shortcomings in the report (see left column of *Table 1* for the list).

The Impact Assessment was modified to address the identified shortcomings (see right column of *Table 1* how they were addressed) and was re-submitted via written procedure to the RSB on 22 June 2021.

RSB comments about the first version of	How these comments have been
the IA	addressed in the present version of the IA
(1) The report should present a clear and non-technical narrative for the main issues at stake. It should present available evidence of current problems with the resilience of European banks and the banking system, and compare against other jurisdictions implementing Basel III. If relevant, it should differentiate between types of banks.	The narrative of this impact assessment has been clarified and simplified to highlight the main problems that this legislative initiative is addressing. In Section 2, four main problems have been identified and are now all included in the main body of the impact assessment for better readability. The different problems related to the outstanding deficiencies of the calculation of the risk-based capital requirements in the current prudential framework have been merged into one overall problem which will make it easier to present the implementation of the Basel III reforms as a global policy option to address this problem. In addition, more factual evidence has been provided to illustrate the problems.

Table 1: Summary of RSB comments in its 4 March 2020 opinion

	The context section now includes information on the state of play of implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform in other jurisdictions and provides more evidence on the current situation of EU banks. The specific impact on the competitiveness of EU banks (now Section 2 of Annex 6) has been improved to provide a comparison of the impacts of the final elements of the Basel III reform across EU banks, depending on different banks' profiles, but also between EU banks and their international peers.
(2) The narrative should also show the overall trade-offs involved in the decisions. This would help to clarify the key issues to non-expert policymakers and prioritise elements of the report, adding structure to the more technical analysis of components	The assessment of the different policy options in Section 6, as well as the summary of the assessment of the preferred policy options in Sections 7.1 to 7.3, offers a better understanding of the different trade-offs in the decision making process.
(3) The report should consolidate in one place all relevant policy objectives, some of which are now only referred to or hinted at later on in the report (e.g. relating to financing of the economy and sustainable finance). The definition of the objectives should allow a systematic analysis of the relevant trade-offs in the impacts sections.	All objectives, general and specific, are presented in one place, namely Section 4. They have been updated to take into account the COVID-19 crisis The links between the general and specific objectives as well as the identified problems have been clarified and presented graphically.
(4) The operational meaning of 'level playing field' and other specific objectives should be made clear, including what success would look like. The problem description might also clarify what the problems are that relate to an unlevel playing field. The report should explain to what extent and how the proposal will result in a level playing field in the EU in line with the objective and with other jurisdictions. The explanation should ideally be in terms that can later be tested against outcomes.	The notion of level playing field has been specified across all the sections and put into the appropriate context. Section 2 of Annex 6 offers a clearer analysis of the differences in the impact of the final elements of the Basel III reform could affect the internal (i.e. between EU banks) and external (i.e. between EU banks) and external (i.e. between EU banks) competitiveness of EU banks and how the preferred policy options would address the level playing field.
(5) While it is an important objective to contain administrative and compliance costs, it is less clear whether this is different from	The specific objective has been refined (focusing on banks' administrative costs related to public disclosures) to better

cost-effectiveness used to select the preferred option. The initiative would not appear to deliver significantly lower costs, and cost efficiency is in any case among the assessment criteria. The report should apply uniform definitions of cost-effectiveness and efficiency. The objective on legal clarity also requires better justification	correspond to the problem (of inefficiency in the disclosure of banks' prudential information) identified and to ensure they do not overlap with the assessment of the cost- effectiveness criteria to identify the preferred policy option.
(6) The report should present an intervention logic that describes the channels through which policy measures would contribute to better final outcomes. This would help to better structure the report around the relative importance of various measures and their impacts on different elements of the EU banking ecosystem. The logic should connect actions to specific objectives that relate clearly to the general objectives.	The link between the general and specific objectives has been clarified in Section 4. Sections 5 and 6 describe how the policy options connect to the specific objectives and deliver on them against the assessment criteria (effectiveness, efficiency, coherence), respectively.
(7) The report needs to be clearer on impacts that do not map onto the objectives. This includes the likely reactions from those banks, which will need to significantly raise capital. The report should explain the available means for them to do so (e.g. through retained profits, sale of equity, sale of assets, mergers) and the likely impacts of the different choices on the sector and on different Member State economies.	Section 6.1 clarifies the views of the EU banking sector on the different policy options to implement the final elements of the Basel III reform, the advantages/disadvantages of different approaches that EU banks can use to comply with an increase in capital requirements resulting from the reform, and their chance to succeed for each policy option. Section 2 of Annex 6 provides the impacts of the various elements of the reform, grouping banks by size, business model and Member State of establishment.
(8) Other relevant impacts to explore may include the impact on competitiveness of banks and sectoral consolidation. For example, different ways of calculating the output floor have direct impacts on large banks and indirect impacts on small banks. By contrast, changes to the standardised approach directly affect small banks. The impact on venture capital may also be worth exploring.	Section 2 of Annex 6 provides the impacts of the various elements of the Basel III reform, grouping banks by size, business model and Member State of establishment.
(9) The report should expand the analysis of the limits to supervisory powers in controlling banks' discretion in using	Sections 2.2.1., 2.2. and 5.1. better explain the current powers of supervisors to address the variability observed across EU banks
internal models to calculate capital requirements. Any reduction of discretionary authority of national and ECB banking supervisors needs to be presented transparently, including feedback from those supervisors regarding the proposed changes. The report should explain what the proposal would mean for the internal market and for the competitive situation between small and large banks, public banks, and large or complex banks whose failure would involve systemic risk. It should explain the reason for more pronounced impacts on banks in some Member States, and whether this is likely to affect these economies more broadly.	internal models, including the EU-wide initiatives conducted by the EBA and the ECB in that respect, and their limitations.Section 6.1. and Annex 2 provide the view of supervisors on the proposed changes.See also elements of replies to comments (4) and (8), for what concerns impacts on competitiveness and impacts on different types of banks, respectively.
---	--
(10) The report should thoroughly analyse the effect of the proposed measures on SMEs. It should assess the effects of the introduction of a higher risk weight for credits to unrated companies under the standard approach. This measure is likely to affect SMEs in particular as most SMEs are unrated and as they receive more credits from smaller banks that apply the standard approach to credit risk. If the analysis assumes that a substantial part of SMEs will use the transition period to obtain a credit rating, it should incorporate the cost of doing this. The possible positive effects of the SME supporting factor should also be developed.	Section 3 of Annex 6 on the specific impacts of this legislative initiative on lending to SMEs describes which policy options are specifically related to SMEs and how they would impact banks' financing of SMEs. Annex 1 provides further explanation, on top of Section 3 of Annex 6, on the EU specific adjustments proposed in the preferred policy options to mitigate the impact of the reform on banks' lending to SMEs, including the treatment of unrated corporates and the existing SME supporting factor.
(11) The report should better justify why it proposes to maintain the existing supporting factors for SMEs and for infrastructure investment. It should integrate stakeholder views, including the recommendation of the EBA to abandon these supporting factors. The performance of the existing supporting factors should be at the basis for the proposed introduction of a new green supporting factor. The report should bring more convincing evidence that the two types of exposure that would benefit from it have unique features that justify their preferential	Further justification has been provided for the decisions involving the different supporting factors.

treatment.	
(12) The impact assessment should be more transparent about data and model limitations. For example, inferences from the EBA sample of banks on the sector as a whole may be more reliable for large banks than for small ones. Estimates of the negative impact on growth in the short and medium term are more robust than estimates of long-term benefits that are based on decreased risk of full-blown banking crises over longer time horizons. The report appears to overplay analytical support for the hypothesis that 'green' investments are relatively lower risk, and that lower capital requirements on certain loan types are an effective way to stimulate more lending. The report should discuss the EBA calculations' robustness and relevance for assessing the impacts of the preferred options, given the modifications introduced after the calculations.	Section 6.1 and Annex 7 better explain how to interpret the estimated impacts from the EBA and ECB respective analysis. Annex 5 provides more details about the sample used in the EBA and ECB analysis and the limitations of their methodologies. The analysis related to environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks and the corresponding policy choices have been updated.
(13) Some options need further clarification or explanation why they have been discarded. For instance, the report should better explain why supervisory bodies cannot be strengthened and why this option has been discarded. This holds in particular for the ECB, which is responsible for supervision of the larger banks and should have the capacity to assess and control banks' use of internal models to assess portfolio risks. On credit valuation adjustment risks, the justification for discarding the option of postponing the introduction of a revised framework until BCBS has finalised its ongoing review should be strengthened.	In Section 6, the assessment of the pros/cons of each policy option to address the problem it aims to address identified has been improved, as well as the system to score those options. These clarifications allows the reader to understand our choice of preferred policy options and why the other policy options have been discarded.

4. EVIDENCE, SOURCES AND QUALITY

A number of inputs and sources of data were used in the preparation of this impact assessment, including the following:

- advices from the EBA, delivered to the Commission in August and December 2019 and December 2020, and other reports of the EBA referred to in footnotes to this impact assessment;
- information supplied in the context of the public consultation described in Annex 2;
- publications of the ECB, the ESRB, the FSB and the BCBS referred to in footnotes to this impact assessment;
- newspaper articles, scientific journal articles, and other sources referred to in footnotes to this impact assessment.

The vast majority of the data underpinning the quantitative analysis contained in this impact assessment was provided by banks. Given that the data used in the EBA, ECB and BCBS analyses underwent quality checks by those organisations, the data quality can be considered reasonably good. Nevertheless, the figures provided by banks are (more or less accurate) estimates based on assumptions made by banks. As such, they need to be interpreted with caution.

ANNEX 2: STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION

1. Public consultation

As part of the implementation process of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU, the Commission services gathered stakeholders' views on specific topics in the areas of credit risk, operational risk, market risk, CVA risk, securities financing transactions as well as in relation to the output floor.

Beyond these topics related to the Basel III implementation, the Commission services have also consulted on certain other subjects with a view to ensuring convergent and consistent supervisory practices across the Union and alleviating the administrative burden.

The public consultation carried out between October 2019 and early January 2020¹⁵⁵ had been preceded by a first exploratory consultation conducted in spring 2018¹⁵⁶, seeking first views of a targeted group of stakeholders on the international agreement. The results of the two consultations have fed into the preparation of the legislative initiative accompanying this impact assessment.

Stakeholder groups

There were 119 responses to the public consultation. As illustrated by

¹⁵⁵ See <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/12015-Alignment-EU-rules-on-capital-requirements-to-international-standards-prudential-requirements-and-market-discipline-/public-consultation_en.</u>

¹⁵⁶ See <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/consultations/finance-2018-basel-3-finalisation_en</u>

Figure **1** and *Figure* **2**, most responses came from the financial industry (i.e. individual banks, banking associations and) and half of them came from respondents established in three Member States (Belgium, Germany, France and the United Kingdom).

<u>Results</u>

Stakeholders overall agreed on the necessity to complete the implementation of the Basel III framework in the EU. While the financial industry called for several adjustments and additional transition periods, supervisors and public authorities took a more conservative approach and preferred an implementation of the remaining reforms closer to the international standards.



Figure 1: Nature of respondents to the public consultation

Source: Commission, DG FISMA



Figure 2: Country of origin of respondents to the public consultation

Source: Commission, DG FISMA

The feedback received on the individual elements of the reforms can be summarised as follows:

- Regarding the **output floor** the financial industry asked to limit the scope to the requirements explicitly listed in the corresponding Basel standard by applying it as a "parallel stack" and at consolidated level only. In contrast, a majority of supervisors were in favour of a "single stack" implementation of the output floor at all levels of consolidation.
- As regards the treatment of **unrated corporates** in the credit risk framework, supervisors and the financial industry have expressed different views. Industry advocated for a so-called "hybrid approach" while supervisors prefer to implement

the Basel standard. Views were divided among supervisors on the option to remove the SME supporting factor from the risk framework, while the financial industry was in favour to keep it.

- On **specialised lending**, views were mixed between Member States and supervisors. Some showed openness to introduce more granularity in particular with regards to object finance than it is envisaged under the final Basel III standards. This approach was supported by the financial industry.
- Supervisors and the industry also expressed different views on the **treatment of** equity exposures. Supervisors preferred to apply the Basel treatment without modifications while the industry and some Member States argued for a more granular treatment for long-term equity holdings in unlisted entities, and notably a more favourable treatment for intragroup and IPS exposures.
- There was consensus among Member States and supervisors in favour of the continuation of the "loan splitting approach" (instead of implementing the "whole loan approach") for **real estate exposures**. The financial industry preferred to provide flexibility for banks to choose its approach. Industry's plea to continue allowing for the upward revaluation of property values after origination found some (conditional) support with Member States and supervisors.
- Several stakeholders from industry were in favour of not fully applying the **new** constraints for the use of internal models for credit risk. This option found only little support from Member States and supervisors.
- The industry favoured a delay in the implementation of minimum haircut floors for **securities financing transactions**, or, as a second best, an implementation via market regulation. Member States and supervisors were mostly silent on the issue.
- Member States and supervisors were largely in favour of taking historical losses into account to compute large banks' capital requirements for **operational risk**, while the majority of stakeholders in the financial industry favour neutralising the impact of past losses or taking them into account only when they have a beneficial impact.
- The consultation showed no opposition against the implementation of the simplified standardised approach for market risk in line with the Basel calibration. Also, the financial industry unanimously supported the need for more **flexibility in the treatment of CIUs** while Member States and supervisors were mostly silent on the issue.
- Industry and supervisors were in favour of delaying the implementation of the **CVA risk** rules until the Basel standard is finalised. The industry unanimously favours keeping the existing exemptions. MS and supervisors are split on this issue.

Apart from questions on the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU, the consultation included some questions regarding supervisory reporting and public disclosure as well as the fit-and-proper assessment.

Views are all in all cautiously positive on the initiative to centralise **supervisory reporting and public disclosure**. A majority of industry players supported the approach but raised some doubts as to the size of the potential reduction in their administrative costs. Supervisors pointed to the need to address concerns about wrong expectations that the EBA would be responsible for the quality of the information disclosed by banks.

The views of Member States and supervisors on potential changes to the **fit-and-proper assessment framework** were largely correlated with their current practices. Doubts regarding the need for changes were mainly expressed by those Member States that currently do not assess key function holders and/or assess members of the management body after their appointment, while others were more supportive. Similarly, industry representatives in Member States applying only ex-post assessments were particularly concerned about potential difficulties in terms of administrative procedure and burden that could arise under an-ex ante system. Those industry representatives that already had experience with ex-ante assessments of members of the management body and of key function holders and/or with accountability regimes, generally reported a positive impact in terms of reducing risks for the sector and creating a level playing field.

2. Public conference

On 12 November 2019, DG FISMA held a public conference to discuss the impact and challenges of implementing the finalised Basel III standards in the EU.

More than 500 representatives of public authorities (Members of the European Parliament, Member State governments, bank supervisors and international organisations), the financial industry, non-financial companies, think tanks and non-governmental organisations physically attended the conference and 618 additional representatives watched the discussions online on that day.

The conference was comprised of three keynote speeches, delivered by staff of the European Commission, the chair of the EBA and the chair of the Single Supervisory Mechanism, as well as four panel discussions¹⁵⁷: "Basel III in a global context", "The impacts of Basel III on the EU economy", "A proportionate implementation of Basel III" and "Basel III – are we done now?".

Panel discussions took place on Basel III implementation in a global context, on its impact on the European economy as well as in view of proportionality. Panel discussions included also a regulatory outlook beyond the Basel reforms, chaired by officials of the European Commission, members of the European Parliament (ECON chair) and representatives of the Council (Financial Services Committee chair).

3. Ongoing exchanges with stakeholders

Since 2018 the Commission services have repeatedly consulted Member States on the EU implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform and other possible revisions of the CRR and the CRD in the context of the Commission Expert Group for Banking, Payment and Insurance (EGBPI).

During the preparatory phase of the legislation, the Commission services have also held hundreds of meetings (physical and virtual) with representatives of the banking industry as well as other stakeholders.

ANNEX 3: WHO IS AFFECTED AND HOW?

The purpose of this Annex is to set out the practical implications for stakeholders affected by this initiative, mainly banks, governments at the national and European level and the general public (namely companies and consumers acting as borrowers). The initiative aims to achieve the following objectives:

- Objective 1: strengthen the risk-based capital framework, without incurring in a significant increase of capital requirements;
- Objective 2: enhance the focus on Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") risks in the prudential framework;
- Objective 3: further harmonise supervisory powers and tools;
- Objective 4: reduce administrative costs related to public disclosures and improve access to banking prudential data.

In order to "**strengthen the risk-based capital framework, without incurring a significant increase of capital requirements**" (objective 1), the preferred option would implement the final elements of the Basel III reform in Union law, subject to a set of adjustments. The proposed adjustments are intended to prevent an undue disruption of banks' lending capacity during the (expected) post-COVID 19 pandemic phase.

The aim of the Basel III reform is to make banks more resilient and restore confidence in the banking system in response to the GCF. A more robust banking system has significant long-term benefits for the economy of the Union as a whole. Better capitalised banks will be more capable of withstanding future financial shocks and continue lending through economic downturns, which is likely to make those future downturns shorter in length and less severe. Hence, achieving the purpose of better capturing risks sought by the Basel III reform will directly benefit banks and, indirectly, all other stakeholders concerned. For instance, bank bail-outs and the recourse to governments to fund them in the event of a crisis can be expected to be less likely. At the same time, a steadier flow of credit may reduce the likelihood of failure for borrowers (namely businesses and households) that rely on bank lending as an essential source of funding.

Objective 1 will be achieved by various amendments to the current prudential framework contained in the CRR):

- a) *standardised approach for credit risk*: changes to the regulatory capital treatment of rated exposures to banks, exposures to corporates, real estate exposures, retail exposures, subordinated debt and equity and off-balance sheet items;
- b) *internal ratings-based approach (IRBA) for credit risk*: the use of internal models is either limited or precluded for certain portfolios that cannot be reliably modelled. Where models may be used, their parameters become subject to certain minimum values ("input floors");

- c) *market risk (FRTB)*: the current reporting requirements based on the FRTB are transformed into substantive capital requirements;
- d) *credit valuation adjustment (CVA)*: the use of internal models for CVA is precluded and replaced by a revised standardised approach;
- e) *operational risk*: the use of internal models is precluded and replaced by a single new standardised approach;
- f) *output floor*: capital requirements that result from a bank's internal models are floored at 72.5% of the requirements that would result from applying the corresponding standardised approaches.

The net effect of these changes in the CRR is an overall increase of regulatory capital requirements on banks. The effect mainly depends on the magnitude of the use of internal models, insofar as banks may be impacted by the output floor and/or become subject to the corresponding (normally more conservative) standardised approach or relevant regulatory input. As estimates show (see Section 6.1), the unfettered implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform would lead to an average increase of 18.5% in banks' capital requirements by the end implementation date (January 2028). The implementation would be phased in during a five-year period and the increase of capital requirements at the start of that period (January 2023) would be 11.8% on average. The impact on regulatory capital, at both the end and start dates of the standards' implementation, would be significant and have considerable potential to reduce bank lending in the short term¹⁵⁸. This would be particularly undesirable in the context of a post-Covid scenario when lending will be needed to fund the economic recovery.

In order to address this concern, it is suggested to mitigate the proposal's impact through a set of substantive adjustments to the standards, namely:

- a) **provisions to cater for the "specificities" of the EU banking sector and its economy**: these provisions would adjust the Basel III standards to the distinctive features of the EU banking sector. In particular they aim at maintaining the flow of lending to EU businesses in general, and SMEs in particular. These include:
 - *maintaining certain existing preferential treatments and exemptions for key exposures* the "SME supporting factor" and the "infrastructure supporting factor", which lower capital requirements for these exposures compared to the corresponding Basel III standards, or the exemption for derivative transactions with certain qualifying parties from the CVA requirements;
 - providing a transitional period for the implementation of the OF in relation to lending to unrated corporates Basel III standards increase capital requirements on lending to unrated borrowers. However, most corporates in

¹⁵⁸ Faced with higher capital requirements, banks may choose to raise new capital to increase their ratios and/or reduce their exposures (i.e. reduce lending) to meet the new requirements.

the EU (namely SMEs) are currently unrated. During the proposed transitional period and while solutions aimed at increasing the coverage of external ratings are rolled out, lending to unrated corporates by banks using the IRBA would be subject to a more favourable treatment than the one provided for in the standards (i.e. a lower risk weight under the OF);

- maintaining the existing treatment for certain types of equity exposures –the treatment of banks' strategic holdings of equity issued by entities within the same banking group or covered by the same IPS would be left unchanged, and existing strategic participations in non-financial companies where banks exercise influence would be grandfathered. Hence, these particular equity exposures would remain subject to the capital requirements currently applicable under the CRR and, thus, exempted from the higher capital requirements on equity exposures that will result from implementing the Basel III standards;
- providing an ad hoc preferential treatment for certain exposure types under the new market risk rules - these comprise exposures to collective investment undertakings and financial products based on EU emission trading schemes; and
- postponing the implementation of the FSB's recommendation of a minimum haircut floor for non-centrally cleared SFTs, awaiting a joint report on the matter by the EBA and ESMA;
- b) the application of certain discretions contained in the Basel III standards:
 - apply the OF on the consolidated level of a banking group taking into account all the risk-based capital requirements contained in EU law and require the relevant authority to adjust the individual bank's Pillar 2 requirement (P2R) or the systemic risk buffer (SyRB) in case double-counting of risks already covered by the OF would be detected;
 - set the Internal Loss Multiplier ("ILM") at 1 as part of implementing the new standardised approach for operational risk. The calculation of capital requirements for operational risks of EU banks would, thus, be based on their Business Indicator Component ("BIC"), which takes into account the main elements of a bank's income and expenses. However, the banks' historical operational losses would be disregarded for these purposes, which would significantly mitigate the impact of the new approach for calculating the capital requirements for operational risk.
- c) safeguards related to banks' trading activities: in order to preserve the international playing field for EU banks, the Commission would be empowered to delay the entry into force of the capital requirements based on the FRTB and/or to make certain adjustments to the framework. The Commission's decision should, for instance,

consider whether major jurisdictions failed to implement the FRTB. Similarly, it is suggested to temporarily lower the calibration of the current standardised approach for counterparty credit risk ("SA-CCR") for all derivatives for the purpose of calculating the OF, taking into account international developments in this field (for instance, one major jurisdiction has lowered the calibration of the SA-CCR for certain derivative exposures). This would afford extra time to discuss the calibration of the SA-CCR at international level;

d) **a delayed phase-in period** for the new rules, relative to the phase-in period envisaged in the Basel III standards (from January 2023 to January 2028), as further explained below.

The adjustments to the Basel III standards referred to in points (a) to (c) would significantly lower the expected increase in banks' capital requirements that results from implementing the Basel III standards. Capital requirements would go up on average between +0.7% to +2.7% at the start of the phase-in period (in contrast to the 11.8% increase without the adjustments), and between +6.4% and +8.4% at the end of the phase-in period (in contrast to the 18.5% increase without the adjustments). In this modified scenario, bank lending would not be impeded and the prudential benefit of the reform would be preserved.

While the quantitative impact at the beginning of the phase-in period may be moderate per se, the market may exert pressure on EU banks to start building up capital from early on to anticipate future capital requirements. This may coincide with the recovery phase from the COVID-19 crisis and have short term negative effects on bank lending and the wider economy. Accordingly, it is suggested as part of the preferred policy option for Objective 1, that the phase-in period of the new standards' implementation in the EU would be delayed by two years. The starting date of the phase-in period would be January 2025 (instead of January 2023 under the Basel III scenario) and the new standards would only be fully effective from January 2030 (instead of January 2028). This additional two-year period would give banks enough time to start building up capital without compromising their short-term lending ability. At the same time, the completion of the bank reforms, albeit delayed, would give all market players certainty about the final shape of the regulatory landscape.

Objective 2 of the proposal is to "enhance the focus on ESG risks in the prudential framework". This objective seeks to address, among others, the emerging risks that climate change and the resulting economic transformations pose to banks, primarily in the form of transition risk. The transition to a sustainable economy may lead to substantial shifts in the value of assets. At the same time, more frequent and /or more severe weather events will present new physical risks.

As explained in Section 6.2, the preferred policy option would introduce in the CRD a general requirement for banks to manage their ESG risks. At the same time, competent authorities would have to supervise compliance with that requirement as part of the supervisory and review assessment process. In addition, the CRR's requirement to disclose ESG risks related information would be extended beyond large banks. This means that, at this

stage, banks would be subject to behavioural obligations in relation to ESG risks (that is, management, governance and disclosure) as opposed to a pre-determined minimum amount of capital to cover unexpected losses arising from those risks within the framework (i.e. no Pillar 1 capital requirements). The introduction of ESG-targeted Pillar 1 capital requirement could be decided at a later stage, following the publication of an EBA Report providing quantitative evidence on the appropriate treatment of ESG risks under Pillar 1.

The above-described policy option presents a number of benefits for all stakeholders concerned without imposing significant costs on banks in the short term. Under the preferred approach, banks would be obliged to adapt their risk management systems and incorporate the ESG dimension before Pillar 1 requirements are introduced. As a consequence, they would be better prepared once Pillar 1 requirements are introduced The prudential framework's better capturing of ESG risks would also have positive effects for governments and the general public as banks would be less exposed to shocks that may result from transition and physical risks and be more likely to continue lending to the economy under these circumstances. The proposal would also contribute to the general public policies by facilitating a smooth transition towards a more sustainable economy.

By contrast, the costs associated with this policy option would be relatively contained and limited to administrative costs that banks would incur to adapt their risk management, governance and disclosure policies. Such costs should not materially affect banks' lending capacity.

Objective 3 of the proposal is to "further harmonise supervisory powers and tools of banking competent authorities". In order to achieve this objective, it is suggested to make various amendments to the CRD to harmonise the supervisory and sanctioning powers of those authorities as follows:

- a) introduce ex-ante notification requirements for banks on "material" events with prudential relevance, namely acquisitions of holdings, transfers of assets and liabilities and mergers and demergers;
- b) enhance the disciplinary framework whereby the list of breaches for which competent authorities would have explicit powers to impose sanctions would be expanded;
- c) introduce harmonised requirements on the assessment of the fitness and propriety of members of banks' management boards and key function holders before taking up their positions.

The preferred policy option would ensure a more consistent application of the prudential framework across the EU in general, and within the Banking Union in particular, than currently the case. Enhanced consistency in regulatory and supervisory processes and outcomes would be beneficial for all stakeholders concerned, namely banks that would be able to operate across much more harmonised legal frameworks within the EU. This would reduce the compliance costs that currently arise from the need to deal with diverse and potentially inconsistent requirements. While some banks may initially incur some costs to

meet the new requirements (in particular if the national rules they are currently applicable are less stringent than those under the preferred policy option), it is not expected that those costs would be significant enough to offset the preferred policy option's benefit. It should be noted, in particular, that the most impactful set of amendments, i.e. those referred to in point (a), would be subject to a materiality threshold.

The preferred policy option would also assist competent authorities to discharge their legal duties in a more effective manner than they currently do, as they all would have access to the same full set of supervisory powers (which some competent authorities currently lack) and a more harmonised supervisory framework would mitigate the risk of regulatory arbitrage or the existence of loopholes that banks could potentially exploit. This would, in turn, contribute to fostering the general public's confidence in the EU system of banking supervision.

Lastly, Objective 4 aims at "**reducing administrative costs related to public disclosures and improve access to banking prudential information**". It would be achieved through the creation of a single electronic access to EU banks' quantitative information that the EBA would source from its EUCLID platform (which will be fed through the existing periodic reporting made by banks), and qualitative information that the EBA would source from banks (see Section 5.2.4).

The preferred option would eliminate disclosure costs for small and non-complex banks, which are only required to disclose quantitative data. For all the other banks, the preferred option would entail neither additional costs nor cost savings.

For other stakeholders, namely market participants who are users of information disclosed by banks, this proposal would bring about material benefits in the form of greater market transparency and lower costs to search for and to access prudential data.

$Objective \ 1-Strengthen \ the \ risk-based \ capital \ framework \ for \ credit \ institutions$

Preferred Option – Implement Basel III reforms with EU-specific adjustments and transitional arrangements adapted to the COVID-19 crisis

I. Overview of Benefits (total for all provisions) – Preferred Option						
Description	Amount	Comments				
	Direct benefits					
Implement in EU law the set of reforms to the risk-based capital framework for banks agreed at international level (the Basel III framework or Basel III standards)	 The revisions to the standardised approach for credit risk (SA-CR) will improve the robustness and risk sensitivity of the existing approach; The revisions to the IRB approaches for credit risk will reduce unwarranted variability in banks' calculations of RWAs; The minimum haircut floors for noncentrally cleared securities SFTs will limit the pro-cyclicality of these transactions and the build-up of excessive leverage in the financial system; The revisions to the CVA risk framework as well as revisions to the standardised approach for CVA (SA-CVA) will enhance the risk sensitivity, strengthen the robustness and improve the consistency of the framework; The new standardised approach for operational risk (SA-OR) will simplify the framework and increase comparability; and The output floor (OF) will limit the unwarranted variability in the regulatory capital requirements produced by internal models and the excessive reduction in capital that a bank using internal models can derive relative to a bank using the revised standardised approaches. 	 These enhancements of the prudential standards will make banks more resilient and restore confidence in the banking system and, thus, make the financial system more stable as a whole. Better capitalised banks will be less likely to fail as a result of financial crisis and more able to continue lending through economic downturns. A steadier flow of credit to the economy will reduce the likelihood of borrowers failing due to a shortage of bank funding. Bank bail-outs and the recourse on governments to fund them can be expected to be less likely in future financial crisis. Economic crisis following future financial crisis (and the political instability and social hardship caused by those) can be expected to last less and be less severe. 				
Adjust to the Basel III revisions to take into account the specific features of the EU banking system	- The proposed adjustments will more than halve the average Basel III standards- induced capital increase from 18.5% to between 6.4% and 8.4% by the end of the phase in period.	 The adjustments are designed to cater for the distinctive features of the EU banking system and economy, namely the significant reliance by SMEs in bank lending as key source of funding. The reduced impact on capital requirements should be regarded as a 				

		 proportionate measure that adequately balance the primary objective of enhancing the banking prudential framework while maintaining a sufficient flow of bank lending to the EU economy. Hence, the proposed adjustments do not compromise the overall purpose or negate the stated benefits of the Basel III reform. 			
Delay the starting date of application of the new rules by two years. Starting date would, thus, be set on 1 January 2025 with a 5-year transition period.	 No impact on banks' capital requirements until 1 January 2025. Full impact on capital requirements delayed to January 2030. 	 The suggested delay of the phase-in period would prevent material disruption of bank lending in the short-term. Hence, banks' flow of lending would not be materially affected during the economic recovery phase that is expected for following the current COVID 19 pandemic crisis. 			
Indirect benefits					
- Implementing the Basel III reforms would meet the EU international commitments and help improve the					
confidence in European banks across international markets.					

II. Overview of costs – Preferred option							
	Citizens/Consumers/non- financial corporates		Ba	anks	Administrations (including competent authorities)		
	One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurrent	
Direct costs			Costs to adapt banks' systems to incorporate the changes made to the prudential framework	Increased cost of capital for exposures that would be subject to higher capital requirements compared to the current rules	Costs to adapt current supervisory practices and processes to the new standards	Costsforrunningthenewrunceprocedureson(dependingonmagnitudeofchangecomparedcomparedtocurrentprocedures)	
Indirect costs		Increase in the costs for bank loans/financial products which are subject to higher capital requirements compared to the current rules (depending on the size of the increase in the capital requirements for					

OBJECTIVE 2 – INCORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY RISKS IN THE PRUDENTIAL FRAMEWORK.

Preferred Option – Introduce measures for a better management of environmental risks by banks

I. Overview of Benefits (total for all provisions) – Preferred Option					
Description	Amount	Comments			
	Direct benefits				
Requirements for banks to manage ESG risks	- Banks would integrate ESG factors in day- to-day decision-making.	 ESG-targeted risk management provisions will contribute to a more robust and resilient banking system in the face of transition and 			
Reinforced supervisory powers over ESG risks	- Improved supervisory monitoring of individual banks' exposures to ESG risks.	- A more resilient banking system			
Ad hoc disclosures of ESG risks by banks	 Enhanced market discipline. Stakeholders concerned about ESG risks and/or ESG-related externalities may incentivise credit institutions to better manage ESG risks and take externalities of their actions into account. 	will, in turn, help to reinforce overall financial stability in the EU.			
Indirect benefits					
Better availability of finance for sustainable exposures	- To the extent that sustainable activities may be less risky than non-sustainable activities, this difference may be better reflected in banks' credit decision-granting and, as a result, lead to an increase in the availability of finance for sustainable activities.	- Increased bank funding of sustainable activities would help the EU reach the target of the EGD.			

II. Overview of costs – Preferred option							
		Citizens/Consumers/non- financial corporates		Banks		Administrations (including competent authorities)	
		One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurre nt
Reinforced requirements for banks to manage ESG risks	Direct costs			Cost of adjusting risk management systems and processes to the new requirement.			
	Indirect costs		Cost of providing				

		additional information to banks.				
Reinforced supervisory powers for ESG risks	Direct costs				Cost of setting up new supervisory processes and systems.	Costs of runnin g the new proces ses and system s.
	Indirect costs					
Reinforced disclosure of FSC ricks	Direct costs		Changes to systems to accommodat e new disclosure templates.	Costs of preparing the new information for disclosure.		
by banks	Indirect costs	Cost of providing additional information to banks.				

OBJECTIVE 3 – FURTHER HARMONISE SUPERVISORY POWERS AND TOOLS

Preferred Option – harmonise the supervisory powers and tools of banking competent authorities to the greatest possible degree between two available options

I. Overview of Benefits (total for all provisions) – Preferred Option					
Description	Amount	Comments			
	Direct benefits				
 Harmonise the supervisory powers of banking competent authorities to the greatest possible degree between two available options in relation to: (i) ex ante notifications of events of prudential relevance; (ii) assessment of board members and significant function holders (iii) sanctions and penalties 	 A more consistent application of the banking prudential framework across the EU in general, and within the Banking Union in particular. Less scope for regulatory arbitrage and loopholes that limit the effective and consistent application of the prudential framework across the EU. Reduced compliance costs for banks, as they will be able to operate across similar legal frameworks within the EU. 	- More effective and consistent application of sanctions may contribute to fostering confidence in the EU system of banking supervision and reduce the incidence of rules breaches in the future.			
Indirect benefits					
-					

II. Overview of costs – Preferred option							
	Citizens/Consumers/non-financial corporates		Banks		Administrations (including competent authorities)		
	One-off Recurrent		One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurrent	
Direct costs				Administrative costs to adjust internal processes to meet new requirements.	Administrative costs to comply with new ex ante notification and assessment requirements. Scope limited to "material" events for ex ante notifications.	Costs to change current supervisory procedures or to set up new procedures to meet the new requirements.	Costs to deal on an on-going basis with new ex ante notificatio n and assessment requiremen ts.
Indirect costs							

OBJECTIVE 4 – REDUCE ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS RELATED TO PUBLIC DISCLOSURES AND IMPROVE ACCESS TO BANKING PRUDENTIAL DATA

Preferred Option – centralise the disclosure of both quantitative and qualitative prudential banking disclosures

I. Overview of Benefits (total for all provisions) – Preferred Option						
Description	Amount	Comments				
	Direct benefits					
EBA to disclose on a single on-line platform the prudential data and information of all EU credit institutions.	- The suggested centralised provision of prudential data and information will significantly improve market transparency and the comparability of that information, and will reduce the costs for market participants to access information that is currently scattered.	- Enhanced transparency would result in more effective and efficient market discipline of banks.				
	- Reduced information costs.					
Small and non- complex credit institutions exempted from the obligation to disclose prudential information (replaced by EBA disclosures)	- Costs of disclosure reduced to zero.					
Indirect benefits						
-						

II. Overview of costs – Preferred option									
		Citizens/Consumers/non- financial corporates		Credit institutions		Administrations (including competent authorities)			
		One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurrent	One-off	Recurrent		
	Direct costs					EBA to incur costs to build up the systems, processes and get the necessary resources to provide the centralised disclosures.	There will be increased on-going costs for the EBA to maintain and operate the disclosure platform.		

ANNEX 4: EVALUATION

As described in Section 1, this prudential framework applicable to banks in the EU has been significantly revised through two waves of reforms to address a number of issues observed following the GFC: the first wave of reforms, introduced by the CRR and the CRD IV, was adopted in June 2013 and the second wave, introduced by CRR II and CRD V, was adopted in May 2019.

This new legislative initiative aims to complement and finalise the above reforms with the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform adopted by the Basel Committee in December 2017. The initiative addresses the outstanding deficiencies in the prudential framework that have not been addressed by the previous rounds of reforms.

The vast majority of the changes proposed in this legislative initiative stem from changes to the international standards developed by the BCBS. The latter changes were adopted to address the deficiencies that the BCBS identified when it carried out an evaluation of the existing international standards. A number of supervisory initiatives performed at EU level, notably the EBA benchmarking exercises (see Section 5.1), the EBA work on IRB repair and the ECB TRIM exercise (see Section 5.1), confirmed the findings of the BCBS.

Given the reliability of the abovementioned evaluations, the Commission decided to rely on their findings instead of carrying out its own evaluation.



EUROPEAN COMMISSION

> Brussels, 27.10.2021 SWD(2021) 320 final

PART 3/4

COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT

IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT

Accompanying the documents

Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions as regards requirements for credit risk, credit valuation adjustment risk, operational risk, market risk and the output floor

Proposal for a DIRECTIVE OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Directive 2013/36/EU as regards supervisory powers, sanctions, third-country branches, environmental, social and governance risks, and amending Directive 2014/59/EU

{COM(2021) 663 final} - {SEC(2021) 380 final} - {SWD(2021) 321 final}

ANNEX 5: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT POLICY OPTIONS

1. IMPROVE THE CURRENT FRAMEWORK FOR CALCULATING RISK-BASED CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

1.1. Credit risk framework – Standardised approach

General background

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from a borrower's failure to repay a loan or meet contractual obligations on a debt ("default"). It accounts for the bulk of most banks' risk-taking activities and hence the bulk of their capital requirements.

The standardised approach for credit risk (SA-CR) is used by the majority of banks across the EU to calculate the capital requirements for the majority of their credit risk exposures, even though the majority of total EU banks' credit risk exposures – which are held by a relatively low number of large institutions – are treated under internal model approaches. The SA-CR is thus highly important in its own right. In addition, the SA-CR must serve as a credible alternative to internal model approaches and as effective backstop to them. The SA-CR's importance is further increased under the final elements of Basel III reform, due to (i) the reduction of the scope of application of internal models approaches and (ii) the introduction of the OF.

During its review of the functioning of standardised approaches, the BCBS found the current SA-CR to be insufficiently risk-sensitive in a number of areas, leading sometimes to inaccurate or inappropriate measurement of credit risk (either too high or too low) and hence of capital requirements.¹⁵⁹ These problems put into question the SA-CR's role as approach for measuring credit risk, including as an alternative for and a backstop to internal model approaches. Existing supervisory or macro-prudential tools could be used to partly address these problems, but neither are well-suited for the purpose.

One of the final elements of the Basel III reform therefore aimed to increase the risk sensitivity of this approach. To achieve this, the Basel Committee agreed to change the SA-CR in relation to several key aspects. These changes, if implemented in the EU, could be particularly impactful in the following key areas (due to e.g. the amount of exposures potentially affected, the nature of the changes or EU specificities):

- exposures to unrated corporates, including SMEs;
- exposures to project finance, object finance and commodities finance (specialised lending);
- equity exposures; and
- exposures secured by real estate (both residential and commercial).

¹⁵⁹ See BCBS, Revisions to the Standardised Approach for credit risk – Consultation Paper, December 2014, <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d307.pdf</u>.

As outlined in Section 6.1., the preferred option is a revision of the SA-CR in line with the Basel III standard, subject to some adjustments. The subsections below discuss each of the aforementioned key areas and assess which adjustments are necessary in each case.

1.1.1. Unrated Corporates

Problem definition

Given the aforementioned shortcomings of the existing SA-CR, the new Basel III standard sets out a modified treatment of corporate exposures under the SA-CR. These modifications make the framework more risk-sensitive and take better account of the specificities of exposures to SMEs and investment grade corporates.

The Basel III standards contain two different approaches to calculate RWs of corporate exposures under the SA-CR. The first can be used in jurisdictions that allow the use of external ratings (the external credit risk assessment approach, or "ECRA"), while the alternative one can be used in jurisdictions that do not allow the use of external ratings (the standardised credit risk assessment approach, or "SCRA"). The ECRA reflects credit risk in banks' capital requirements better than the SCRA as it allows for a more granular set of RWs.

Under the ECRA, corporate exposures are assigned a RW between 20% and 150% depending on their external rating¹⁶⁰. However, exposures to corporates that do not have such external ratings ("unrated corporates") receive a RW of 100%, with the exception of corporate SMEs (RW of 85%) and retail SMEs (RW of 75%).¹⁶¹ The ECRA is consistent with the way in which standardised RWs are currently assigned in the EU; its improved risk-sensitivity would lead to a slight decrease in RWAs for highly-rated corporates whilst the impact on the majority of SA banks' exposures would be marginal.

However, an unintended indirect consequence of the application of the ECRA may arise in the EU as a result of the introduction of the OF combined with the fact that the vast majority of EU corporates is not externally rated. Those corporates are currently being predominantly financed by IRBA banks, and the internal models of those banks produce significantly lower RWs for exposures to many of those corporates compared to the 100% RW applicable under ECRA (and the current version of the SA-CR). Once those banks would be required to apply the ECRA for the purposes of calculating the OF, there would be a material increase in capital requirements for those exposures.

In this context, it should be noted that the CRR provides for a preferential treatment for exposures to SMEs: the RW of an exposure to a SME is multiplied by the so-called "SME

¹⁶⁰ The higher the credit rating, the lower the likelihood that the obligor will default, and hence the lower the risk weight assigned to an exposure to that obligor. There is also a separate risk weight for exposures that do not have an external rating.

¹⁶¹ By contrast, under the SCRA banks have to assign a 100% RW to all corporate exposures, except if the corporate is identified as "investment grade" (RW of 65%), SME (RW of 85%) or retail SME (RW of 75%). In order to qualify as investment grade, amongst others, corporate counterparties or their parent companies must have securities listed on a recognised exchange.

supporting factor" of 0.7619 for exposures up to EUR 2.5 million. For the remaining part of an exposure exceeding that threshold, a RW of 85% applies, in accordance with the Basel III standard. The SME supporting factor is applicable to all exposures to SMEs (whether rated or unrated, and whether treated under the SA or the IRBA). Concerning retail SMEs, the RW of 75% is already implemented and applicable in the EU. Consequently, all policy considerations relating to the treatment of unrated corporates must account for the effect of the SME supporting factor.

Policy options

Baseline option - no change to the prudential framework

- The existing RWs for corporates remain unchanged, including for unrated corporates.
- The existing SME supporting factor is kept.
- The OF is not implemented for unrated corporates.

Option 1- full alignment with Basel III

- The ECRA approach applies to all corporate exposures (including unrated corporates), also for the purposes of the output floor.
- The existing SME supporting factor is removed.

Option 2 - *implementation of ECRA in line with Basel III with a transitional treatment for IRBA banks in relation to unrated corporates*

- For unrated corporates, a transitional period lasting until 2030 is provided. During this period, when calculating their OF, IRBA banks are allowed to apply the SCRA to exposures to unrated corporates which have a PD corresponding to an investment grade rating. This treatment applies to all unrated corporates, irrespective of whether they are listed or not.
- For rated corporates, when calculating the OF, IRBA banks are allowed to use the ECRA to calculate capital requirements.
- The Commission is empowered to extend the transitional treatment by up to three years based on a report by the EBA.
- At the end of in the transitional period, IRBA apply the ECRA to all corporate exposures when calculating the OF.
- The existing SME supporting factor is kept.

Impacts and comparison across options

Under the **baseline option**, the shortcomings in terms of risk-capture of the SA-CR for corporates would remain unaddressed and the framework would continue to lack a backstop (in the form of an output floor) limiting excessive variability in capital requirements. At the

same time, the level of capital requirements for the exposures concerned would remain largely unchanged.

Option 1 would be fully compliant with the Basel III standards and consistent with the EBA's advice¹⁶². However, the removal of the beneficial treatment of SMEs that EU co-legislators had agreed upon (in the CRR) and recently extended (in CRR II) could lead to a tightening of financing conditions for SMEs. Indeed, this option would lead to a material increase in minimum required capital for both SA banks (due to the removal of the SME supporting factor) and also IRBA banks (due to the direct effect of the removal of the SME supporting factor and, indirectly, as a result of the application of the output floor). This would, in turn, lead to either a reduction in the amount of loans banks would be willing to provide to SMEs (to the extent banks could not pass the increased cost of capital on SMEs for the loans (to the extent banks could pass on the increased cost of capital) or a combination of both.

Option 2 would preserve the use of external ratings for corporates and increase the risksensitivity of their treatment under the SA-CR. This option would be in line with the final Basel III standard, except when it comes to the EU-specific treatment of SMEs. The transitional adjustment for IRBA banks' exposures to unrated corporates would limit an increase in capital requirements as compared to option 1. It would avoid disruptive impacts on bank lending and leave sufficient time to establish public or private initiatives aimed at increasing the coverage of external ratings for corporates. Broadening the coverage of external ratings would also increase transparency in the EU corporate sector in the long run and thereby foster the Capital Markets Union (CMU).

Table	1.	Comparison	of	policy	options	against	effectiveness,	efficiency	and	coherence
criteria										

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	-	+	+
Option 2	++	*	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 1*, **option 2** is the preferred policy option.

¹⁶² Cf. EBA (2019) Policy advice on the Basel III reforms: Credit risk

1.1.2. Specialised lending

Problem definition

There is no specific treatment for specialised lending (SL) exposures under the current SA-CR. Those exposures are treated as any corporate exposures even though they have a very specific risk profile. The latter depends more on the type of transaction and/or collateral provided to secure the transaction rather than on the creditworthiness of the borrower(s) since the borrower is typically a dedicated vehicle, which secures the debt with the cash flows generated by its assets. The lack of granularity in the current framework leads to under- or overestimation of risks under the SA-CR and does not allow to appropriately compare related capital requirements between SA and IRBA banks (the IRBA contains a specific treatment for SL exposures). The SA-CR can hence not act as a credible benchmark to internal models used for SL exposures.

To address these shortcomings of the SA-CR, the Basel III standard introduced a specific treatment for SL exposures, distinguishing between project finance, object finance and commodities finance based on the definitions of these three subcategories in the IRBA. Like for corporates exposures (see Section 1.1.1 of this Annex), two approaches are available in the Basel III SA-CR, one for jurisdictions allowing the use of external ratings for regulatory purposes and one for jurisdictions that do not allow it. The new treatment reflects more appropriately and accurately the risks associated with SL exposures and improves the consistency with the already existing treatment of those exposures under the IRBA. Under the new SA-CR, SL exposures for which no issue-specific external ratings are available would be assigned RWs ranging from 80% to 130%. The exact RW assigned to the exposure would depend on the relevant SL subcategory and, in the case of project finance, on the phase in which the project is (pre-operational/operational) as well as on whether certain quality criteria are met.¹⁶³

However, similar to the case of exposures to unrated corporates, unintended consequences of the application of this new approach may arise in the EU, for essentially the same reasons: most SL exposures are not externally rated and are financed by IRBA banks that have in place internal models which produce materially lower RWs than those provided by the SA-CR. While the new standardised treatment for unrated SL exposures is more granular, it is not sufficiently risk-sensitive to reflect the effects of comprehensive security packages usually associated with these exposures (these packages comprise covenants and collateral subject to dedicated monitoring). The impact may be particularly felt in the case of object finance exposures in the context of the application of the OF. As a consequence, there could be a risk of discontinuation of these activities.

The impact on project finance is likely to be less significant because the EU has introduced a discount (= supporting) factor of 25% for exposures to high quality infrastructure projects that comply with a set of eligibility criteria capable to lower their risk profile and enhance the

¹⁶³ In particular, a preferential risk weight of 80% is provided for high quality project finance exposures in the operational phase.

predictability of their cash flows. This treatment applies to both institutions using the SA and institutions using the IRBA.

Policy options

Baseline option: no change to the prudential framework

- No dedicated treatment for SL exposures would be available under the SA-CR.
- The OF is not implemented for SL exposures.
- The existing supporting factor for high quality infrastructure projects is kept.

Option 1 - full alignment with Basel III

- The new SL subcategories are introduced in the SA-CR framework while maintaining the use of issue-specific external credit ratings when available.
- The existing supporting factor for high quality infrastructure projects is removed.
- The new standardised RWs for SL exposures are used for the calculation of the OF.

Option 2 - alignment with Basel III with adjustments for project and object finance

- The new SL subcategories are introduced in the SA-CR framework while maintaining the use of issue-specific external credit ratings when available.
- The specific supporting factor for infrastructure projects remains applicable to complement the preferential treatment for high quality project finance which is limited to projects in the operational phasewhilst avoiding "double discounts"¹⁶⁴.
- A new subcategory for high quality object finance is introduced. The EBA is mandated to specify the relevant criteria via RTS.
- The new standardised RWs for SL exposures are used for the calculation of the output floor.

Impacts and comparison across options

Only a small portion of SL exposures in EU banks portfolios is rated (3.62%); see below *Table 2*). Among all SL exposures, non-rated project finance is the most important sub-class (81.5%), followed by non-rated object finance (9.3%) and non-rated commodities finance (5.6%).

¹⁶⁴ However, the supporting factor cannot be applied to the favourable treatment for high quality project finance to further lower the applicable RW (i.e. it is not possible to apply the discount of 25% to the preferential RW of 80% provided under Basel II for 'high quality' project finance).

Institutions	Commodity finance	Object finance	Project finance	Rated exposures	Total SL
All	5.56%	9.30%	81.53%	3.62%	100%
Large	6.02%	9.94%	80.17%	3.87%	100%
of which: G-SII	14.73%	1.63%	80.87%	2.78%	100%
of which: O-SII	0%	16.70%	78.97%	4.34%	100%
Medium	0%	2.09%	97.91%	0.00%	100%
Small	0%	0%	97.89%	2.11%	100%

 Table 2. SL exposures under the SA-CR by sub-exposure class

Source: EBA, CfA response

Based on the EBA's analysis, the impact on exposures (classified as corporate exposures under the current SA-CR), which would be classified as SL exposures under the revised SA-CR, appears to be limited, due to the limited volume of specialised transactions under the SA-CR (14% of all transactions; see *Figure 1* below).

As mentioned above, most SL exposures are in the portfolios of IRBA banks. Therefore, the new standardised RWs for SL would also indirectly impact those banks as a consequence of the introduction of the OF.¹⁶⁵

Figure 1. Share of SL exposures RWA by regulatory approach in the current and revised framework



Sources: EBA 2018-Q2 QIS data and EBA calculations.

Note: Based on a sample of 204 banks: IRB (78), SA (196).

¹⁶⁵ In its <u>additional analysis for SL</u>, the EBA notices that the total impact of the final Basel III reform remains unchanged whether the LGD input floors for SL exposures are included or removed for SL exposures under IRB (see paragraph 1.2.1 on SL under IRBA). The exclusion of the LGD input floors for SL exposures would decrease the overall impact of the IRB reforms for SL exposures, but this lower impact would be completely compensated by a higher impact of the OF. The exclusion of the LGD input floor for SL exposures would benefit – in terms of capital requirements – mostly large IRBA banks. However, these benefits would not materialise as those banks, in general, are also the ones constrained by the output floor. This key aspect also needs to be taken into consideration for the final assessment of the impact of the calibrations of RWs for SL exposures under the Basel III SA-CR.

Under the **baseline option**, SL would not be defined in the SA-CR. Consequently, a risk-sensitive and granular approach could not be used for those exposures. Instead, a flat RW of 100% would continue to apply to all forms of SL unless an issue-specific rating would be available.

Option 1 would allow to better reflect the specific risk-profile of SL under the SA-CR. However, the removal of the existing EU-supporting factor for high-quality infrastructure projects under this option would lower the incentives recently put in place in the legislative framework to foster private and public investments in high quality infrastructure projects with low risk profile¹⁶⁶. In addition, some forms of SL (in particular object finance) would likely be materially impacted by the new RW calibrations, even though indirectly, i.e. through the application of the output floor.

Under **option 2**, the existing supporting factor for high quality infrastructure finance would be kept. At the same time, the lack of risk-sensitivity of the Basel treatment for unrated object finance exposures (RW of 100%) would be addressed by a specific treatment for "high-quality" object finance exposures and a revised calibration for those exposures, aligning the risk sensitivity for those categories with that of project finance. The indirect potential impact (as an effect of the output floor) for IRBA banks that have developed a SL activity would also be less material under this option than under option 1.

 Table 3. Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	-	+	+
Option 2	++	*	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 3*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option

1.1.3. Equity exposures

Problem definition

The current (Basel II) treatment of equity exposures under the SA-CR is not risk-sensitive: In particular, it does not reflect the higher loss risk of equity compared to senior exposures nor does it differentiate between strategic and speculative (and hence riskier) investments. Furthermore, the different methods for calculating RWs for equities under the IRBA (simple risk weight method, internal model method, PD/LGD approach) have been found to be unduly complex, leading to different outcomes and to undue RWA variability. Finally, the

¹⁶⁶ This is likely the only effect of removing the supporting factor. Given that it has become applicable only recently, it is unlikely that its removal would lead to a material increase in banks' capital requirements.

current treatment allowed for regulatory arbitrage between the banking book and the trading book.¹⁶⁷

To address these shortcomings, the final elements of the Basel III reform amend the treatment of equity exposures in two ways. First, banks can no longer use the IRBA for those exposures. Second, the calibration of RWs under the SA-CR is more granular and more conservative: the default RW for equity exposures increases from 100% to 250%. A more conservative RW of 400% is assigned to "speculative unlisted equity exposures" (most of those exposures are currently labelled as "high-risk" equity exposures and hence subject to a 150% RW). Those revisions can be phased-in over a five-year period. The existing 100% RW remains available only for equity investments made pursuant to "national legislated programmes" which meet certain eligibility conditions and have been approved by the competent authority.

Table 4: Risk weights applicable to equity exposures during the phased-in implementation of the Basel standards

Equity category	Year 0	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5
Speculative unlisted	100%	160%	220%	280%	340%	400%
Exposures to certain legislative programmes	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Other	100%	130%	160%	190%	220%	250%
•				•	•	•

Source: EBA, CfA response (Table 11, p. 59)

The final Basel III standard does not differentiate between the riskiness of certain types of equity holdings existing in the EU, such as equity investments in entities that are included in the same banking group (intragroup) or the same institutional protection schemes (IPS), or long-term and strategic equity investments in businesses outside the banking group (including holdings in insurance undertakings).

Policy options

Baseline option - no change to the prudential framework

- The existing RWs (100% and 150%) for equity exposures under the SA-CR are kept.
- Banks may use the IRBA for equity exposures.

Option 1 - full alignment with Basel III

• The use of IRBA for equities is removed; in turn, the SA-CR becomes the only approach available for calculating capital requirements for the credit risk of equity exposures.

¹⁶⁷ In particular, banks designated their equity exposures to the banking book even though they were essentially held for trading to avoid the much more conservative treatment under the trading book rules.

- For equity holdings made pursuant to national legislated programmes a preferential RW of 100% may be applied, subject to certain eligibility criteria and supervisory approval.
- The new RWs for speculative unlisted equity exposures (400%) and for other equity holdings (250%) are progressively phased-in during a 3-year period (see *Table 4* above).

Option 2 - implement Basel III with targeted clarifications and adjustments

- The current 100% RW remains applicable to intragroup equity exposures and equity holdings within institutional protection schemes (IPS).
- Existing long-term and strategic equity exposures to counterparties outside the banking sector (i.e. including in insurance undertakings) are subject to a grandfathering regime (i.e. banks are allowed to apply the existing RWs to those exposures).
- Only short-term equity investments with a holding period of less than 5 years are considered as speculative exposures and assigned a steady state RW of 400%.

Impacts and comparison across options

The **baseline option** would leave the identified problems largely unaddressed: Overly complex and discretionary methods under the IRBA would result in undue variability of RWAs whilst the SA-CR would provide insufficient risk coverage. As a consequence, banks would still have incentives to move equities from the trading to the banking book

The tightened treatment of equities under **Option 1** has been identified by the EBA as a major impact driver for increased capital requirements in the area of credit risk (it represents 2.8 pp of the overall increase in RWAs; see

Table **5** below) even without taking into account the increase in RWs for intra-group equity exposures¹⁶⁸. This would be partly compensated by a decrease in RWAs for some of the equity exposures migrating from the IRBA to the SA-CR (as internal modelling of equities' credit risk would not be allowed anymore; see *Table 8* below).

¹⁶⁸ Given that the impact analysis is based on data at the highest level of EU consolidation, the increase in RWs for intra-group equity exposures is not reflected in the estimates, which may therefore underestimate its impact.

Table 5: Percentage change in equity RWA (relative to total current SA RWA) for equity exposures currently under the SA-CR, by equity category

Panel A Equity categories classified according to the revised Basel III	Change (%)	Panel B Equity categories classified according to current CRR	Change (%)
Exposures to certain legislative programmes	0	Equity exposures classified as 'high-risk items' under Article 128	0.7
Other	2.6	Holdings of own funds instruments that are currently risk-weighted in accordance with Article 49(4)	0.8
Speculative unlisted	0.2	of which: holdings in insurance companies	0.7
Total equity	2.8	of which: exposures to institutions part of the same institutional protection scheme	0.1
		Other equity exposures	1.3
		Total equity	2.8

Source: EBA, CfA response

Table 6: Percentage change in equity SA RWA (relative to total current SA RWA) for equity exposures currently under the IRB, per equity category

Panel A Equity categories classified in accordance with revised Basel III	Percentage	Panel B Equity categories classified in accordance with current CRR	Percentage
Exposures to certain legislative programmes	0.00	Equity exposures in sufficiently diversified portfolios (Article 155(2) of the CRR)	-0.08
Other equity	-1.48	Holdings of own funds instruments that are currently risk-weighted in accordance with Article 49(4) of the CRR	-0.39
Speculative unlisted	0.15	Other equity exposures	-0.86
Total equity	-1.33	Total equity	-1.33

Source: EBA, CfA response

The additional data collection at individual and sub-consolidated level performed by the EBA¹⁶⁹ shows the importance of the proportion of intragroup equity exposures at those levels and points to an even higher RWA impact on this subset of exposures.

Table 7: Percentage of exposures to equity and exposures to equity intragroup (over total exposure), by approach

		SA	IRB		
	Equity exposure	Of which: Equity intragroup exposure	Equity exposure	Of which: Equity intragroup exposure	
Total	3.3%	2.8%	5.2%	4.4%	

Source: EBA response (5 March 2020) - Letter on additional analysis for the Call for Advice for the purposes of revising the own fund requirements for credit, operational, market and credit valuation adjustment risk: output floor and equity exposure class (Table 4, p. 14)

¹⁶⁹ On a sample of 16 banks, see <u>link here.</u>

Table 8: Percentage change in equity RWA (relative to current equity RWA by approach), by equity sub-type

Approach	Equity, of which:	Equity intragroup	Equity other than intragroup
SA	136.2%	145.5%	99.3%
IRB	3.3%	6.7%	-12.2%

Source: EBA, Letter on additional analysis for the Call for Advice for the purposes of revising the own fund requirements for credit, operational, market and credit valuation adjustment risk: output floor and equity exposure class, March 2020

Table 9: Percentage change in equity RWA (relative to total current RWA), by approach

		SA	IRB		
	Equity exposure	Of which: Equity intragroup exposure	Equity exposure	Of which: Equity intragroup exposure	
Total	15.7%	13.4%	1.1%	1.8%	

Source: EBA, Letter on additional analysis for the Call for Advice for the purposes of revising the own fund requirements for credit, operational, market and credit valuation adjustment risk: output floor and equity exposure class, March 2020

Applying the increased RWs to all equity exposures at all levels (i.e. individual, subconsolidated and consolidated level) would have a significantly higher impact than the application at consolidated application only. This would be mainly driven by intra-group equity exposures.

This may lead to unintended consequences (such as divestments) for existing structures and business models if such increased RWs would be applied to intragroup and IPS equity exposures, or to strategic investments outside the banking group (i.e. including holdings in insurance undertakings).

The targeted adjustments envisaged under **Option 2** would prevent those unintended effects whilst addressing the shortcomings of the current treatment.

 Table 10: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	-	+	+
Option 2	++	*	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 10*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option.
1.1.4. Real estate exposures

Problem definition

The GFC revealed a number of shortcomings of the current standardised treatment of real estate exposures which the Basel III SA-CR addresses.

Income-producing real estate exposures

Evidence showed that mortgage loans the repayment of which is materially dependent on the cash flows generated by the property securing those loans tend to be materially riskier than mortgage loans the repayment of which are materially dependent on the underlying capacity of the borrower to service the loan. However, under the current SA-CR no specific treatment is foreseen for such exposures, even though this dependence is an important risk driver. This may result in insufficient levels of capital to cover unexpected losses on this type of real estate exposures.

In order to address this shortcoming, the final Basel III standards introduced a new category of real estate exposures, namely income producing real estate (IPRE)¹⁷⁰ exposures, with a dedicated RW. This modification is intended not only to reflect more accurately the risk associated with those exposures, but also to improve consistency with the treatment of IPRE under the IRBA.

Land acquisition, development and construction exposures

Loans financing land acquisition, development or construction (ADC) of any properties incur a heightened risk where the source of repayment at origination of the loan is either a planned but uncertain sale of the property or substantially uncertain cash flows (e.g. this may happen if the property has not yet been leased to the occupancy rate prevailing in that geographic market for that type of property). The current SA-CR applicable in the EU provides for a flat RW of 150% for so-called "speculative immovable property financing". The latter category is defined solely based on the borrower's intention to resell the property for a profit, without taking into account to which extent the repayment is actually uncertain. As a result of this lack of clarity and risk-sensitivity, capital requirements for ADC exposures are currently often deemed to be too high or too low..

To better reflect the risk of ADC financing models, the final Basel III standards introduce a dedicated sub-exposure class, referring to loans to companies or SPVs financing any of the land acquisition for development and construction purposes, or development and construction of any residential or commercial property. ADC exposures are to be risk-weighted at 150%. However, provided that certain risk-mitigating conditions¹⁷¹ are met, ADC exposures to residential real estate may be risk-weighted at 100%.

¹⁷⁰ The IPRE category is further divided in two sub-categories: income producing residential real estate (IPRRE) and income producing commercial real estate (IPCRE).

¹⁷¹ The 100% RW can be applied where i) prudent underwriting standards are applied and ii) pre-sale or pre-lease contracts amount to a significant portion of total contracts or substantial equity at risk. Pre-sale or pre-lease contracts must be legally binding written contracts and the purchaser/renter must have made a substantial cash deposit which is subject to forfeiture if

Whole-loan vs. loan-splitting approach

The final Basel III standards also provide two new, more granular and risk-sensitive approaches for general¹⁷² residential and general commercial real estate exposures (GRRE and GCRE, respectively): (i) the loan splitting approach, which splits mortgage loans into a secured and an unsecured part and assigns a different risk weight to each of these two parts; and (ii) the whole loan approach, which considers mortgage loans as specific products and assigns a RW to the entire exposure based on its loan-to-value (LTV) ratio using different LTV buckets. According to the final Basel III standards, jurisdictions can apply either of these two approaches, but not both.

The rationale for using the LTV ratio as a risk driver for determining the applicable RWs is that the losses incurred in the event of a default and the likelihood of a borrower's default are lower when the outstanding loan amount relative to the value of the real estate collateral (i.e. the LTV ratio) is lower. However, only the loan splitting approach is also sensitive to the type of borrower (as it applies the RW of the counterparty to the unsecured part) and reflects the risk mitigating effects of the real estate collateral in the applicable RWs even in case of high LTV ratios. While the loan splitting approach is currently in place in the EU, its RW calibration has been found too conservative for mortgages with very low LTV ratios (see *Figure 2*).





Source: Commission

the contract is terminated. Equity at risk should be determined as an appropriate amount of borrower-contributed equity to the real estate's appraised as-completed value.

¹⁷² i.e. where the repayment does not materially depend on the cash flow generated by the property

Prudent valuation of property

In the aftermath of the GFC, property prices dropped significantly and progressively in countries in- and outside of the EU. Those bank that had not revised downwards the value of the properties securing mortgage loans on a timely basis, to reflect their reduced market value, ended up underestimating the underlying credit risk of those loans and hence the corresponding capital requirement. Had they updated them, the LTV ratio of those loans would have increased thereby potentially increasing capital requirements).

To reduce the impact of cyclical effects on the valuation of property securing a loan and to keep capital requirements for mortgages more stable, the final Basel III standards cap the value of the property recognised for prudential purposes at the value measured at loan origination, unless modifications "unequivocally" increase the value of the property. At the same time, the standards do not oblige banks to monitor the development of property values. Instead, they only require adjustments in case of extraordinary events. By contrast, the current SA-CR applicable in the EU requires banks to regularly monitor the value of property pledged as collateral. Based on this monitoring, banks are require to make upwards or downwards adjustments to the property (irrespective of the property value at loan origination). The current SA-CR does not include a mechanism addressing cyclical effects in real estate, and hence it does not address the risk of overvaluation and volatile capital requirements for mortgages.

Policy options

Baseline option: no change to the prudential framework

- The current loan splitting approach is kept unchanged.
- No specific treatment for IPRE and ADC exposures is provided for.
- The current rules on property value monitoring and adjustment are kept.

Option 1: full alignment with Basel III

- The loan splitting approach is kept for GRRE and GCRE exposures, but with the revised calibration as set by the final Basel III standards.
- Specific treatments for IPRE and ADC exposures are introduced.
- Property values are capped at their value at loan origination and the current requirement for frequent monitoring is removed.

Option 2: alignment with Basel III with adjustment for property valuation

- Specific treatments for IPRE and ADC exposures are introduced.
- The loan splitting approach is kept for GRRE and GCRE exposures, but with the revised calibration as set by the final Basel III standards.

• The current requirement for frequent monitoring of property values is kept, allowing upwards adjustment beyond the value at loan origination but with a cap set at the average value over the last 5 years.

Impacts and comparison across options

GRRE and GCRE account for the vast majority (more than 90%) of total exposures secured by real estate, whereas all the remaining categories, i.e. IPRE and ADC exposures, together amount to less than 10% (see *Figure 3*).

Figure 3: Exposure value breakdown as a percentage of total SA real estate exposure under the revised Basel III framework



Source: EBA – Basel III reforms: impact study and key recommendations (Figure 34, p. 88)

Under the **baseline option**, the lack of risk-sensitivity of the current framework in particular concerning IPRE and ADC exposures would remain, leading to inadequate levels of capital for covering unexpected losses on real estate exposures and potentially providing inappropriate incentives for banks' lending decisions. Furthermore, the (pro-) cyclicality of property valuations and, by consequence, of capital requirements would remain under the baseline option.

As regards **Option 1**, while the share of exposures in each category would change slightly as a result of the implementation of the revised SA-CR (more precisely because of the new definitions under Option 1; see *Figure 15* below), the RWs for exposures falling in the GRRE and GCRE categories would remain largely unchanged, as the revisions in these areas are marginal compared to the framework currently applicable in the EU.

For similar reasons, the impact of the new treatment for ADC exposures under Option 1 is expected to be limited. The overall impact is marginal as ADC exposures account for only 2.9% of total real estate exposures treated under the SA-CR.

By contrast, the application of the revised standardised treatment for IPRE would increase the RWAs for IPRRE by 47.6% under Option 1. This would be the most significant impact across all exposures secured by real estate. However, given the low share of IPRE in total exposures, the overall impact would be limited (IPRRE accounts for 2.5% of total real estate exposure, while IPCRE accounts for 1.1%).

Figure 4: Percentage change in exposures secured by real estate SA RWA, relative to current sub-exposure class SA RWA (left), and relative to total current SA RWA (right)



Source: EBA – Basel III reforms: impact study and key recommendations (Figure 35 and 36, p. 88)

The (re-)valuation approach provided by Basel III (**option 1**) is less pro-cyclical, but also less risk-sensitive than the current approach applicable in the EU. Under this option, banks would not be required to adjust property values downwards based on continuous monitoring. They would only need to make adjustments following a supervisor's intervention or due to extraordinary events. This option would not fit European real estate markets, where mortgage loans usually have long(er) maturities (than in other Basel jurisdictions)¹⁷³. Moreover, it would create perverse incentives for circumvention of the rules by repeated renewal of mortgage contracts, as highlighted in the EBA's advice. It would also put the burden to require downwards adjustments of property values on supervisors and could also have a negative effect on banks' risk management, as it would remove the requirement to frequently monitor property values.

Option 2 would have the same impacts as Option 1 on GRRE, GCRE, IPRRE and ADC exposures. By contrast, Option 2 would address potential pro-cyclical effects under option 1 by limiting any upward adjustments at the average value over a certain period thereby reducing the volatility in property values. This would address the disadvantages of the current approach while avoiding the problems inherent in the approach contained in Option 1.

¹⁷³ For example, mortgages in the US have a much shorter average maturity (about 7 years) than in the EU, meaning the property values can be updated when the loans are rolled over.

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	++	-	+	+
Option 2	++	+	++	++

 Table 11: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 11*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option

1.2. Credit risk framework – Internal model approach

General background

As an alternative to using the SA-CR, banks may also use one of the two approaches based on internal models, the so-called internal ratings-based (IRB) approaches, to calculate capital requirements for credit risk (subject to supervisory approval). The advanced IRB (AIRB) approach allows modelling of all key risk parameters, whereas the foundation IRB (FIRB) approach is somewhat more restrictive as modelling is allowed for only one out of the three key risk parameters¹⁷⁴.

The IRB approaches are complex and are therefore used primarily by large, sophisticated institutions. However, given the large market shares of these institutions, the capital requirements for the majority of credit risk exposures in the EU banking sector are calculated using the IRB approaches (see

¹⁷⁴ Under the AIRB approach, the obligor's probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD), and exposure at default (EAD) are allowed to be modelled, while under the FIRB approach only the PD is allowed to be modelled.

Figure 5 below).



Figure 5: Exposure value: SA versus IRB composition (% of total credit risk exposure value)

Source: EBA 2018-Q2 QIS data and EBA calculations. Note: Based on a sample of 189 banks.

The GFC highlighted important deficiencies of the IRB approaches. A range of studies conducted at both international and EU level found an unacceptably wide variation in capital requirements across banks that cannot be explained solely by differences in the riskiness of banks' portfolios. This is undesirable, as it hinders the comparability of capital ratios and impacts the level playing field among banks. Also, the crisis has revealed instances where the losses incurred by banks on some portfolios were significantly higher than the model predictions, which resulted in insufficient levels of capital held by individual banks.

The December 2017 Basel III agreement aimed to address these deficiencies primarily by limiting banks' flexibility in calculating their capital requirements for credit risk¹⁷⁵:

- the possibility to use internal models was either limited or altogether removed for portfolios and risk parameters where the BCBS had concluded that the available data was insufficient to ensure reliable modelling (i.e. exposures to financial institutions and exposures to large corporates fall in the first category, while equity exposures fall in the second one);
- new minimum values ('input floors') were introduced for banks' estimates of the probability of default (PD), loss-given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD).

As outlined in Section 5.1., the preferred option for the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the area of credit risk is a revision of the IRB approaches in line with the Basel III standard with some adjustments. The subsections below discuss each of the aforementioned key areas and assess which adjustments are necessary in each case (if any).

1.2.1. Reduction in the scope of internal modelling

¹⁷⁵ Other changes included a modification of the "roll-out" requirement: The principle that those banks that intended to use the IRB approach for some of their exposures are obliged to roll it out to all exposures was modified so that this obligation applies separately for each exposure class.

Problem definition

The GFC has revealed that in some cases banks have used the IRB approaches even though the respective portfolios were unsuitable for modelling due to insufficient amounts of relevant data being available. This had detrimental consequences for the robustness of the capital requirements produced by those models and thus on financial stability. Banks were able to continue using models for those portfolios because the applicable framework contained insufficient limits as regards the availability of IRB approaches for exposures classes that are difficult to model.

Specifically, banks' exposures to other banks, other financial sector entities and large corporates typically exhibit low levels of default. For such low-default portfolio (LDP) exposures, it has been shown that the low number of observed defaults makes it difficult for banks to produce reliable LGD estimates. Banks have tried to compensate for this lack of data by employing different statistical techniques, but this has resulted in an undesirable level of dispersion across banks in the level of estimated risk.

Moreover, where banks use internal models to calculate the capital requirements for credit risk of equity exposures, they typically base their risk assessment on publicly available data. Since all banks have access to pretty much the same public data, it is hard to justify the differences one can observe in capital requirements produced by banks' models for those exposures. Also, the internal modelling of equity exposures entails a level of complexity that may not be justified in light of the relatively low amounts of equity exposures held by banks in their banking books.

In view of the above, the final Basel III standards limit the exposures classes for which internal models can be used to calculate capital requirements for credit risk. Specifically, it allows the use of internal models only for those exposure classes for which robust modelling is possible. The abovementioned exposure classes are, in contrast, "migrated" to less sophisticated approaches:

- for exposures to large corporates with total consolidated annual sales greater than EUR 500 million, for exposures to banks and for exposures to financial institutions (including financial institutions treated as corporates), the use of the AIRB approach is no longer available: for those exposures banks can only use the FIRB approach¹⁷⁶;
- for equity exposures, the IRB approaches are no longer available: banks must use the SA-CR.

The BCBS' decision is based on the consideration that disallowing the use of certain modelling approaches in this manner would remove an important source of undue RWA variability and thereby improve the comparability of capital requirements. In addition, it would remove a source of unnecessary complexity from the framework.

¹⁷⁶ See footnote 163 for an explanation of the difference between the two approaches.

However, an unintended consequence of this "migration" may arise in the EU for exposures to public sector entities (PSEs) and regional governments and local authorities (RGLAs). Under the current IRB approach, exposures to PSEs and RGLAs are treated either as exposures to central governments or as exposures to banks. For the purpose of RWA calculation, it is of relatively limited significance into which category a PSE and RGLA fall, as the applicable rules are broadly similar.

Under the final Basel III standards, exposures to PSEs and RGLAs can continue to be treated either as exposures to central governments or as exposures to banks. However, given that under those standards exposures to banks are subject to significant modelling constraints, while exposures to central governments are not, the classification of a PSE or RGLA exposure can have potentially significant implications on the capital requirement for that exposure.

Policy options

Baseline option: no change to the prudential framework

- All IRB approaches remain available for exposures to large corporates, banks and other financial institutions.
- The treatment of exposures to RGLAs and PSEs remains unchanged.

Option 1: implement the key change in the scope of the IRB approaches as foreseen by the Basel III standard

- The AIRB approach is no longer available for LDP exposures: only the FIRB approach remains available.
- The IRB approaches are no longer available for equity exposures: banks have to use the SA-CR.

Option 2: implement the key change in the scope of the IRB approaches as foreseen by the Basel III standard with adjustments

- Same as Option 1.
- In addition, address the unintended consequences of Option 1 for exposures to PSEs and RGLAs by creating a new PSE/RGLA exposure class; the AIRB approach would remain available for those exposure classes, subject to input floors (see next section for details on the latter).

Impacts and comparison across options

The **baseline option** would leave the problems identified in the current prudential framework unaddressed (insufficient robustness of certain models, undue variability of RWAs, inappropriate levels of capital requirements).

The restrictions proposed under **Option 1** are a key measure to strengthen the reliability of internal models. Indeed, in its policy advice on the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform, the EBA stated that "[t]his measure is consistent with the intention to limit the variability of model outcomes, since these portfolios typically show severe shortages of default data. In particular, the availability of empirical observations for LGD estimation is problematic for LDPs, since the realised LGDs can only be observed on defaulted exposures."

Under the option, however, in line with the final Basel III standard, the use of the FIRB approach for exposures to banks, financial institutions and large corporates is still allowed, as valid PD modelling remains achievable in this context. The impact of Option 1, in terms of increase in capital requirements for AIRB exposures to banks and to financial institutions, would be among the highest of all the impacts due to the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform (80% and 30% increase in RWAs, respectively, see *Figure 6* below). The migration from AIRB to FIRB is the main driver of the increase. Exposures to large corporates would be much less affected (+5%) due to a decrease in the regulatory LGD for these exposures under the FIRB approach compared to the current rules.

Figure 6: Marginal impact on RWAs per exposure class due to their "migration" to the IRB approach (relative to current RWAs of AIRB exposures in each exposure class)



Source: EBA Policy advice on the Basel III reforms: credit risk, Figure 25.

For exposures to PSEs and RGLAs, the EBA has assessed that, under option 1, PSEs and RGLAs that are currently treated as exposures to central governments, would see a decrease in capital requirements between 10% and 28%, respectively, partly as a result of the removal of the current 1.06 scaling factor. In contrast, exposures to PSEs and RGLAs that are currently treated as exposures to banks would see an increase of 78%, mostly as an effect of the of the banks' exposure class being limited to the FIRB approach.

This discrepancy in impact is not justified by the underlying risk characteristics of the entities in question. As stated by the EBA, "the inconsistent treatment of PSEs and RGLAs leads to disproportionate impacts and adds unnecessary complexity to the framework". Besides, implementing this differentiated treatment could also lead to an increase in undue RWA variability across banks, rather than a decrease, as the applicable treatment is decided by competent authorities.

Option 2 would address the weaknesses of the IRB approach as identified by the Basel Committee by implementing all the elements of the reform (i.e. those listed in option 1). Compared to option 1, however, it would have the advantage of removing the unjustified disparity in impact on exposures to PSEs and RGLAs by treating them according to the same principles, while at the same time reducing the undue RWA variability for those exposures (because of the application of the input floors). The increase in capital requirements for banks arising from model "migration" would be somewhat lower under option 2 compared to option 1 as no "migration" would be imposed on any exposures to PSEs/RGLAs.

 Table 12: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost- effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	++	+	+	+
Option 2	++	+	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 12*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option

1.2.2. Input floors

Problem definition

The financial crisis revealed that the calibrations of regulatory risk parameters used as inputs to the regulatory formula to calculate RWAs under the IRB approaches were at times not calibrated in a sufficiently robust or conservative manner by some banks, leading to unwarranted RWA variability and possibly insufficient capital requirements in such cases.

As a result, the final Basel III standards introduce minimum values for bank-estimated IRB parameters that are used as inputs to the calculation of RWAs ('input floors'). These input floors would act as safeguard to ensure that capital requirements do not fall below prudent levels; they would mitigate model risk due to such factors as incorrect model specification, measurement error and data limitations; and they would improve the comparability of capital ratios across banks.

In some cases, these floors consist of recalibrated values of the existing Basel II input floors, while in most cases the input floors are new. They include PD floors for both the AIRB approach and the FIRB approach, and LGD and EAD floors for the AIRB approach.

In order to achieve their intended aims, the input floors must be calibrated in a sufficiently conservative manner. However, where those floors are calibrated too conservatively, this may discourage banks from adopting the IRB approaches and the associated risk management standards. Banks may also be incentivised to shift their portfolios to higher risk exposures and exploit the constraint imposed by the input floors with a view to generating a higher return. In order to avoid such unintended consequences, risk parameter floors should appropriately reflect certain risk characteristics of the underlying exposures, in particular by taking on different values for different types of exposure where appropriate.

Under the final Basel III standard, the PD floor is increased from 0.03% under Basel II to 0.05%. LGD floors apply to secured and unsecured exposures and range from 0% to 50%, depending on the type of the exposure and on the type of collateral used (see *Table 13*).

Collateral type	Current value of LGDs	Proposed new value of LGDs
Eligible financial collateral	0%	0%
Receivables	35%	20%
CRE/RRE	35%	20%
Other physical collateral	40%	25%

 Table 13: LGD input floors under Basel II (current) vs Basel III (new)

Source: European Commission

The final Basel III standards furthermore introduce a formula for the calculation of the input floor for partially secured exposures. The comprehensive list of LGD floors introduced by the Basel III standards constitute a significant change from those contained in the Basel II standards, which apply only at portfolio level and only to exposures secured by immovable property. No input floors apply to sovereign exposures.

While SL exposures¹⁷⁷ have risk characteristics that differ from general corporate exposures, the final Basel III standards apply the same input floors in both cases. The EBA's analysis has shown that an LGD input floor may tightly constrain banks' own estimates for SL exposures, due to the low levels of banks' own LGD estimates at the reference date. The EBA has not found conclusive evidence that the LGD input floor for general corporate exposures is excessively conservative for specialised lending exposures, pointing to banks' "heavy losses suffered from specialised lending under adverse market conditions". However,

¹⁷⁷ For a general explanation of SL exposures, see section 1.1.

the explanatory power of the evidence is limited by the small size of the sample used and the complexity and idiosyncrasies of the underlying transactions, so that further analysis may be warranted.

Policy options

Baseline option: no change to the prudential framework

- The existing Basel II PD floor of 0,03% is kept.
- The PD, LGD and EAD input floors provided by the final Basel III standards are not introduced.

Option 1: full implementation of Basel III

• The new PD, LGD and EAD input floors provided by the final Basel III standards are introduced.

Option 2: implementation of Basel III input floors with possibility for EU-specific adjustments

- The new PD, LGD and EAD inputs floors provided by the final Basel III standards are introduced.
- An empowerment allowing the Commission to adopt a delegated act is introduced to adapt the input floors for specialised lending, based on a detailed analysis to be conducted by the EBA.

Impacts and comparison across options

Under the **baseline option**, the flaws identified in the current framework would remain unaddressed (lack of robustness of modelling approaches in certain circumstances, undue RWA variability).

Option 1 would provide tools to address the problems identified under the current framework. The level of the input floors contained in the final Basel III standards appear to be calibrated in a sufficiently conservative manner to achieve this aim, while at the same time being adapted to the risk characteristics of the underlying exposures. Concerning the impact of this option on RWAs, the EBA has assessed that around 20% of the total increase in IRB RWA would be due to the revised PD floor, and around 80% would be due to the LGD floors, whereas the EAD floor would only play a "minor role". An illustration of the impacts by exposure class is shown in

Figure 7 below (see blue "Basel III central scenario").

Figure 7: Percentage change in IRB RWA per exposure class excluding PD & LGD input floors (relative to total current IRB RWA)



Source: EBA Impact Study on the Basel III reforms, Figure 52.

The potential impact of the floors on SL exposures would be particularly important (30% increase in RWAs), mainly due to the LGD floors. In fact, SL is the exposure class that would be the most affected by the LGD floors (see *Figure 8* below), because those are significantly higher than the LGDs currently calculated by banks.. On the one hand according to the EBA, the aforementioned "heavy losses" incurred by SL exposures may be insufficiently reflected in banks' current loss estimates, which would suggest that an increase in capital requirements would be justified. On the other hand, stakeholders have argued that SL exposures tend to be low-risk and that the projected increase in capital requirements would therefore be unjustified. Unjustified increases in capital requirements would be particularly undesirable in the case of SL in view of its importance for the real economy as they might result in undesirable constraints on such lending.

Figure 8: Marginal impact (difference between orange and blue bars) of the LGD floors per exposure class, in terms of increase in A-IRB RWAs (relative to total current A-IRB RWAs) [alternative scenario excludes LGD input floors for SL exposures]



Source: EBA Impact Study on the Basel III reforms, Figure 52.

Option 2 would be as effective as option 1 in tackling the aforementioned problems relating to risk parameter estimation. In addition, the empowerment for the Commission would prevent potential unintended consequences on specialised lending option 1 might entail.

 Table 14: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost- effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	++	-	+	+
Option 2	++	++	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 14*, **Option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option

1.3. Market risk framework

Problem definition

Financial instruments held by banks for trading purposes (e.g. shares, bonds, derivatives), are subject to market risk, i.e. the risk of movements in the instruments' market prices that impact banks' daily profits and losses. These market price movements can be large and sudden which can affect a bank's solvency position. Because of the idiosyncratic nature of this risk, the CRR contains a specific treatment for the financial instruments subject to market risk, referred to as trading book positions¹⁷⁸. As is the case for other types of risk, the CRR allows banks to use two types of approaches to calculate their capital requirements for market risk: a standardised approach and an internal model approach.

During the GFC, the level of capital required against trading book exposures proved insufficient to absorb the losses incurred by a number of banks, both in the EU and in non-EU jurisdictions¹⁷⁹. The magnitude and the severity of the adverse market movements revealed that some banks, although fully compliant with existing market risk capital requirements, did not, in fact, have sufficient capital to cover market risk losses that arose during the GFC. The crisis therefore revealed a number of weaknesses in the design of the framework used for calculating capital requirements for market risk that needed to be addressed.

¹⁷⁸ In order to determine the relevant approach to calculate capital requirements for the positions they have, banks are required to allocate those positions to either the trading book or the non-trading book, based on the intention of each transaction. Non-trading book positions, often referred to as banking book exposures, are usually financial instruments held by banks until they mature (e.g. loans) and mainly subject to credit risk. For this reason, banking book exposures are subject to the capital requirement for credit risk.

¹⁷⁹ See <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d457_note.pdf</u>

In 2009, a first reform of the market risk standards (known as the 'Basel 2.5' reform) was adopted by the BCBS. This reform focused on increasing the overall capital requirements for market risk to address the most pressing deficiencies in the international standards in this area. It was implemented in Union law by means of Directive 2010/76/EU¹⁸⁰ (also known as the third Capital Requirements Directive or CRD III) and subsequently incorporated in the CRR.

Nevertheless, the 2009 reform did not address all the design flaws present in the market risk framework, such as¹⁸¹:

- <u>lack of clarity in the scope of application of the capital requirements for market risk</u>: the lack of clear rules around instruments' allocation to the trading book and the banking book allows banks to engage in regulatory arbitrage¹⁸², i.e. allocate instruments to the 'book' that generates the lowest capital requirements;
- <u>insufficient risk capture</u>: many features of market risk are not adequately reflected in the current rules for calculating capital requirements. Consequently, the amount of capital required for certain instruments is not aligned with the real risks that banks face when holding these instruments¹⁸³. For some trading book positions, banks may not have sufficient amounts of capital to absorb potential losses that may arise from adverse changes to market conditions. This could endanger their solvency. For other trading book positions the capital requirements may, conversely, be excessive compared to the actual risk. This could negatively affect banks' trading in the specific instruments and hence have an impact on their market liquidity and transactions costs;
- <u>high variability of modelling outcomes</u>: as highlighted by the BCBS regulatory and consistency assessment program¹⁸⁴, a high variability of outcomes across banks worldwide using the internal model approach to calculate the capital requirements for market risk was observed, even for identical portfolios. Similar observations were made across EU banks following the EBA's Market Risk Benchmarking exercises¹⁸⁵. The dispersion of outcomes has been found larger for more complex trading portfolios. These findings indicate that banks have used the leeway offered by the rules to implement market risk internal models in different manners, using a wide range of assumptions.

¹⁸⁰ Directive 2010/76/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010 amending Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC as regards capital requirements for the trading book and for resecuritisations, and the supervisory review of remuneration policies.

¹⁸¹ A full overview of the weaknesses of the Basel 2,5 market risk standards has been described by the BCBS in <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d457_note.pdf</u>.

¹⁸² For example, prior to the crisis, securitisation instruments were usually allocated to the trading book because of the low volatility of the securitisation markets (leading to low capital requirements under the market risk rules) even if there was no evidence of regular trading in these instruments (which made it likely that banks holding those positions did not really actively trade them).

¹⁸³ As an example, the risk of holding more illiquid instruments is not recognised since the current capital requirements for market risk assume that all trading book positions can be extinguished within two weeks.
¹⁸⁴ See https://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs267.htm.

¹⁸⁵ See section on "Market risk" in <u>https://www.eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/supervisory-benchmarking-exercises</u>.

To tackle the abovementioned design flaws, after the Basel 2.5 reform, the BCBS launched a more fundamental reform of the international standards for market risk, known as the fundamental review of the trading book (FRTB). A first set of revised market risk standards (hereafter 'original FRTB standards') was published by the BCBS in January 2016, with a recommended implementation deadline of 1 January 2019; it addressed the above issues by:

- providing more objective rules to allocate transactions either to the trading book or to the banking book;
- developing a revised standardised approach ('FRTB SA') and internal model approach ('FRTB IMA') that better capture market risk;
- reducing the flexibility for banks to use their own modelling assumptions under the FRTB IMA, while helping supervisors to assess their robustness with the help of new quantitative tests that all FRTB IMA must fulfil.

In the course of monitoring the expected impact of the original FRTB standards, the BCBS identified a number of issues that needed to be addressed. Following a consultation¹⁸⁶ launched in March 2018, the BCBS changed certain elements of the original FRTB standards and published a revised version in January 2019 (hereafter 'final FRTB standards'), with a new recommended implementation deadline set to 1 January 2022¹⁸⁷ (as in the case of the rest of the final elements of the Basel III reform, the BCBS postponed this deadline by one year, to 1 January 2023, in light of the COVID-19 pandemic).

The Commission originally proposed to introduce binding capital requirements based on the original FRTB standards as part of the CRR II to address the deficiencies of the market risk framework. However, given the BCBS's subsequent decision to revise those standards, with timelines incompatible with the milestones in the CRR II negotiation process, the European Parliament and the Council agreed to implement the original FRTB standards in the prudential framework as a first step only for reporting purposes¹⁸⁸. Reporting were set to start once the elements of the final FRTB standards that would be necessary for the reporting requirements would be incorporated in Union law through secondary legislation¹⁸⁹. The introduction of binding capital requirements based on the final FRTB standards was left to a separate ordinary legislative initiative. In the meantime, EU banks will keep using the current approaches set out in the CRR to calculate their capital requirements for market risk.

¹⁸⁶ See <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d436.htm.</u>

¹⁸⁷ See <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d457.htm.</u>

¹⁸⁸ This allows banks time to prepare for implementing the new approaches (in particular banks that will be using the FRTB IMA) and also allows for the monitoring of the functioning of the new approaches before they will be used for the purpose of calculating capital requirements.

¹⁸⁹ The secondary legislation comprises a delegated act specifying some technical elements of the FRTB SA, adopted by the Commission on 17 December 2019, and a number of regulatory technical standards mandated to EBA to specify some technical elements of the FRTB IMA, already submitted by EBA to the Commission and which adoption is currently being processed.

Policy options

Baseline option – No changes to the prudential framework related to market risk

The baseline option would consist in keeping the FRTB standard as a reporting requirement, as agreed under CRR II, and maintain the current approaches set out in the CRR to calculate capital requirements for market risk. As a consequence, the weakness of those approaches would be left unaddressed. The reporting requirement based on the final FRTB standards as adopted under the CRR II would help supervisors to further assess EU banks' exposure to market risk based on the revised FRTB SA and FRTB IMA, but this assessment would remain indicative. Moreover, as some important elements of the final FRTB standards, most notably the revised scope of application of the trading book, were not yet included in the CRR II, they would not be implemented in Union law.

Option 1 - Convert the FRTB reporting requirement into a capital requirement, fully aligned with the Basel standards

Option 1 would implement the necessary amendments to the prudential framework to convert the reporting requirement based on the FRTB approaches adopted in the CRR II into a binding capital requirement fully aligned with the final FRTB standards agreed by the BCBS. Consequently, EU banks would no longer use the current approaches for calculating capital requirements for market risk and they would therefore no longer be exposed to the weaknesses identified in those approaches during the GFC. The prudential framework would also be amended to introduce the revised elements of the final FRTB standards that have not yet been included in the CRR II for the purposes of the reporting requirements. The amendments would include, for example, the revised standards defining the scope of application of the trading book, the revised disclosure requirements based on the FRTB approaches and the possibility to use a simplified standardised approach for banks with medium-sized trading books at supervisors' discretion.

In addition, under option 1, some of the specific adjustments to the final FRTB standards already adopted under the CRR II to take account of EU specificities¹⁹⁰ would be removed to fully align the EU rules with the final Basel standards.

Option 2 - *Convert the FRTB reporting requirement into a capital requirement, taking into account EU specificities and international level playing field.*

Similarly to option 1, option 2 would make the necessary adjustments to the prudential framework to convert the reporting requirement based on the FRTB approaches adopted in the CRR II into a binding capital requirement aligned with the final FRTB standards. EU banks would also no longer be allowed to use the current approaches for calculating capital requirements for market risk and would therefore no longer be exposed to the weaknesses identified in those approaches.

¹⁹⁰ For example, this would include the beneficial treatment of covered bonds issued by banks located in the EU set out in Article 325ah(1) of the CRR and the beneficial treatment of foreign exchange rates composed of the euro and the non-euro currency of a Member State set out in paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 325av of the CRR.

However, unlike option 1, option 2 would maintain the specific adjustments adopted under the CRR II to take account of EU specificities in the calculation of the binding capital requirements under the FRTB approaches. In addition, two additional adjustments would be introduced under option 2 to mitigate a potential excessive increase in capital requirements for market risk under the final FRTB standards affecting key trading/market making activities to the EU economy, specifically:

- treatment of collective investment undertakings ('CIUs') under both the internal • model and the standardised approaches: CIUs play a crucial role in facilitating the accumulation of personal savings, whether for major investments or for retirement. They are also important because they make institutional and personal savings available to companies and projects which contribute to growth and jobs. The seamless provision of CIUs as investment product hinges on banks' ability to continuously offer to their clients the possibility to buy or sell back those instruments. For that purpose, banks must keep inventories of CIUs in their trading books. Under the final FRTB standard, banks can use internal models to calculate capital requirements for market risk due to exposures to CIUs only under the condition that the bank can look through the CIUs' composition¹⁹¹. When this condition cannot be met, banks would have to use the standardised approach, which presents much more conservative assumptions¹⁹², leading to a significant increase in capital requirements for those products. A number of respondents to the consultation raised this issue and the EBA also highlighted the risk of a potentially excessive capital impact in its response to the Call for Advice. To ensure continued market-making in CIUs, adjustments would be proposed to the final FRTB standard with two main objectives, namely (i) to ensure that more CIUs could be eligible to internal model approach; and (ii) to ensure that the treatment of CIUs under the standardised approach is less penalising;
- <u>treatment of carbon emissions allowances under the standardised approach</u>: in the EU emission trading scheme (ETS), banks play an important role in providing liquidity to carbon emissions allowances market. They typically fill their clients' estimated demand for allowances at a future date via derivatives ('forward') transactions. Under the SA of the final FRTB standards, the exposures to carbon emission allowances are assimilated to electricity contracts, which could be considered too conservative in light of historical data. A number of respondents to the consultation paper raised concerns about the conservativeness of this treatment that does not reflect the

¹⁹¹ The condition requires being able to frequently access the information on all the exposures composing the fund.

¹⁹² Under the FRTB standardised approach, the market risk capital requirements of most CIUs (all CIUs, except those tracking recognised indices) would be based on either 'the mandate-based' or the 'single-equity' approaches, both lacking risk-sensitivity and considered too conservative by the industry. On the one hand, under the mandate-based approach, the CIUs would be capitalised based on a hypothetical portfolio which would produce the highest capital requirements according to the fund's mandate. On the other hand, the 'single-equity' approach would treat the CIU as an unrated equity exposure as an unrated equity exposure allocated to the "other sector" bucket, which attracts the highest RWs (e.g. 70% for delta equity risk class)."

volatility of the price of carbon emission allowances, which is closer to physical commodities than to electricity. In addition, the creation of the Market Stability Reserve by the Commission in 2015¹⁹³, aimed at addressing the surplus of allowances and improving the system's resilience to major shocks by adjusting the supply of allowances to be auctioned, has stabilised the volatility of the price of ETS allowances. This would justify creating a specific risk category for ETS allowances under the SA, distinct from electricity, with a lower risk weight equal to 40% to better reflect the actual price volatility of this EU-specific commodity.

In addition, as opposed to option 1, the use of the simplified standardised approach for banks with medium-sized trading books would not be left to the discretion of supervisors, but would rather be harmonised across the EU, consistently with the eligibility criteria agreed by colegislators in the CRR II to exempt banks with the same profile from the FRTB reporting requirements¹⁹⁴.

Finally, monitoring the implementation of the final FRTB standards in other member jurisdictions of the BCBS would be key to identify, and potentially address, distortions to the playing field for EU banks' trading activities if some of these jurisdictions would delay the implementation of the FRTB framework or relax its calibration¹⁹⁵. To do so, option 2 would introduce an empowerment for the Commission to delay, if necessary, the application of the capital requirements based on the FRTB framework and/or to adjust its calibration based on international developments. This empowerment would also allow the Commission to revise, if necessary, the specific adjustments introduced as part of this legislative initiative for the treatment of CIUs and carbon emissions allowances, based on a report mandated to the EBA.

Impacts of policy options

Under **the baseline option**, banks would not be subject to direct capital impacts, but they would still incur the operational costs of implementing and maintaining the FRTB approaches for the reporting requirements introduced by the CRR II, in parallel with the existing approaches for calculating capital requirements for market risk.

Both **options 1 and 2** would introduce more effective approaches for calculating capital requirements for market risk by addressing the weaknesses of the current approaches. Both

¹⁹³ Decision (EU) 2015/1814 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 October 2015 concerning the establishment and operation of a market stability reserve for the Union greenhouse gas emission trading scheme and amending Directive 2003/87/EC (available at <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32015D1814&from=EN</u>).

¹⁹⁴ These eligibility criteria, set out in Article 325a of the CRR, would therefore fulfil their original purpose as set out in the Commission proposal for the CRR II, before co-legislators agreed to keep the FRTB approaches for reporting purposes only.

¹⁹⁵ Hong Kong and Singapore publically announced the application of the final FRTB standards as a reporting requirement from 1 January 2023 and committed to implement the standards as a capital requirements at a later stage. Other jurisdictions have already publically indicated a delay of the application of the final FRTB standards as capital requirement, as compared to the BCBS recommended implementation date: Q3 2023 for Japan; Q1 2014 for Canada; 1 January for Australia. Finally other major jurisdictions (e.g. US, CH) have publically announced their commitment to implement the FRTB framework as capital requirements without more details at this stage.

options 1 and 2 would also be more cost-effective compared to the baseline by limiting the operational costs, as banks would be required to use the same approaches (based on the final FRTB standards) for both reporting and capital calculation purposes.

As part of its 2020 CfA response, the EBA estimated that **option 1** would lead to an increase of the 0.8% in the total capital requirements of EU banks included in the EBA sample (roughly a 50% increase in the capital requirements for market risk). As illustrated in *Figure 9* below, this impact appears more pronounced for banks using the FRTB SA as compared to banks using the FRTB IMA. The impact also varies depending on the group of EU banks.

Figure 9: Impact of the final FRTB standards in terms of total market risk RWA (relative to total current market RWA), by size and bank type



Source: EBA, based on data collected for the December 2020 report.

Note: this impact comes from the "reduced bias estimation" sample in which the EBA removed 3 G-SII banks from the sample due to some concerns that they may have overestimated the impact.

As a result, EU banks particularly active in these areas would incur a large increase in the capital requirement for trading book exposures. This would potentially lead to increased prices, reduced trading volumes and restricted access to funding and risk management solutions for some economic actors. However, it is important to note that the impacts of the final FRTB standards may be overestimated in the EBA CfA QIS since some elements of the rules that have the potential to reduce the capital requirements of EU banks under the FRTB IMA are not yet operational (e.g. the use of data pooling services to improve the passing rate of the assessment of model lability) or are not yet applicable (e.g. the final draft RTS on capital requirement for "non-modellable risk factors" developed by the EBA is still in the process of being adopted by the Commission).

Option 2 would further improve risk capture compared to option 1 by making a number of adjustments that better reflect the market risk of certain specific instruments traded by EU banks. However, the EBA has so far not been able to estimate the impact of those

adjustments¹⁹⁶. Therefore, option 2 would mandate the EBA to prepare a report reviewing whether those adjustments achieve their objectives.

 Table 15. Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	+	-	+	~
Option 2	++	+	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 15*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option.

1.4. Operational risk framework

1.4.1. General background

Under the current prudential framework, operational risk is broadly defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes (resulting from either internal staff or internal systems) or from external events¹⁹⁷. This risk usually encompasses a wide subset of more specific risks related to the daily functioning of banks, such as legal risk, conduct risk, IT risk, cyber risk and risk of fraud.

The capital requirements for operational risk under the CRR are based on the Basel II standards that were adopted by the BCBS in 2005. Under the CRR, EU banks can calculate their operational risk capital requirement using either an internal model approach subject to supervisory approval (the so-called advanced measurement approach (AMA)¹⁹⁸) or one of the three standardised approaches¹⁹⁹ with varying degrees of complexity. The requirements banks have to fulfil to use the AMA offer significant flexibility allowing banks to use a diverse range of modelling practices.

¹⁹⁶ Nevertheless, in its December 2019 CfA response, the EBA highlights that the impact of the final FRTB standards may be driven by the treatment for CIUs.

¹⁹⁷ Article 4(1), point (52) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013.

¹⁹⁸ The own funds requirements for operational risk are set out in Articles 312 to 324 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013.

¹⁹⁹ The Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) is the least complex of the three approaches, originally designed for small and non-complex banks. Under this approach, the capital requirement is equal to a percentage of a bank's GI indicator. In contrast, the Standardised Approach (TSA) is more sophisticated than the BIA as it allows a more granular treatment of the GI indicator. The alternative standardised approach (ASA), which is a variant of the TSA, allows banks with specific business models to use a simplified method to compute operational risk capital requirements.

According to the EBA Risk Assessment Report²⁰⁰ published in December 2020, operational risk accounted for around 10% of the total capital requirement of EU banks in June 2020, representing the second largest capital requirement after credit risk. The EBA also showed that the occurrence of operational risk events has almost tripled from 2014 to 2019 (see *Figure 10* below). However, during the same period, the amount of total losses from new events has significantly decreased: they represented 1.74% of the total CET1 amounts of EU banks in 2014 against 0.76% in 2019.

In their responses to the autumn 2020 Risk Assessment Questionnaire (RAQ), EU banks and analysts acknowledged the increased importance of operational risk over the last few years²⁰¹. In their responses, banks and analysts identified cyber-risks and data security as currently the main drivers of operational risk (other majors drivers identified include money laundering, terrorist financing, conduct risk and legal risk). Supervisors also consider operational risk as a key area of supervisory scrutiny, for instance as highlighted by through the key messages on the outcome of the ECB 2019 supervisory review and evaluation process (SREP)²⁰².

Figure 10. Total losses from new events in operational risk as a share of CET1 capital (right-hand side y-axis) and number of new events (left-hand side y-axis) over time.



Source: Risk Assessment of the European banking system, EBA, December 2020.

²⁰⁰ See Risk Assessment of the European Banking System.

²⁰¹ Over 58% of respondents share the view that the importance of operational risk has increased over recent years, marking the highest level of that perception as collected through of the autumn RAQs over the past three years.

²⁰² ECB: <u>The Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process in 2019 – Aggregate SREP outcome for 2019</u>, January 2020.

As observed by the BCBS²⁰³, the GFC highlighted some weaknesses in the capital requirements for operational risk under the Basel standards, which in many cases resulted in insufficient capital requirements to cover the actual operational risk to which banks were exposed to. Despite a significant increase in the number and severity of operational risk events observed after the GFC²⁰⁴, EU banks' capital requirements for operational risk have remained relatively stable afterwards.

An important weakness identified by the BCBS is the lack of risk-sensitivity in the calculation of operational risk capital requirements under the standardised approaches. Under those approaches, the capital requirements for operational risk are calculated as a percentage of the gross income (GI) indicator (basically, the positive annual gross income of a bank) to estimate operational risk exposures. In other words, the existing approaches are based on the assumption that banks' potential losses related to operational risk are linearly proportionate to their revenues. As a result, the decrease in banks' annual gross income during the GFC led to a mechanical decrease of the capital requirements for operational risk while at the same time banks suffered from an increase in actual losses due to operational risk events.

A second weakness identified by the BCBS is the inappropriate capture of potential operational risk losses by banks' AMA. The BCBS observed a wide variability of operational risk capital requirements calculated under banks' AMA. This is mainly due to the significant flexibility offered to banks in modelling AMA that led many banks to choose modelling assumptions that ultimately underestimate the actual risks they are exposed to²⁰⁵. As part of its 2019 SREP report, the ECB confirmed²⁰⁶ these findings for some SI under its direct supervision.

To address the above weaknesses of the current approaches, the BCBS adopted revised standards for operational risk as part of the final Basel III reforms. More specifically, the BCBS removed the use of internal models for operational risk and replaced the three existing standardised approaches with a single revised standardised approach, known as the Standardised Measurement Approach (SMA).

The SMA improves the risk-sensitivity of the current standardised approaches by combining²⁰⁷ two components to determine the capital requirement for operational risk: the Business Indicator Component (BIC), that takes into account the main elements of banks incomes and expenses, and the Internal Loss Multiplier (ILM), that takes into account banks historical operational risk losses.

²⁰³ The BCBS launched a number of comprehensive data collection on banks' operational losses after the GFC confirming the weakness of the international standards to appropriately capture this risk (see 2008 BCBS loss data collection exercise, 2010 BCBS QIS, 2015 BCBS QIS).

²⁰⁴ For instance, the BCBS showed that fines related to misconduct rose from less than EUR 10 billion in 2008 to more than EUR 60 billion in 2014 for a sample of 111 internationally active banks. The number of those fines surged from less than 20 in 2008 to almost 100 in 2015 (see Finalising Basel III – In brief).

²⁰⁵ See <u>Basel III Monitoring report – Results of the cumulative quantitative impact studies</u>

²⁰⁶ See <u>The Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process in 2019 – Aggregate SREP outcome for 2019</u>

²⁰⁷ The capital requirement for operational risk under the SMA is a simple product of the BIC and the ILM.

1.4.2. Implementation of the Internal Loss Multiplier (ILM)

Problem definition

In the development of the revised standards for operational risk, the BCBS collected some empirical evidence suggesting that banks that have experienced higher operational risk losses in the past were more prone to experience higher operational risk losses in the future. In light of this observation, the BCBS proposed that a bank's capital requirement for operational risk under the SMA should be somewhat proportionate to the bank's historical operational risk losses. The loss²⁰⁸ data are incorporated through the Loss Component (LC) in the formula defining the ILM. Basically, if a bank suffered large historical operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured by the BIC) the ILM would be greater than 1, which would ultimately increase the capital requirement for operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured by the BIC) the ILM would be lower than 1 which would ultimately decrease the capital requirement for operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured low historical operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured low historical operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured low historical operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured low historical operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured low historical operational risk losses (relative to its incomes and expenses as measured by the BIC) the ILM would be lower than 1 which would ultimately decrease the capital requirement for operational risk under the SMA.

The revised Basel standards for operational risk offer a number of discretions for the implementation of the SMA regarding the incorporation of historical operational risk losses. First, they allow each jurisdiction to disregard the use of the historical operational risk losses in the calculation of the capital requirements for operational risk of all 'bucket 2' and 'bucket 3' banks²⁰⁹ (mostly medium and large banks) by setting the ILM to 1. In jurisdictions where this discretion would be exercised, the capital requirement for operational risk under SMA of these banks would therefore be equal to their BIC component.

Second, the they allow each jurisdiction to incorporate the historical operational risk losses in the calculation of the capital requirements for operational risk of all 'bucket 1' banks (mostly small banks), for which the ILM is set to 1 by default, provided that they meet some requirements related to the collection and management of their operational risk loss data. The BCBS deemed that incorporating by default the use of the historical operational risk losses in the calculation of the capital requirements for operational risks under the SMA would make the approach too complex for those banks.

In addition, in jurisdictions that allow banks to incorporate the historical operational risk losses in the calculation of the capital requirements for operational risks, those banks may request their supervisors to disregard some of their historical operational risk events in that calculation. Specifically, those banks may increase the threshold to identify historical operational risk loss events (from EUR 20 000 to EUR 100 000) or remove exceptional events that they deem not to be representative in view of their current risk profile.

Policy options

²⁰⁸ More specifically, these loss data use the average annual operational risk losses incurred by the bank over the previous ten years.

²⁰⁹ The revised Basel standards for operational risk differentiate three groups of banks based on their Business Indicator (BI). Banks with a BI of less or equal to EUR 1 billion are assigned to bucket 1, while banks with a BI of more than EUR 30 billion are assigned to bucket 3. All other banks are assigned to bucket 2.

Baseline option – Maintain the discretions of the Basel standards to implement the historical operational risk losses

The baseline option would maintain the discretions offered to jurisdictions under the revised Basel standards to implement the historical operational risk losses. Under this option, supervisors would be allowed to disregard the use of the historical operational risk losses of their 'bucket 2' and 'bucket 3' banks. At the same time, they would be allowed to exercise the discretion to incorporate the historical operational risk losses of 'bucket 1' banks in the calculation of their capital requirements for operational risks. Furthermore, supervisors would be allowed to disregard some historical operational risk events and the corresponding historical operational risk losses in the calculation of the capital requirements for operational risk, at banks' request.

Option 1 - Implement ILM using historical operational risk losses under the SMA for all banks

Option 1 would exercise the discretions offered under the revised Basel standards in a harmonised way to allow the incorporation of historical operational risk losses for all EU banks, irrespective of their size. To recognise some differences between the operational risk profiles of EU banks (e.g. relating to the size of an average loss), this option would still allow supervisors to grant, under specific conditions, the permission for banks to increase the threshold to identify common historical loss events (from EUR 20 000 to EUR 100 000).

Option 2 – Disregard historical operational risk losses in the ILM component under the SMA for all banks

Similar to option 1, option 2 would also exercise the discretions offered under the revised Basel standards in a harmonised way across EU Member States. However, option 2 would propose to disregard the use of historical operational risk losses in the calculation of capital requirements for operational risk under the SMA by setting ILM to 1 for all EU banks. Under this option, the calculation of capital requirements for operational risks of EU banks would simply be based on the BIC component.

Impacts of and comparison across policy options

Under the **baseline option**, supervisors would be allowed to exercise the discretions related to historical operational risk losses in the revised operational risk framework for the banks they supervise. At present, it is not possible to quantify the impact of this option since it is not possible to predict how supervisors would exercise those discretions. However, if supervisors would take different decisions on the matter, it would lead to a fragmentation of the prudential framework and hence to an un-level playing field across the Union.

As compared to the baseline option, both **options 1 and 2** would improve the comparability of EU banks' capital requirements for operational risk and maintain a level playing field across the Union since banks would apply the same rules, irrespective of their location and their size.

Option 1 would improve the risk sensitivity of the prudential framework since it would take into account banks' past operational risk losses in the calculation of the capital requirements for operational risk. However, this option would lead to a material impact²¹⁰ on EU banks' capital requirements for operational risk: according to the EBA's 2020 CfA response, it would represent a weighted average increase of 3.8% in the total capital requirements of banks included in the EBA sample. More granular data from the EBA's August 2019 CfA response shows that option 1 would represent a weighted average increase of roughly 40% in the capital requirements for operational risk of EU banks.

As shown in the EBA's 2020 CfA response, option 1 would have a more significant impact on the capital requirements of large banks, particularly on G-SIIs due to high operational risk losses over the last 10 years²¹¹. For medium-sized banks, the impact would be almost neutral under this option, while for small banks there would be a decrease in capital requirement for operational risk²¹².

By default, the Basel SMA sets a EUR 20 000 threshold for the collection of losses that are used for the computation of the loss component. Under option 1, supervisors would be allowed to raise that threshold up to EUR 100 000. In its August 2019 CfA response, the EBA estimated that the impact of raising the threshold to EUR 100 000 for all the banks would slightly mitigate the impact of the revised operational risk framework under option 1.

Disregarding historical losses as suggested under **Option 2** would more than halve the impact estimated for option 1: the weighted average increase in the total capital requirements of EU banks included in the EBA sample would be reduced to 1.7%. While large banks would benefit from a large decrease in the impact compared to option 1, medium-sized banks would, in contrast, incur an increase in their capital requirements for operational risk compared to that option. 2.

Option 2 would simplify to a large extent the calculation of capital requirements for operational risk under the revised framework. However, the reduction of the operational burden for EU banks would be limited since they would be required to gather, maintain and disclose their operational losses history under option 2.²¹³

During the public consultations launched by the Commission, stakeholders expressed mixed views on the implementation of the ILM. Option 1 received some support from some

²¹⁰ This estimated impact may overestimate the actual impact since it does not take into account the flexibility of the revised Basel standards for banks to disregard certain events in their historical operational risk losses, upon supervisory approval.

²¹¹ It should also be noted the impact of option 1 may progressively decrease over time, since the sliding 10 years windows, of the large operational risk losses incurred by the largest EU banks occurred before 2017, by the end of the phase-in period the LCs of those banks would no longer include those losses which, all else being equal, should mean that their LC (and consequently their capital requirements for operational risk) would be significantly lower.

²¹² Note that the estimates for small banks has to be treated with caution in view of the limited number of these banks in the EBA sample.

²¹³ Note that banks already collect information on all their operational losses, irrespective of their size and they will almost certainly continue to do so in the future. So while option 2 would not decrease the administrative burden of banks, it would not increase it either.

Member States and medium-to small-sized banks, while large banks favoured option 2 (see Annex 2 for more details).

Table 16. Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	++	-	+	*
Option 2	+	+	++	+

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 16*, **option 2** is deemed to be the preferred policy option.

1.5. Credit valuation adjustment risk framework

1.5.1. General background

The credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is a fair-value accounting adjustment to the price of a derivative instrument, aiming to provision against potential losses due to the deterioration in the creditworthiness of the counterparty to that instrument. The value of CVA depends on the level of credit spread of the respective counterparty (an increase in the counterparty's credit spread would lead to an increase of CVA, and vice versa) but also on the market value of the derivative instrument (an increase in the derivative instrument value would lead to an increase of CVA, and vice versa). Therefore, CVA embeds several risks: the credit spread risk associated with the creditworthiness of the counterparty, but also the market risk associated with the derivative transaction (e.g. interest rate risk where the derivative transaction is an interest rate swap).

CVA is generally reflected in the price that banks charge to their clients for derivative transactions. Since CVA is a downward adjustment to the price, CVA losses are incurred by the bank when the value of CVA increases. Therefore, reducing the CVA is beneficial for both the bank and its clients: the bank reduces its potential future loss while the client lowers the cost for the transaction. CVA can be reduced naturally if a client improves its creditworthiness. But a bank may also further reduce CVA by the use of credit derivatives, which allow it to insure itself against client's losses, or by exchanging collateral with the counterparty to reduce the exposure of the derivative instrument. Furthermore, CVA risk (i.e. the risk of changes in the CVA value) can be mitigated using dynamic hedging strategies relying on various financial instruments associated with the different risks embedded in CVA (e.g. interest rates derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk of CVA).

CVA, and CVA risk, are complex to model and therefore to quantify. In fact, the quantification requires banks to model at the same time the probability of a counterparty's default over multiple future dates, the potential future market value of the associated

derivative instrument at those dates and the potential amount that the bank would recover from the liquidation of the instrument upon the counterparty's default. This high level of complexity led banks to develop a wide variety of models used for accounting purposes.

During the GFC, a number of systemically important banks incurred significant CVA losses because of the deterioration in the creditworthiness²¹⁴ of their counterparties. To ensure that banks' CVA risk would be covered with sufficient capital in the future, the BCBS introduced in 2011, as part of the first set of Basel III reforms, new standards to calculate capital requirements for CVA risk²¹⁵. In line with the Basel standards for other types of financial risk, the capital requirements for CVA risk can be calculated by banks using two different approaches: a standardised method and an advanced method (the latter being considered as an internal model approach). In contrast to the complexity of the modelling approaches used by banks to calculate CVA risk for accounting purposes, the BCBS decided to develop relatively simple standards to calculate the capital requirement for CVA risk in order to ensure a high comparability of outcomes across banks. The relevant Basel standard was transposed in Union law in 2013 through the CRR (hereafter 'current CVA risk accounted, on average, for around 2% of the total capital requirements of EU banks.

After its adoption by the BCBS, the standard of capital requirement for CVA risk has been criticised by banks and supervisors in most jurisdictions due to its inability to appropriately capture CVA risk. On the one hand, banks highlighted the lack of risk-sensitivity of the approaches to be used to calculate the capital requirements for CVA risk and complained about the non-recognition of their existing CVA models developed for accounting purposes, as well as of the hedging strategies they were using to reduce their CVA risks for accounting purposes. In their view, this led to an overstatement of the actual level of CVA risk they were exposed to. On the other hand, supervisors complained that the approaches only captured one type of CVA risk (i.e. the credit spread risk of the counterparty), neglecting the potentially material market risk embedded in the derivative transactions. In their view, this resulted in potentially too low capital requirements for CVA risk in certain cases.

To address those concerns, the BCBS published a revised standard for the calculation of capital requirements for CVA risk (hereafter 'revised CVA standard') in December 2017, as part of the final Basel III reform. The revised CVA standards introduced three new approaches for the calculation of capital requirements for CVA risks: the simplified approach, the basic approach (BA-CVA), and the standardised approach (SA-CVA).

²¹⁴ According to the BCBS, roughly two-thirds of losses that materialised on counterparty credit risk were attributed to CVA losses on non-defaulted counterparties whereas one-third was attributed to actual defaults of counterparties (see <u>https://www.bis.org/press/p110601.pdf</u>).

²¹⁵ Basel III, A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems, BCBS, 2011 (see <u>https://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs189.pdf</u>).

²¹⁶ EBA: Risk Assessment of the European Banking System, December 2020 (see https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Risk%20Analysis%20and%20Data/Risk%20Assessment%20Reports/2020/December%202020/961060/Risk%20Assessment Report December 20 20.pdf).

These approaches improve the calculation of capital requirements for CVA risk by:

- enhancing its risk sensitivity by taking into account the exposure component of CVA risk alongside with its associated hedges (in contrast to the current CVA framework captures only the credit spread risk of CVA);
- reflecting banks' existing CVA models developed for accounting purposes under SA-CVA (in contrast to the current CVA framework which is based on a prescribed formula); and
- introducing more proportionality in the prudential framework with the simplified approach. This approach would be available for banks with relatively low volumes of derivatives activities²¹⁷.

In the course of monitoring the expected impact of the revised CVA standard, the BCBS identified a few issues²¹⁸ that needed to be addressed. Following a public consultation²¹⁹ launched in December 2019, the BCBS revised certain elements of the standard and published a final version²²⁰ in July 2020 (hereafter 'final CVA standard'). These targeted revisions led to a significant decrease in the impact of the revised CVA standards and improved the consistency of the prudential framework. As part of its 2020 CfA response, the EBA recommended to implement those revisions in Union law. Similarly to the other elements of the final Basel III reform, the implementation deadline of the final CVA standard has been postponed to 1 January 2023 in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.5.2. Exemptions from the current CVA framework

Similarly to the original CVA standard, the final CVA standard adopted by the BCBS contains limited exemptions from the calculation of the capital requirement for CVA risk²²¹. By contrast, when adopting the current CVA framework in Union law via the CRR, the EU co-legislators exempted certain additional types of derivative transactions from the calculation of capital requirements for CVA risk. These were mostly transactions with counterparties that were exempted from the clearing/margining mandates under Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (also known as EMIR)²²². The exemptions were introduced to prevent a potential excessive increase in the cost of derivative transactions triggered by the introduction of the then new capital requirements for CVA risk.

²¹⁷ Under the Basel standard, the simplified approach is restricted to banks with less than EUR 100 billion of total nominal value of non-centrally cleared derivatives transactions.

²¹⁸ More specifically, the calibration of the revised CVA standard was deemed too high, leading to significant increase in capital requirements and not sufficiently aligned with the revised market risk framework. In addition, the treatment of fair-valued SFTs in the scope of the capital requirements, as well as the treatment of credit and equity indices as hedging instruments, were not considered adequate under the revised CVA standard. ²¹⁹ See https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d488.pdf.

²²⁰ See https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d507.pdf.

²²¹ Only derivatives transactions with qualified CCPs and with CCPs' clients where a bank acts as clearing member are exempted.

²²² The exemptions cover derivative transactions with EU Member States, certain local authorities, most non-financial corporates, and pension funds.

The exemptions did not affect the calculation of CVA under the accounting rules. Therefore, the actual CVA risk of the exempted transactions under the CRR may still be a source of significant risk for some banks that benefit from those exemptions; if those risks materialise, the banks concerned could suffer significant losses. As highlighted by the EBA in its report on CVA published in February 2015, these exemptions may have significantly decreased the capital requirements for CVA risk²²³ for EU banks. In its report, the EBA took the position, unchanged since then, that the CVA exemptions should be removed for prudential reasons. In 2017, the EBA started developing guidelines²²⁴ on how supervisors should assess the CVA risk of exempted transactions under the SREP; the guidelines were never finalised due to a presumed lack of legal basis in the CRR/CRD.

The CVA exemptions are one of the main reasons why, in 2014, the BCBS judged the EU implementation of the Basel III standards on capital requirements as materially non-compliant²²⁵.

Policy options

Option 1 - Remove the existing CVA exemptions

Under this option the CRR would be fully aligned with the final CVA standard, including through the removal of the existing additional CVA exemptions.

Option 2 - *Keep the existing CVA exemptions while reinforcing the monitoring of the corresponding risks*

Like under option 1, option 2 would also implement the final CVA standard in the CRR, but would keep the existing CVA exemptions contained in the CRR. In addition, to enhance the monitoring of CVA risk related to the exempted transactions, option 2 would require banks to report to their supervisors the calculation²²⁶ of capital requirements for CVA risk for those transactions. Finally, in consideration that the CRD V already clarified the rights for supervisors to impose supervisory measures for risks exempted from Pillar 1, option 2 would mandate the EBA to develop guidelines to help supervisors with the identification of excessive CVA risk. The guidelines would improve the harmonisation of supervisory action across the EU in this area.

Impacts and comparison across options

Option 1 would strengthen the capital position of EU banks by removing the current CVA exemptions. However, it would also lead to a significant increase in the capital requirements for EU banks: in its 2020 CfA response, the EBA estimated that removing the existing exemptions would lead to a weighted average increase of 2.1% in the total capital

²²³ See <u>The EBA advises the European Commission on Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) risk | European</u> <u>Banking Authority (europa.eu)</u>

²²⁴ <u>Guidelines on the treatment of CVA risk under SREP | European Banking Authority (europa.eu)</u>

²²⁵ See Regulatory Consistency Assessment Programme (RCAP) - Assessment of Basel III regulations -European Union (bis.org)

²²⁶ That is the calculation of capital required for CVA risks if the transactions were not exempted under CRR.

requirements of EU banks in the EBA sample. This would likely lead to an increase in the costs of derivative transactions, which may in turn lead bank clients that currently use derivatives for hedging their financial risks to reduce their use of derivatives or even stop using them altogether (the latter may be especially the case for those clients that cannot post collateral on their derivative transactions due to operational constrains).

Keeping the exemptions as proposed under **option 2** would significantly mitigate the impact of implementing the final CVA standard: the EBA estimated that under this option the weighted average increase would be reduced to 0.5% of the total capital requirements. While option 2 would not address the issue of the CVA risk of the exempted transactions, it would provide supervisors with additional guidance on how to address cases of excessive CVA risk with Pillar 2 measures.

Stakeholders' views are mixed on what to do with the CVA exemptions: Member States' views are split, the supervisory community (including the ECB and the EBA) supports option 1, while the EP and the banking sector support option 2 (see Annex 2 for more details).

 Table 17. Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	++	-	*	\approx
Option 2	+	++	++	++

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 17*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option.

1.6. Minimum haircut floor framework for SFTs

Problem definition

Non-bank financial intermediation can, if appropriately conducted, help to diversify the funding sources of corporates and households. In addition, it may stimulate competition, which ultimately supports real economic activity, and help distributing financial risks across a wider range of investors and lenders. Since the GFC, this source of financing has become an increasingly important alternative to banks²²⁷.

This surge of activity outside the banking sector has raised concerns in the regulatory community that non-bank financial intermediation may also become a source of systemic

 $^{^{227}}$ The assets of the money market and investment funds and other non-bank financial institutions sector in the EU almost doubled from EUR 23 trillion in 2008 to EUR 39 trillion by the Q3 2020 (see ECB statistical data warehouse:

risk, given that this sector is usually subject to less stringent supervision, if any, and hence potentially more prone to pro-cyclicality and the build-up of excessive leverage.²²⁸ This is particularity true if this sector engages in activities that are typically performed by banks, such as liquidity and maturity transformation.

One element that can contribute to the potential build-up of leverage created outside the banking sector are so-called SFTs²²⁹. SFTs are collateralised bilateral transactions, whereby cash, securities or commodities are transferred from one counterparty (transferor) to the other counterparty (transferee), and the transferee provides collateral in the form of cash or securities to the transferor. SFT markets play an essential role in the EU financial system by allowing financial intermediaries to manage their own liquidity position and support their securities market-making activities. They also allow central banks to transmit, via financial intermediaries, their monetary policy to the real economy.

According to the EBA's August 2019 CfA response, repurchase agreements (so-called 'repos' and their counterparts 'reverse repos'), are the most important type of SFTs used by EU banks in terms of trading volumes²³⁰ (see

²²⁸ See for instance, <u>EU Non-bank Financial Intermediation Risk Monitor 2019</u>, ESRB, July 2019

²²⁹ See <u>Report on securities financing transactions and leverage in the EU</u>, ESMA, October 2016.

²³⁰ A more comprehensive estimate of the European repo market (including both repos and reverse repos) is provided by the ESBR, with a total value amounting to EUR 8.3 trillion at the end of 2019 (see <u>EU Non-bank</u> Financial Intermediation Risk Monitor 2020)
Figure **11**). Repos are particularly useful for banks as they offer a secured alternative to unsecured interbank lending to manage their funding and liquidity needs. Institutional investors and non-financial counterparties also use the repo markets, usually to invest their excess cash. The second most important type of SFTs in the EU are securities lending and borrowing. In contrast to repos, securities lending and borrowing are motivated by the demand from financial intermediaries for a particular type of securities, instead of a funding need.

Figure **11** also shows that outstanding SFT market activities are highly concentrated within large banks, in particular within G-SIIs and O-SIIs. In addition, *Figure 12* shows the wide range of EU banks' counterparties in SFTs, which differ significantly across SFT types. Repos traded by EU banks, of which a significant portion is cleared through central counterparties, has the widest range of counterparties. In contrast, securities lending/borrowing and margin lending/borrowing transactions of EU banks are more concentrated with one type of counterparties (other banks for the former, unregulated financial intermediaries for the latter).

Figure 11: Breakdown of outstanding SFTs volumes across EU banks, by SFT type and bank size



Source: Basel III reforms: Impact study and key recommendations, August 2019, EBA. Note: for each type of SFTs, volumes are expressed in gross amount of one of the two legs of the SFT.

Figure 12: Breakdown of EU banks' counterparties in their outstanding SFTs, by counterparty type and SFT type.



Source: Basel III reforms: Impact study and key recommendations, August 2019, EBA. Note: for each type of SFTs, the % of total gross amount of outstanding SFTs

While the merits and the importance of SFTs are widely recognised, SFTs can also enable financial intermediaries to recursively leverage their positions by reinvesting the cash received through an SFT to borrow new securities via other SFTs. Such strategy can create opaque interconnectedness²³¹ between the banking sector and the less regulated or unregulated non-bank financial sector which could go unnoticed by supervisory authorities and which could increase risk of financial contagion during stressed market conditions.

In order to reduce the build-up of leverage outside of the banking sector in the EU, the Financial Stability Board (FSB) published in 2013 a number of prudential recommendations

²³¹ An illustration of this interconnectedness has been provided by the ESRB as the volume of EU banks' repo liabilities to non-Money Market Funds and other financial institutions amounting to EUR 44 billion at the end of 2019 (see <u>EU Non-bank Financial Intermediation Risk Monitor 2020</u>).

for the SFT market²³². One of these recommendations was to introduce of minimum haircut floors framework for specific SFTs between banks and non-bank financial counterparties²³³, either directly via a market regulation or indirectly via a more punitive capital treatment of SFTs not meeting the minimum haircut floors that was developed by the BCBS. The choice of the implementation approach was left to each FSB member jurisdiction.

More specifically, the FSB recommended to require banks that engage in non-centrally cleared SFTs in which they provide financing to non-bank financial counterparties against collateral other than government securities ('in-scope SFTs') to obtain from these counterparties a certain minimum amount of over-collateralisation²³⁴. This additional collateral amount mainly would depend on the type of collateral received as well as its remaining maturity.

For those jurisdictions that would choose to implement the SFT minimum collateral haircuts recommendation via market regulation, banks would no longer be allowed to conduct inscope SFTs with non-banks financial counterparties that would not comply with the defined minimum level of collateralisation, i.e. where non-banks financial counterparties do not provide the minimum amount of over-collateralisation. In contrast, those jurisdictions that would choose to implement the SFT minimum collateral haircuts recommendation via the implementation of the Basel standard, banks would still be allowed to conduct in-scope SFTs with non-banks financial counterparties that would not comply with the defined minimum level of over-collateralisation, but these transactions would be treated as unsecured loans under the Basel standard (rather than secured exposures under the normal treatment). As a consequence, the capital requirements for the non-compliant SFTs would significantly increase, creating a strong disincentive for banks to conduct such transactions. The final elements of the Basel III reform published in 2017 include a detailed methodology to verify whether SFTs comply with the minimum collateral haircuts agreed by the FSB, including for cases where multiple SFTs are subject to a master netting agreement²³⁵.

Due to its connection with the Basel standards, the initial implementation deadline of the FSB recommendation has been aligned with the implementation deadline of the final Basel III reform, i.e. 1 January 2022. The FSB later postponed the deadline by one year²³⁶ to align it with the postponement of the deadline for implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform decided by the BCBS in March 2020 in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

²³² FSB: <u>Strengthening Oversight and Regulation of Shadow Banking</u>, 29 August 2013.

²³³ Another FSB recommendation suggested the introduction of the same minimum collateral haircuts for specific SFTs between non-bank and non-bank financial counterparties, but this time only via a market regulation since no counterparties to the SFTs would be subject to the Basel standard.

²³⁴ To ensure a level playing field, the SFTs that do not meet the minimum amount of over-collateralisation (in other words, that do not comply with the minimum haircut floors) should be identified in the same way by banks whether their authorities decide to introduce the minimum haircut floors framework for SFTs via a market regulation or by implementing the Basel standard.

²³⁵ While verifying the compliance with the minimum collateral haircut requirement is relatively simple for a single SFT, it becomes more complicated where multiple SFTs are included in a master netting agreement. In fact, in this case, compliance has to be verified at portfolio level, taking into account the various collateral types included in all the SFT subject to the master netting agreement.

²³⁶ See FSB extends implementation timelines for securities financing transactions - Financial Stability Board

Policy options

Baseline option - No changes to the EU regulatory framework

The baseline option does not entail any policy changes or regulatory initiatives to reduce the potential build-up of leverage outside of the banking sector in the EU. In this situation, the build-up of leverage outside of the banking sector may continue to persist or even intensify.²³⁷

Option 1 - Introduce the minimum haircut floors framework for SFTs, either via the prudential framework applicable to banks or via a market regulation

The EU already adopted a number of the FSB recommendations in 2015 via Regulation (EU) 2015/2365²³⁸, also known as the Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR). However, the SFT minimum collateral haircuts framework are not yet implemented. Option 1 would therefore introduce the SFT minimum collateral haircuts framework in Union law, either via a market regulation (requiring amendments to either SFTR or MIFIR, or introduced via a new regulation) or via the implementation of the relevant standard of the final Basel III reform in the CRR.

Option 2 - Postpone the introduction of the minimum haircut floors framework until sufficient data on impacts are available

In its dedicated report on the implementation of the minimum collateral haircut framework published²³⁹ in August 2019 as part of its CfA response, the EBA highlighted the lack of clarity of certain aspects of the minimum haircut floors framework for SFTs, in particular regarding the scope of SFTs that must be subject to the framework. Some of these aspects have been clarified by the FSB in a technical guidance published²⁴⁰ in November 2019.

The EBA's opinion is consistent with the conclusions of a report²⁴¹ mandated by SFTR and published by the Commission in 2017 on progress in international efforts to mitigate the risks associated with SFTs, including on the implementation of minimum haircut floors framework for SFTs. In this report, the Commission highlighted that it is not clear whether the prudential objectives of the minimum collateral haircut framework (i.e. reduction of the potential leverage outside the banking sector) could be attained without the risk of creating undesirable consequences on EU SFT markets. This report stressed the need to assess the impacts of introducing this framework in Union law on the basis of a wider set of more granular data which will be available once the reporting requirements set out under SFTR become effective. For credit institutions established in the EU, the SFTR reporting requirement started recently, in April 2020, following the adoption of technical standards developed by

²³⁷ Available data does not suggest that the level of leverage outside the banking sector will decrease on its own over time.

²³⁸ Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 on transparency of securities financing transactions and of reuse and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012.

 ²³⁹ See EBA: <u>Policy Advice on the Basel III Reforms on Security Financing Transactions (SFTs)</u>, August 2019.
 ²⁴⁰ See Annex 2, in <u>SFT minimum haircut standards - Technical Guidance (fsb.org)</u>

²⁴¹ See Register of Commission Documents - COM(2017)604 (europa.eu)

the ESMA specifying its operational details. The ESMA expressed a similar preference in its 2016 report on SFTs²⁴².

Taking into account the above elements, option 2 would propose to postpone the introduction of the minimum haircut floors framework in Union law until EBA and ESMA jointly report to the Commission by [*one year after entry into force of CRRIII*] on the appropriateness of the two implementation approaches recommended by the FSB to implement this framework (i.e. a market regulation or a more punitive treatment of capital requirement under the Basel standards) to reduce the potential build-up of leverage outside the banking sector while avoiding undesirable consequences on the functioning of the EU SFT markets. This report will exploit as much as possible the data collected by the ESMA via the SFTR reporting requirements.

Based on the findings of this report, the Commission would propose a new legislative initiative by [*two years after entry into force of CRRIII*] to implement the minimum collateral haircut framework for SFTs in Union law. This proposal would take the form of an amendment to the prudential framework, in case the Commission would propose to implement this framework via a punitive treatment of capital requirement. Alternatively, the Commission would propose the implementation of this framework via an amendment to an existing market regulation or, if necessary, a new market regulation.

Impacts and comparison across options

The **baseline option** would have no direct impact on EU banks' capital requirements since no change would be made to the prudential framework. However, no prudential measures would be introduced to reduce the build-up of leverage outside of the banking sector in the EU, as recommended by the FSB. This option would provide no further indication when the EU would fulfil the FSB recommendation to address this issue, which may further undermine market confidence in the EU financial system.

As shown in

²⁴² ESMA: <u>Report on securities financing transactions and leverage in the EU</u>, October 2016.

Figure **13** below, the EBA estimated that only a small proportion of all the SFTs (i.e. 7.4% of total gross amount of outstanding SFTs) currently traded by EU banks would qualify as inscope SFTs, i.e. would fall under the minimum haircut floors framework as implemented under **option 1**. However, this amount would still be large when measured in terms of risk (as shown in *Figure 14* below, it represents roughly 20% of the total RWAs of outstanding SFTs).



Figure 13: Proportions of in-scope SFTs, by SFT type (% of total gross amount of outstanding SFTs).

Source: EBA, Basel III Reforms: Impact Study and Key Recommendations, August 2019.

Figure 14: Breakdown of SFTs RWA subject to the minimum haircut floors (expressed as % of total current SFTs RWAs)



Source: EBA, Basel III Reforms: Impact Study and Key Recommendations, August 2019

Under option 1, EU banks would be subject to new regulatory constraints on their SFT activities as compared to the baseline option which is likely to be more costly. However, the impacts between the two possible implementation approaches would differ.

If option 1 would take the form of the implementation of the Basel standard, the EBA estimated as part of its August 2019 CfA response that this would result in a significant increase in the capital requirements for those SFTs that would not comply with the minimum haircut floor framework. Specifically, it would lead to a weighted average increase in RWAs of for those transactions of approximately 180%, representing a weighted average increase of more than 35% on the full SFTs portfolio of EU banks in the EBA sample (see "Basel III central scenario" in). As estimated by the EBA, this increase would be largely mitigated if all

EU banks were to receive all the required additional collateral amount on the in-scope SFTs that do not currently comply with the minimum haircut floors to be compliant (see "Alternative scenario" in *Figure 15*).

If option 1 would take the form of a market regulation, EU banks would be required to receive more collateral to continue engaging in the SFTs transactions that are currently noncompliant with the minimum haircut floors ('first scenario'). Otherwise, those transactions would no longer be permitted ('second scenario'). Therefore, the impact of this implementation approach would fall between the impacts under those two scenarios. In case of the first scenario, the impact in terms of capital requirements would be similar to the impact under above-mentioned "Alternative scenario" (see *Figure 15*). In case of the second scenario, the volume of SFTs that do not comply with the minimum haircut floor framework would drop to zero, which would in turn result in a small reduction in the RWAs of the overall SFTs portfolio (see *Figure 14*).

A market regulation approach to implement the minimum haircut floor for SFTs may be more advantageous than the Basel standard approach from a level playing field perspective. In fact, the FSB also recommended their member jurisdictions to implement the minimum haircut floor for SFTs between non-banks. This can only be done via a market regulation since nonbanks are usually not subject to the prudential framework applicable to banks (neither in the EU nor elsewhere). For these reasons, a number of respondents to the public consultation supported the implementation of the minimum haircut floor for SFTs in the EU via a market regulation that would apply to both banks and non-banks engaging in SFTs.

Figure 15. Impacts of the minimum haircut floor framework on the capital requirements of SFTs as implemented in the prudential framework under option 1. Expressed in % change of RWAs on individual group of SFTs (left-hand side) and on all the SFTs portfolio (right-hand side)



Source: EBA, Basel III Reforms: Impact Study and Key Recommendations, August 2019.

It should be noted that the above estimated impacts do not represent a comprehensive picture of the real impact of the minimum haircut floor framework for SFTs since the sample of EU banks providing data on the minimum haircut floor framework for SFTs as part of the CfA QIS was relatively limited (only 39 out of the 189 banks participating to the CfA QIS). In addition, the impact on non-banks has yet to be estimated. A reliable analysis would require a broader data collection than the one performed by the EBA.

In addition, some respondents to the Commission's 2019 public consultation stressed that the minimum haircut floors framework could render some types of SFTs uneconomical due to the nature of those transactions. In particular, securities lending transactions, which are not undertaken to provide financing but rather to source a specific security, may be particularly affected by this reform (as shown in

Figure **11**, they represent the second most traded type of SFTs in the EU). Those respondents' concern was that a potential lender of a security, which is typically a non-bank, could refrain from engaging in this type of transactions if its ability to apply an appropriate haircut on the borrowing counterparty, which is usually a bank, would be restricted due to a minimum haircut floor applied on the lending side of the transaction.²⁴³

Postponing the implementation of the minimum haircut floors framework for SFTs as proposed under **option 2** would preserve the status quo meaning that no capital or market impact would occur for now. The additional time would allow to carry out a comprehensive assessment by the EBA and the ESMA of the impact of the implementation of the minimum haircut floor framework in the EU and of potential issues with the framework, based on sufficient supporting evidence from both banks and non-banks engaging in the EU SFTs markets. Option 2 would provide the indication to the FSB and EU banking sector that this framework would be implemented once the assessment would be performed, so it would not bring in question our commitment to implement the FSB recommendations.

Table 18: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	*	-	+	*
Option 2	+	+	+	+

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; -- strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 18*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option.

1.7. Standardised approach for counterparty credit risk

Problem definition

In 2014, the BCBS adopted²⁴⁴ a new standardised approach to calculate the capital requirements for counterparty credit risk of derivative transactions, the so-called standardised approach for counterparty credit risk (SA-CCR). Under the SA-CCR, the exposure value of a derivative transaction is given by the sum of two components, the replacement cost (RC) and the potential future exposure (PFE), multiplied by a supervisory parameter ('alpha', equal to 1.4).

²⁴³ According to both the FSB recommendation and the Basel standard, the minimum haircut has to be applied on the non-bank side of the transaction in order to reduce the amount of financing that could be obtained against a certain amount of collateral. In the example at hand, this would be the lending side of the transaction. ²⁴⁴ BCRS: The standardised approach for measuring counterparty credit risk exposures. April 2014

²⁴⁴ BCBS: <u>The standardised approach for measuring counterparty credit risk exposures</u>, April 2014.

The SA-CCR addresses deficiencies identified by the BCBS in the former standardised approaches to calculate the capital requirements for counterparty credit risk, mainly their lack of risk sensitivity. In addition for the purpose of calculating capital requirements for counterparty credit risk, the SA-CCR is used in other parts of the Basel framework, namely the large exposures standard, the leverage ratio standard, the standard on capital requirements for exposures to central counterparties and, starting from 1 January 2023, the output floor (since the output floor relies on the capital requirements of a bank calculated using all the standardised approaches of the Basel framework, as explained in Section 1.8 of this Annex).

In the EU, the SA-CCR was adopted in May 2019 as part of the CRR II, in full compliance with the Basel standard. Starting from 28 June 2021, EU banks are required to use the SA-CCR to calculate the exposure values of their derivative transactions, unless they have been granted the permission to use the internal model approach²⁴⁵ for counterparty credit risk (generally used by EU banks with the largest derivative portfolios) or are eligible to use one of the simpler standardised approaches²⁴⁶ available under the CRR (generally used by EU banks with very small derivative portfolios). In the absence of a comprehensive assessment of the impact of the SA-CCR across the prudential framework at the time it was adopted, the CRR2 mandated the EBA to report to the Commission on the appropriate calibration of the SA-CCR by June 2023²⁴⁷.

The EU banking sector have expressed concern about the potential impact of the SA-CCR in their responses to the two consultations organised by the Commission. In particular, stakeholders have called for a review of the calibration of the SA-CCR in general and of the alpha parameter in particular. In their view, the difference in calibration between the SA-CCR and the internal model approach for counterparty credit risk is particularly important compared to the calibration between the standardised approaches and internal model approaches for other risks.²⁴⁸ With the forthcoming implementation of the output floor into the European prudential framework, that difference may become significant, as the standardised approaches would potentially constrain the outcome of internal models. A disproportionate increase in capital requirements for derivative transactions due to the interplay between SA-CCR and the output floor might in turn translate into significant price increases for end-user and thereby reduce their incentives to use derivative transactions to hedge their financial risks.

²⁴⁵ The internal model approach for counterparty credit risk, so-called Internal Model Method (IMM) is set out in Section 6, Chapter 6 of Title II of Part Three of the CRR. It should be noted that banks that have been granted the use to IMM to calculate the exposure value of their derivative transactions would still be required to use SACCR in some areas of the prudential framework, e.g. for the calculation of the leverage ratio.

²⁴⁶ The eligibility criteria to use those approaches are set out in Article 273a of CRR

²⁴⁷ See Article 514 of CRR.

²⁴⁸ For other types of risk, the ratio between the capital requirements produced by the standardised approach and those produced by the corresponding internal model is, on average, around 1.5:1, whereas for counterparty credit risk it is, on average, around 2:1.

Against this background, the CMRP adopted by EU co-legislators in February 2021 asked the Commission to review the calibration of SA-CCR²⁴⁹ before its application in Union law, taking into account the international level playing field.

Policy options

Baseline option: No changes to the SA-CCR calibration

Under the baseline option, no changes would be made to the calibration of the SA-CCR. The Commission would review the impact and calibration of the SA-CCR at a later stage, on the basis of the dedicated EBA report due by June 2023, as mandated in the CRR II.

Option 1 - Revise permanently the calibration of SA-CCR

Option 1 would permanently lower the overall calibration of the SA-CCR for all derivative transactions across the prudential framework. A simple way to lower the overall calibration would be to reduce the value of the alpha parameter, as requested by the banking sector.

Option 2 - Adjust temporarily the calibration of the SA-CCR in the context of the output floor only

Under option 2, the calibration of the SA-CCR would be lowered temporarily for all derivative transactions. Like in case of option 1, this would be done by lowering the calibration of the alpha parameter. However, the lower calibration under option 2 would only be applied when the SA-CCR would be used in the calculation of the output floor; when the SA-CCR would be used in other parts of the prudential framework, the calibration of the alpha parameter would stay at 1.4 as adopted under the CRR II. Under this option, the Commission would take into account the evidence to be collected by the EBA and the conclusions of the report to be delivered by the EBA by June 2023, to inform its decision on whether the calibration of SA-CCR should be permanently revised across the prudential framework.

Impacts and comparison across options

While SA-CCR improves the calculation of the exposure value of derivative transactions across the prudential framework, the **baseline option** would likely result in an increase in capital requirements for banks using the internal model approach for counterparty credit risk due to the use of the SA-CCR in the context of the OF^{250} . This could increase the costs of derivatives transactions for end users, which could force end users to reduce the amount of hedging they do with derivatives or potentially stop using derivatives for hedging altogether.

Compared with the baseline option, **option 1** would lead to a permanent decrease in the exposure value of derivative calculated using SA-CCR (of up to roughly 30% in case alpha would be recalibrated to 1) across the prudential framework. As a result, the capital requirements of derivatives transactions based on the SA-CCR would decrease, while the

²⁴⁹ See <u>EUR-Lex - 32021R0337 - EN - EUR-Lex (europa.eu)</u>

²⁵⁰ Banks that use one of the standardised approaches for calculating exposure values of derivatives transactions would not be affected under the baseline scenario.

treatment of derivatives transactions under the large exposure or leverage ratio frameworks would become less binding. At the same time, the impact of the output floor for banks using internal models for counterparty credit risk would be lowered. The overall impact for individual banks would depend on the extent to which they would use the SA-CCR, which has not been assessed by the EBA as part of the CfA QIS. The revised calibration may, in turn, lower the trading costs for end-users (provided that banks would pass at least part of the capital reduction on to their clients). In addition, for banks using the internal model approach to calculate their capital requirements for counterparty credit risk, the introduction of the output floor would, overall, be less constraining under this option. While option 1 would address the concerns raised by the EU banking sector about the SA-CCR calibration and, to some extent, respond to the request of the EU co-legislators to review the SA-CCR calibration, this option would provide a blanket approach that would not be supported by empirical evidence and hence would be difficult to justify. In particular, the revised calibration of SA-CCR would however not benefit from the evidence to be established by an EBA report which is due alongside with potential recommendations, only by June 2023.

In addition, option 1 could lead to a material reduction in capital requirements for counterparty credit risk of EU banks. The prudential framework already provides exemptions from the capital requirements for CVA risk for an important number of derivative transactions (see Section 1.5 of this Annex). Introducing a further deviation on those transactions with the proposed SA-CCR recalibration under option 1 could lead to a significant underestimation of risks associated with derivative transactions, notably in the absence of supporting evidence, and result in unjustifiably low capital requirements for EU banks that are large dealers of derivative transactions. In addition, such a change in the SA-CCR calibration would substantially deviate from the Basel standards, negatively impacting the international level playing field.

Compared to option 1, **option 2** would also lead to a decrease of the exposure value calculated using SA-CCR (of up to roughly 30% in case alpha would be recalibrated to 1), but only temporarily and only in the context of the calculation of the transitional period of the output floor. Although option 2 would not lower the SA-CCR calibration across the prudential framework in the short-term, this option would largely respond to the main concerns raised by EU banks. In the public consultation banks stressed the potential excessive increase in capital requirements due to the interplay between SA-CCR and the introduction of the output floor, translating in higher trading costs for their clients. The 5-year transitional period would offer sufficient time for an in-depth review of the calibration of SA-CCR based on t the EBA report and to further discuss this issue at international level.

Table 19. Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0

Option 1	+	++		*
Option 2	+	+	++	+

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 19*, **option 2** is deemed the preferred policy option.

1.8. Output Floor

Problem definition

A range of studies²⁵¹ conducted at both international and EU level found a wide variation in capital requirements across banks using internal models that cannot be explained solely by differences in the riskiness of banks' exposures. This variation makes it difficult to compare capital ratios across banks, questions their calculation and undermines confidence in capital ratios. The studies shed a light on large discrepancies in capital requirements for the same types of risks depending on how internal models were built and on the modelling assumptions underpinning them. This in turn raised level-playing-field concerns across globally active banks from different jurisdictions. It also contributed to impairing market confidence in the capital framework. The credibility of internal models further deteriorated, after they were identified as sources of endogenous risk and as one of the factors that fuelled the global financial crisis.²⁵² This was also due to the limited capacity of some supervisors to constrain modelling, so as to ensure that models accurately reflect the riskiness of individual bank's activities.

The variability also highlighted the ineffectiveness of the so-called Basel I floor, a measure that was introduced as part of the Basel II framework and has been implemented very heterogeneously across different regions and MS. The Basel I floor was aimed at ensuring that the capital requirements produced by internal models would not fall below 80% of the minimum capital requirements calculated under the Basel I standardised approaches. The Basel I floor was implemented in Union law, but expired²⁵³ by the end of 2017. However,, the Basel I floor did not achieve to reduce the variability in RWAs, mainly because of the way it was applied in practice.

²⁵¹ See <u>https://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs256.htm</u> and <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d363.htm</u> for benchmarking studies, as well as <u>https://eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/supervisory-benchmarking-exercises</u> for EBA benchmarking exercises.

²⁵² Danielsson, J., Hyun S.-S., and J.-P. Zigrand, "Endogenous and systemic risk", Quantifying systemic risk, University of Chicago Press, Chiacgo, 2012, pp. 73-94; Eichengreen, B., "Origins and responses to the current crisis", *CESifo Forum*, Vol. 9, No 4, ifo Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung an der Universität München, Munich, 2008, pp. 6-11.

²⁵³ Article 500(1) of the CRR contained a provisional measure for a floor that prevented the capital requirements calculated by using internally modelled approaches from falling below 80% of the minimum capital requirements as calculated under the Consolidated Banking Directive (which transposed the capital requirements under Basel I). The so-called "Basel I floor" which has been implemented very heterogeneously across different regions and MS, often in ways considered ineffective, expired at the end of 2017.

Under the current rules, supervisors have to approve the use of internal models and assess whether they comply with the applicable requirements. Supervisors have to assess whether banks measure risks correctly and consistently. Where deficiencies of a model are identified, they may require additional capital or apply other measures to address the situation case-by-case. Significant efforts are being undertaken by the EBA²⁵⁴ and competent authorities including the ECB²⁵⁵ to ensure a harmonised application of the rules on internal models and to mitigate the concerns about variability in RWAs. While those efforts are improving the situation, variability among internal model outputs (across asset classes and risk-categories) remains thereby undermining confidence in internal models used by banks in the EU.

Policy options

Baseline option: No risk-based backstop to internal models

The baseline is the current prudential framework, which – since the expiry of the transitional provision on the Basel I floor – does not entail a risk-based backstop that would limit the capital benefit an institution may obtain by using internal models, compared to using the standardised approaches.

Option 1 - Implement the OF over the 5-years phase-in at the highest level of consolidation taking into account all the risk-based capital requirements contained in EU law

Under this option, the OF would apply to total RWAs, limiting the variations – be they justified or not – between banks for the same underlying risks. This would produce floored RWAs to be used for the calculation of the stack of all the risk-based capital requirements contained in the EU prudential framework, including those that are not or not explicitly set out in the Basel framework: the minimum capital requirement (the so-called 'Pillar 1 requirement'), the capital conservation buffer (CCB) requirement, the countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB) requirement, the buffer requirements for global systemically-important and other systemically-important institutions (G-/O-SIIs), as well as bank-specific capital requirements imposed by supervisors ('Pillar 2 requirement' or P2R) and the systemic risk buffer (SyRB) requirement²⁵⁶.

As the P2R and they SyRB requirement can be used to address risks that are similar in nature to those addressed by the OF, there is a possibility that certain risks (e.g. model risk) could be

²⁵⁴ EBA, Progress report on IRB roadmap – Monitoring Implementation, Reporting, and Transparency, July 2019, <u>https://eba.europa.eu/eba-publishes-report-on-progress-made-on-its-roadmap-to-repair-irb-models</u>.

²⁵⁵ The ECB's targeted review of internal models (TRIM) is a multi-year project to ensure that capital requirements for banks using internal models are calculated correctly, consistently and in a comparable manner, for more details see e.g. https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/press/publications/newsletter/2019/html/ssm.nl190515 6.en.html.

²⁵⁶ Separately, the same RWAs would also be used for the calculation of the risk-based total loss-absorbing capacity (TLAC) requirement. In the EU, the TLAC standard adopted by the FSB has been implemented through a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL). The MREL consists of own funds and part of a bank's liabilities. If a bank fails and goes into resolution, the MREL acts as a buffer to absorb losses and to provide new capital to the bank. This ensures that the costs of failure of a bank will as much as possible be borne by the bank's investors, i.e. its shareholders and creditors. While a harmonised minimum level of MREL for G-SIIs is introduced into CRR, the MREL for other institutions is regulated in BRRD and SRMR.

double-counted once the OF starts to apply. The CRR/D would therefore prescribe that any double counting of the risks captured by the OF and the risks captured by any of the other requirements – notably those imposed by supervisors under Pillar 2 and the macro-prudential framework²⁵⁷ – must be avoided (see example in **Error! Not a valid bookmark self-reference.**, P2R currently addressing model risk would be consumed by the OF). In case double-counting would be present, supervisors would need to reduce the requirements that double-count the risks that would be already captured by the OF. The EBA's advice²⁵⁸ includes a specific recommendation to supervisors to this effect and calls on them, more generally, to reconsider the appropriate level of P2R and the SyRB requirement in light of the OF, once it would apply.²⁵⁹ Furthermore, any increase of the P2R and/or SyRB requirement that do not stem from the increase in risks but from the increase in RWAs following the introduction of the OF would need to be neutralised.

In concrete terms, the following actions would take place once an institution would become bound by the OF:

- the P2R and the SyRB requirement would be "frozen" to avoid automatic (also referred to as "arithmetic") increases in the nominal amount of regulatory capital required under those two requirements. Without this freezing, the increase in RWAs due to the OF would also push up the EUR amount required under the SyRB and the P2R (in the latter case only if the requirement is calculated as a percentage of RWAs; see "Basel III without adjustments" in **Error! Not a valid bookmark self-reference.**). This safeguard is justified by the fact that the increase in RWAs due to the institution becoming bound by the OF is, all else being equal, purely arithmetic and is not reflective of an actual increase in risks that would justify requiring additional capital from the institution²⁶⁰;
- the institution's competent authority would be required to review the calibration of the P2R and the competent or designated authority, as applicable, will be required to review the calibration of the SyRB requirement, respectively, to establish whether double-counting of risk is present, and if so, to re-calibrate those requirements to avoid such double-counting (see option 1 in **Error! Not a valid bookmark self-reference.**);

²⁵⁷ Besides the SyRB, authorities can revert to so-called "national flexibility measures" to address systemic risks stemming from the use of internal models. Specifically, a number authorities have introduced "floors" requiring banks that use internal models to apply minimum risk-weights to certain exposures (e.g. mortgages and/or corporates). Those measures increase the Pillar 1 capital requirements.

²⁵⁸ EBA, Policy Advice on the Basel III reforms: Output Floor, August 2019.

²⁵⁹ In cases where the OF will increase total RWAs supervisors would need to consider the effect on the absolute level of capital requirements.

²⁶⁰ Assume that today a bank needs to hold 2% of RWAs as additional capital, which amounts to EUR 1 billion of actual capital. Now, if RWAs for that bank increase by 20% due to the new OF, the 2% might suddenly go from EUR 1 billion to EUR 1.2 billion of actual capital. This increase would not reflect additional but represent a purely arithmetic effect that should be neutralised in the P2R calculations, cf. "Basel III – journey or destination?", Keynote speech by Andrea Enria, Chair of the Supervisory Board of the ECB, at the European Commission's DG Financial Stability, Financial Services and Capital Markets Union conference on the implementation of Basel III, November 2019, https://www.bankingsupervision.europa.eu/press/speeches/date/2019/html/ssm.sp191112_1~01be3b89b0.en.ht ml.

• the two requirements would remain frozen until the respective reviews would be concluded and the relevant decisions on the appropriate calibration of the requirements are announced.



Figure 16: Stylised example – functioning of the OF (option 1)

Notes: Dotted areas of the stack indicate the increase in capital demand driven by the increase in RWA due to the OF. This increase is expected to be neutralised for P2R/SyRB requirements. "P2R – Model risk" refers to the part of current P2R that would be removed due to an overlap with the OF.

Option 1 would also make use of the transitional arrangements for the OF provided by the Basel III standards on an optional basis, i.e. a 5-year transitional path until 2030 (see *Table 20*) for institutions to grow into and adjust to the OF requirement as well as a "transitory cap"²⁶¹ that temporarily prevents RWAs from increasing by more than 25% because of the OF.

Table 20: Phased-in implementation of the OF

	1 st Jan 2025	1 st Jan 2026	1 st Jan 2027	1 st Jan 2028	1 st Jan 2029	1 st Jan 2030
calibration	50%	55%	60%	65%	70%	72.5%

²⁶¹ During the phase-in period the incremental increase in a bank's total RWAs that results from the application of the OF would be capped. This transitional cap would be set at 25% of a bank's RWAs before the application of the floor.

As regards the level at which the OF would apply, option 1 would entail its application only at the highest level of consolidation in the EU, recognising the benefits of risk diversification across different entities and business models of entities within the same banking group. While the potential increase in capital, required due to the application of the OF at consolidated level, would have to be distributed fairly across the entities of the banking group taking into account their risk profile, capital requirements at sub-consolidated and individual levels would continue to be calculated based on RWAs that are not subject to the OF.

Option 2 - Implement the OF over the 5-years phase-in at all levels of application taking into account all risk-based capital requirements contained in EU law

Under this option, the OF would apply to all the risk-based capital requirements contained in EU law, including those that are not or not explicitly set out in the Basel framework. However, it would apply at all levels of application, i.e. at the consolidated, sub-consolidated and individual level, as it is the case for many other prudential requirements such as the leverage ratio.

Option 3 - Implement the OF as a parallel requirement applicable at the highest level of consolidation that takes into account only the risk-based capital requirements provided by the Basel framework ("parallel stack approach")

Under this option, two different overall capital requirements based on different stacks of capital requirements would be calculated, compared, and the higher of these two amounts would be the binding capital requirement.

- The first stack would reflect the sum of the risk-based capital requirements listed in the Basel standards as well as some elements of the P2R (e.g. risks which are exclusively covered under the risk-based Pillar 2 and excluded from Pillar 1 such as interest risk in the banking book, etc., or excessive model risk that are not fully addressed by the OF) calculated on the basis of floored RWAs;
- The second stack would represent the sum of all risk-based capital requirements applicable in the EU calculated in accordance with internally modelled approaches on the basis of non-floored RWAs.

The floor applies if the first stack results in a higher overall requirement (see *Figure 17*). Precondition for implementing this approach would be a clear decomposition of risks to be captured under the floored stack vs. the risks to be captured under the non-floored stack.

Figure 17: Stylised example – comparison of option 1 vs option 2



Notes: Dotted areas of the stack indicate the increase in capital demand driven by the increase in RWA due to the OF. This increase is expected to be neutralised for P2R/SyRB requirements. "P2R – Model risk" refers to the part of current P2R that would be removed due to an overlap with the OF.

Under option 3 the OF applied to the floored stack would be subject to the transitional arrangements for the OF provided by the Basel III standards.

Option 4 - Implement the OF as a parallel requirement that takes into account only the riskbased capital requirements provided by the Basel framework ("parallel stack approach") and apply at all levels

Under this option, the OF would be a parallel requirement applied only to the risk-based capital requirements that are explicitly listed in the Basel framework, like under option 3. However, it would apply at all levels of application, i.e. at the consolidated, sub-consolidated and individual level, as it is the case for many other prudential requirements such as the leverage ratio.

Impacts and comparison across options

The impact of either option ultimately depends on the extent to which supervisors actually adjust the requirements in their remit, in particular P2R, in view of the OF, which in itself depends on the specific risk-profile of each individual bank: Under Option 1, supervisors would adjust P2R and SyRB / other related macro-prudential capital requirements to avoid

double counting of risks. Under Option 2 supervisors would address some institutionsspecific risks by imposing P2R also for the calculation of the floored stack.

If the OF were implemented without any adjustments to the current percentage levels of P2R and/or SyRB and other related macro-prudential capital requirements, where applicable, EBA estimates marginal increase in capital requirements in the short term (i.e. at the beginning of the phase-in period in 2025 when the OF would be 50%) and of +6.7% in the long term at its steady-state implementation (see *Error! Reference source not found.* in section 6.1.).

However, with the two-step approach (1. no-double, 2. no-arithmetical increase) proposed under **Option 1**, the estimated increase would be lower, provided that supervisors make the adjustments described above. Option 1 would have a relatively low impact in the short-term, as the OF will be phased-in over a 5-year period. Option 1 would also limit the impact of the OF in the long-term: less than +5.7% average increase in capital requirements (as compared to +6.7% without the adjustments to P2R and buffer requirements). As Option 1 would implement the OF in the existing stack of capital requirements in the EU, the framework would be simple, transparent, and consistent with the Basel standards. The application of the floor at the highest level of consolidation in the EU would help limiting its impact and ensure coherence with the logic of the Banking Union where the redistribution mechanism would provide for a fair distribution of the additional capital across the various subsidiaries of the group according to their risk profile as if the floor would be applied at individual level²⁶².

Option 3 would give relatively more weight to modelling outcomes. This option would hence be less effective in addressing the identified problems with certain internal models. It would not fully capture banks that use more aggressive internal models, unless a specific Pillar 2 requirements would be added in the floored stack to this end, or banks with high P2R and SyRB requirements addressing other risks (than those associated with internal models):

- if the first (floored) stack based on floored RWAs leads to higher overall requirements, the risks supervisors have addressed through P2R or the SyRB could be effectively ignored in the binding capital requirement, depending on the requirements of the floored stack;
- if the second (non-floored) stack calculated on the basis of non-floored RWAs leads to higher overall requirements, it could be argued that the OF would be ignored (even though the OF would still be applied to the requirements set out in the Basel standards), even where the institution's internal model is particularly aggressive.

Furthermore, as the EBA highlighted Option 3 would increase the level of complexity as the bank would have to calculate and disclose two risk -based capital ratios, one for each stack. This could create confusion, in particular among investors and clients, in terms of trigger levels, such as for the conversion/write-down of Additional Tier 1 instruments or for calculating the minimum distributable amount (MDA). While Option 3 would allow investors

²⁶² This means that the distribution key for any additional capital required by the OF would depend on the contribution of each entity to the consolidated floor requirement.

to compare the RWAs of banks using internal models (as it is already the case for the baseline), the comparability of their risk-based capital ratios would actually be reduced as the binding requirement would be calculated for different capital stacks across institutions.

Options 1 and 3 would have both have a negligible impact in the short-term. Over the longterm, the impact of option 2 is likely to be lower than option 1, leading to an average increase in capital requirements of more than +1.5% but no more than +5.4%. Option 1 may therefore reduce banks' capital ratio in the steady state to a greater extent than Option 3, which might in turn lead to more scrutiny by markets when analysing the risk profile of the bank.

In its analysis in response to the Call for Advice, the EBA has only quantified comprehensively the impact of the implementing the OF at the highest level of consolidation due to difficulties to perform the quantitative analysis at all levels of application.

For banking groups with several levels of application (e.g. at EU-consolidated, MS-subconsolidated, and individual level) the total capital impact of applying the OF at all levels as implied by Options 2 and 4 will be higher than applying the respective approach only at the highest level of consolidation²⁶³. Applying the OF at all levels would likely lead to a higher increase in capital requirements compared to its application only at consolidated level, as it would also act on intra-group exposures and limit the possibility to consolidate risks across different parts of the banking group. This could have a disproportionate impact on certain group structures (e.g. regional banks in cooperative groups which use internal approaches) and subsidiaries with specific business models (e.g. real estate lending or leasing) and cause additional compliance burden (due to multiple calculations at parent and subsidiary level), as highlighted by the EBA in its advice. Applying the OF at all levels could furthermore distort the internal risk allocation of cross-border banking groups, in particular in case of large intragroup exposures, and contribute to a fragmentation of the single market.

Overall, the EBA's QIS results indicate that the OF complements other requirements, resulting in a broadly comparable impact of the revised Basel III framework for most business models. In terms of the objectives of reducing excessive RWA variability and promoting comparability of risk-weighted capital ratios, the QIS demonstrates that the OF under options 1 and 2 would raise the average RWs of institutions that are constrained by the floor. As a result, the RWs become more comparable across institutions using internal models. The QIS also show that the OF mitigates variability in internal modelling output for various portfolio types. The floor particularly constrains those institutions that tend to have lower RW densities²⁶⁴ than most of the other institutions using internal models.²⁶⁵

²⁶³ A simple explanation comes from a mathematical property of the maximum operator (used under the under which the maximum of two sums of values is lower than the sum of the maximum of the values composing

²⁶⁴ The RWA density is computed as the ratio of the total RWA over the current total asset of each bank. As the RWA changes under the different frameworks, the denominator is kept constant.

²⁶⁵ In particular, institutions that are constrained by the OF have, on average, a larger divergence between internally modelled RWs and standardised RWs on various portfolios (e.g. residential counterparties and specialised lending) than institutions that are not constrained by the OF.

	EFFECTIVENESS	EFFICIENCY (cost-effectiveness)	Coherence	OVERALL SCORE
Baseline option	0	0	0	0
Option 1	++	-	++	+
Option 2	++		+	~
Option 3	+	~	-	~
Option 4	+	~	-	~

 Table 21: Comparison of policy options against effectiveness, efficiency and coherence criteria

Magnitude of impact as compared with the Baseline option (the baseline is indicated as 0): ++ strongly positive; + positive; - strongly negative; - negative; \approx marginal/neutral; ? uncertain; n.a. not applicable

Preferred option

In light of the above analysis, which led to the overall score of each policy option in *Table 21*, **option 1** is deemed the preferred policy option.



EUROPEAN COMMISSION

> Brussels, 27.10.2021 SWD(2021) 320 final

PART 4/4

COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT

IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT

Accompanying the documents

Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions as regards requirements for credit risk, credit valuation adjustment risk, operational risk, market risk and the output floor

Proposal for a DIRECTIVE OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL amending Directive 2013/36/EU as regards supervisory powers, sanctions, third-country branches, and environmental, social and governance risks, and amending Directive 2014/59/EU

{COM(2021) 663 final} - {SEC(2021) 380 final} - {SWD(2021) 321 final}

ANNEX 6: SPECIFIC IMPACTS OF PREFERRED POLICY OPTIONS

1. Impact on administrative and operational costs

The different policy proposals included in this legislative initiative would impact administrative and operational costs in different ways.

Improving the current framework for calculating risk-based capital requirements would mainly lead to one-off operational cost to develop the new systems required to calculate the revised capital requirements introduced by the final elements of the Basel III reform. Furthermore, it would lead to moderate variations in running operational and administrative costs related to the prudential framework, as explained in this section.

Quantitative estimates to appropriately assess operational and administrative costs of those processes is not available²⁶⁶. The qualitative survey conducted by the EBA as part of their first response to the Commission Call for Advice²⁶⁷ (CfA) highlights that the EU banks' estimates of their operational costs of implementing the Basel III reforms are rather heterogeneous across the different elements of these reforms.

As shown in *Figure 1* below, banks participating in the survey consider that the implementation of reforms related to the credit risk framework (both the standardised and the internal model approaches) and the introduction of the output floor would lead to higher one-off operational cost than the implementation of reforms related to CVA risk, operational risk and the minimum haircut floor framework for SFTs. According to the survey, the estimated one-off operational costs would mainly be caused by adaptations to IT systems and by staff costs.

Figure 1 shows that the impact of the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform on recurring operational and administrative costs is considered to be low, negligible or even negative (i.e. a decrease in costs) for the vast majority of EU banks participating in the survey. In fact, the recurring operational and administrative costs of those reforms should even be lower than indicated in the survey since the survey did not take into account the EU specific adjustments²⁶⁸ proposed under the preferred option.

²⁶⁶ No comprehensive estimates of those costs have been provided by EU banks via the public consultations launched by the Commission on the final elements of the Basel III reform.

²⁶⁷ Basel III reforms: impact study and key recommendations, EBA, August 2019.

²⁶⁸ Some of those adjustments would further reduce the recurring operational and administrative costs by reducing the operational burden to calculate capital requirements, for instance in the area of operational risk with the historical loss component set to 1 or in the area of the CVA risk by maintaining the exemptions introduced in CRR.

Figure 1: One-off and recurring operational costs of the implementation of the final Basel III framework (% of total responses), by risk category



Source: Basel III reforms: impact study and key recommendations, EBA, August 2019

The actual impact on recurring operational and administrative costs would largely depend on whether EU banks would (be able to) continue to use the internal models to calculate their capital requirements under the revised prudential framework (those will be mainly the largest EU banks that already use internal models under the current prudential framework). Internal models are usually more costly to maintain than standardised approaches since they require more complex IT systems, more data processing from both internal sources and third-party service providers and more qualified staff to analyse the results of the models. Banks using internal models would likely see an increase in their recurring operational and administrative costs due to the introduction of the OF because the reform would require them to carry out additional calculations, namely of the riskbased capital requirements using the standardised approaches.

Banks that are currently using the internal models that would no longer be available under the new framework²⁶⁹ would see a reduction of their recurring costs. There would also be a corresponding reduction in costs of supervisors for approving and controlling those models. To the extent that banks would choose to abandon some of the models that would still be allowed under the new framework, those costs would be reduced even further. By contrast, banks that currently do not use internal models (the vast majority of small and medium-sized EU banks) would likely see no material change in recurring operational costs.²⁷⁰

²⁶⁹ The reform would limit the use of internal models for credit risk, and would no longer allow the use of internal models for operational risk and CVA risk.

²⁷⁰ To the extent that a bank that currently does not use internal models would choose to do so under the new framework (this may happen because the new rules would make it possible to introduce credit risk internal models for just certain types of asset classes), this would of course create one off and recurring costs for the bank. However, that would be the result of a conscious decision of the bank.

Incorporating ESG risks in the prudential framework would result in one-off administrative and operational costs for EU banks in order to set up the new processes associated with the monitoring and management of those risks. The increase in recurring costs, by contrast, would largely depend on the availability and format of the necessary information that banks would need to collect: the more easily available the information would be and the more friendly its format from a point of view of allowing automated collection and processing of that information, the lower the recurring costs for banks would be (and vice versa). By the time the revised framework would be in place and applicable, it is likely that the effects of some of the ongoing reforms in the ESG area (e.g. the revision of the Non-Financial Reporting Directive, the Taxonomy Regulation) would have put in place the necessary conditions to keep the costs of information collection contained.

Improving the consistency in the application of supervisory and sanctioning powers would increase to some extent the administrative and operational costs of EU banks since they would need to develop new procedures to comply with the requests of their supervisors that would be granted with new powers. However, a number of EU banks would already have developed such procedures since they operate in Member States that have already introduced similar powers in their national laws. The costs of cross-border banking groups would likely decrease as a result of the initiative as they would be subject to the same rules and procedures across Member States. Similarly, the initiative would also decrease the administrative and operational costs of supervisors in the SSM, since they would no longer have to apply 19 different national laws when exercising those powers. On sanctioning powers, no material new costs would be involved.

Centralising banks' disclosures at the level of the EBA based on the supervisory data collected in the context of the EUCLID would relieve small and non-complex banks from the administrative burden associated with mandatory disclosures, while having no cost impact for other banks. At the same time, it would reduce search costs for market participants.

In light of the above considerations, this legislative initiative would mainly entail one-off operational costs, due to the implementation of the new requirements, but would overall reduce the recurring administrative costs.

2. Impact on competitiveness

This section presents the impacts of the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in Union law on the competitiveness of EU banks within the EU banking sector as well as between EU banks and their international peers. The other measures proposed in this legislative initiative have a smaller impact²⁷¹ on competitiveness of EU banks since they mainly affect certain banks' compliance costs, which remain overall

²⁷¹ The measures related to supervisory and sanctioning powers would level the playing field for banks located in Member States that have given their competent authorities powers beyond those in the list contained in the CRD and banks in those Member States that have not done it.

contained, and they do not directly affect their ability to provide financial services to the real economy.

Impacts of the final Basel III reforms on competitiveness across EU banks

To understand better the profile of EU banks that would be impacted by the final elements of the Basel III reform, the updated EBA analysis provided a number of more granular impacts of the reform in addition to the overall impacts shown in Section 6.1. Three criteria²⁷² have been used by the EBA to differentiate the impacts across EU banks: size, business model and geographical location (i.e. the Member States in which the bank is established). In order to identify the drivers of the impacts across the different criteria, a breakdown of the impacts of the reforms per risk category²⁷³ is also included (the impact of each risk category is expressed as the percentage change in the total capital requirement (MRC) resulting from the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform related to this risk category).

This section compares the impacts of two implementation options across the above three criteria: the full alignment with the final Basel III reform option (option 1 in Section 5.2.1) and the preferred policy option (option 3^{274} in Section 5.2.1). The results of this analysis need to be interpreted taking into account a number of caveats:

- <u>limited sample of EU banks in the updated impact analysis</u>: the sample of banks included in the updated EBA impact analysis based on Q4 2019 data has been significantly reduced as compared to the original EBA impact analysis based on Q2 2018 data. As shown in Annex 7, certain categories across the three criteria did not include a sufficient number of EU banks to lead to representative results for these categories and are therefore not presented in the analysis of this section. The corresponding banks are nevertheless included in the overall impacts presented in Section 6.1. In addition, the impacts based on geographical location should be interpreted in light of the representativeness of the EU banks included in the EBA sample in terms of the total banking assets of its Member States, provided in Annex 7;
- <u>limited recognition of the EU specific adjustments</u>: while the Commission has broadly estimated the overall impact of the EU specific adjustments proposed under the preferred policy options on all EU banks that have not been quantified by the EBA (see *Error! Reference source not found.* in section 6.1), it was not

²⁷² More details about the definition of those criteria, and the breakdown of banks for each related category, are provided in Annex 7.

²⁷³ This breakdown include the following risk categories: credit risk under the standardised approach (SA), credit risk under the internal model approach (IRB), market risk (MKT), operational risk (OP), CVA risk (CVA), other risks including banks' exposure to central counterparties, securitisation risk and the effect on the leverage ratio (Other), and the introduction of the output floor (OF)

 $^{^{274}}$ As explained in Section 6.1, the impact of option 3 is the same as option 2 also presented in Section 5.2.1, the only difference being the implementation period, which is 2 years longer for option 3 as compared to option 2.

possible to reflect those impacts at more granular level due to the lack of the necessary information. The more granular impacts contained in this section under the preferred policy option therefore only include those EU specific adjustments that have been quantified by the EBA. As a consequence, the mitigating effects of the preferred policy option on the increase in capital requirements are underestimated;

• <u>limited analysis provided by the EBA in its report</u>: the EBA provided limited qualitative analysis on the drivers of the impacts depending on the different characteristics of EU banks. Therefore, the EBA qualitative analysis was complemented with the Commission service's own qualitative analysis, which could not benefit from access to individual banks' data.

As illustrated in *Figure 2* and *Figure 3* below, the main observations of the estimated impacts of the final Basel III reform across EU banks' size include:

- the impact of the reform would be materially higher for large banks, with the highest overall impact on G-SIIs, than for medium-sized and small banks under the full alignment option. This is mainly explained by a higher reliance of large banks on internal models to calculate capital requirements. The higher impact would be due to changes to internal models (e.g. the introduction of input floors or more conservative calibrations of those floors), the removal of the possibility to use internal models for certain types of risk (e.g. operational risk) or for certain types of exposures under the credit risk framework (e.g. equity), and the introduction of the OF;
- Medium-sized banks would, on average, incur a small increase in capital requirements, mostly due to the revised standardised approach for credit risk under the full alignment option, while small banks would, on average, an overall decrease of capital requirements, mostly due to the changes to the operational risk rules. These findings corroborate the low impact of the final Basel III reforms observed in the previous EBA impact analysis, based on a wider sample of small and medium-sized banks;
- the introduction of EU specific adjustments under the preferred policy option would mitigate the overall impact of the reform on capital requirements to a greater extent for large banks than for small and medium-sized banks²⁷⁵, which are less impacted by the reform to begin with.

 $^{^{275}}$ This observation should also be true for all the EU specific adjustments under the preferred policy option for which impacts have not been quantified by the EBA (see the list in *Error! Reference source not found.*) and hence not reflected in *Figure 3* (since large banks, especially G-SIIs, tend to be more active in specialised lending, CIU, derivative and SFT markets which are all targeted by those adjustments). The preferred policy option would therefore have lower impacts for large banks, especially G-SIIs, than shown in *Figure 3*.

The advantage in terms of capital requirements that banks using internal models currently enjoy (because the use of internal models results, on average, in lower capital requirements than the use of standardised approaches), would be partly eroded under the preferred option. This would increase the relative competitiveness of banks not using internal models (mostly small and medium-sized banks) when compared to banks using those models (mostly large banks).

Figure 2: Breakdown of the impacts under the full alignment option in 2028 per risk category and per bank size.



Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; Commission, DG FISMA.

Figure 3: Breakdown of the impacts under the preferred policy option in 2030 per risk category and per bank size.



Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; Commission, DG FISMA.

As illustrated in Figure 4 and

Figure 5, the impact of the reforms would affect various EU banks' business models, with some noticeable differences:

- for mortgage banks, cross-border universal banks and local universal banks the full alignment option would result in high increases in overall capital requirements, mostly driven by the output floor, the modifications to the rules on the internal model approaches for credit risk and for operational risk. It is likely that most of the large banks have this business model, so the above explanations of the reasons behind the impact would also apply here;
- public development banks would also incur a high impact from the full alignment option, mostly due to the changes related to the internal model approach for credit risk. As the result, those banks would be less bound by the leverage ratio than currently, as demonstrated by the large decrease in the risk category "other";
- the other business models considered would incur a lower impact under the full alignment option (e.g. custodian banks would see a decrease in capital requirements);
- the preferred policy option would mitigate the impact across all business models, with the exception of public development banks, where the impact would remain unchanged. Importantly, under this option the impact would be better aligned across those business models which provide similar financial services (for instance on cross border universal banks, local universal banks and mortgage banks which all provide mortgages to their clients), maintaining a level playing field across those business models.

Figure 4: Breakdown of the impacts under the full alignment option in 2028 per risk category and per business model.



Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; Commission, DG FISMA.



Figure 5: Breakdown of the impacts under the preferred policy option in 2030 per risk category and per business model.

Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; Commission, DG FISMA.

Finally, as illustrated in

Figure 6 and *Figure 7*, the full alignment option would have a high impact on banks in a number of Member States (BE, DE, DK^{276} , ES, FR, IT, NL, SE) and relatively low impact in others (IE, PL, PT). The preferred policy option would mitigate the impact of the reforms across all Member States, particularly those most affected under the full alignment option.

 $^{^{276}}$ On 19 February, the Danish FSA published a press release indicating that one of the DK banks that are included in the EBA updated impact study published in December 2020 realised that a significant error has been included in its data submission to the EBA (see <u>https://www.dfsa.dk/News/Press-releases/2021/Revised_Basel_standards</u>). Based on corrected data, the impact for DK banks would increase from 19.7% to 36.4% under the full alignment scenario, shown in

Figure **6** and from 13.9% to 29.3% in the EU-specific scenario shown in the EBA impact study. However, the corrected data would only slightly increase the overall impacts presented in Section 6.1 which would not change the magnitude of those impacts nor the overall conclusions that can be drawn from their observations.



Figure 6: Breakdown of the impacts under the full alignment option in 2028 per risk category and per Member State.

Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; Commission, DG FISMA.

Figure 7: Breakdown of the impacts under the preferred policy option in 2030 per risk category and per Member State.



Sources: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; Commission, DG FISMA.

Impacts of the final elements of the Basel III reform on competitiveness between EU banks and their international peers

According to the ECB Financial Stability Review²⁷⁷ published in November 2020, despite the increased resilience of EU-area banks since the GFC (as shown in Section 1), weak profitability prospects continue to weigh on bank valuations. The first half of 2020 saw a marked decline in euro area banks' return on equity (ROE), from over 5% in the Q4 2019 to just above 2% in the Q2 2020 (see *Figure 8* below**Error! Reference source not found.**) mainly because of the low interest rate environment and the relatively high costs. Looking ahead, the ECB expects that EU banks' profitability to remain weak and to recover only very gradually to levels seen before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Figure 8: Evolution of the distribution of EU-area significant institutions' (SI) ROE and comparison with ROEs of listed banks in other regions of the world (left-hand side) and drivers of change in EU-area SI ROE between Q4 2019 and Q2 2020 (right-hand side).



Source: European Central Bank (ECB) Financial stability review, November 2020.

The EU-area banks' profitability now ranks below that of most of their international peers (see *Figure 8*). However, while this decrease in EU-area banks' profitability as compared to international peers accelerated over the last two years, EU banks' remained relatively attractive to investors maintained higher dividend pay-out ratios across most of the last decade compared to international peers, as shown in

²⁷⁷ See <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/financial-stability/fsr/html/index.en.html</u>.
Figure **9**.



Figure 9 : Evolution between 2011 and 2019 of the profits of the largest banks, and their distributions, by region

Source: Basel III Monitoring Report as of Q4 2019, December 2020, BCBS. Note: For each region, the profit and profit's distribution indicators gather data from the Group 1 banks of the region participating to the regular Basel III monitoring exercise performed by the BCBS. The dividend payout ratio is calculated as common share dividends divided by profits after tax by using a rolling 12 months window.

In light of this context, *Figure 10* shows that EU banks have built up their capital ratios faster than their international peers over the decade following the GFC and have "closed" the decade with, on average, higher capital ratios than their international peers. Furthermore, *Figure 10* shows that EU banks achieved this by both reducing their risk weighted assets and by increasing their capital stock through retained earnings and new capital issuance.

Figure 10: Evolution between 2011 and 2019 of the Tier 1 capital ratios of the largest banks, and drivers of that evolution, by region



Source: Basel III Monitoring Report as of Q4 2019, December 2020, BCBS. Note: For each region, the Tier 1 capital ratios gather data from the Group 1 banks of the region participating to the regular Basel III monitoring exercise performed by the BCBS. The figure shows the fully phased-in initial Basel III reforms for the data points up to and including the end of 2018 and the actual prudential framework (i.e. initial Basel III reforms with regional adjustments, if any) applicable for all the data points afterwards.

Despite their improved capital position, EU banks would still see a much higher average increase in capital requirements compared to their international peers when implementing the final Basel III reforms assuming full alignment (the average increase for US banks would be below 2%, whereas for bank from other regions of the world there would actually be a decrease in capital requirements, by more than 5% on average). This is clearly shown in the latest Basel III monitoring report²⁷⁸ also based on Q4 2019 data (see

²⁷⁸ See <u>https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d512.htm</u>.

Figure 11). These differences in the impacts across regions could be explained by the following reasons:

• compared to US banks, the difference likely arise due to a combination of a different financing model for US banks and the application, at least at this point in time, of stricter prudential requirements in the US compared to those contained in the final Basel III reform (and compared to those currently applied by EU banks). As shown in

- *Figure 11*, US banks would be much less impacted by the introduction of the output floor since US rules already contain a similar mechanism, introduced by US authorities after the GFC. In addition, US banks would be less impacted by the changes related to credit risk due to the wider recourse to securitisation, which allows them to remove a high portion of loans from their balance sheets. However, US banks would be more impacted by the revised market rules on trading activities than EU banks reflecting the high market share of those types of activities for US banks;
- compared to banks in other regions of the world²⁷⁹, the differences likely arise due to a combination of simpler business models, dominated by credit risk exposures, an overall lower reliance on internal models to calculate capital requirements and stricter prudential requirements compared to those contained in the final Basel III reform. As shown in

²⁷⁹ This conclusion is based on the overall impacts observed in

Figure 11 for the banks in other regions of the world and does necessary apply to all the jurisdictions included in this category, for which no conclusion could be drawn in the absence of more granular data.

• *Figure 11*, those banks would see an overall decrease of capital requirements when implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform, mainly driven by the changes to the credit risk capital requirements. This observation, combined with the fact the output floor would have almost no impact on those banks, leads us to believe that those banks use the standardised approach for credit risk for the vast majority of their exposures. The impact of the reforms affecting the capital requirements for trading activities (i.e. market and CVA risks) would also be very limited, which would indicate that those types of activities account for a small portion of the overall activities of those banks.

Figure 11: Breakdown of impacts of implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform on banks' Tier 1 MRC by region.



Source: Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, Basel III monitoring exercise, October 2019. Note: These impacts show, for each region, the changes in the overall Tier 1 MRC of all Group 1 banks of the region participating to the regular Basel III monitoring exercise performed by the BCBS.

The significantly higher increase in capital requirements that would be incurred by EU banks when implementing the final elements of the Basel III reforms (under the full alignment option) would likely lead to a further increase in their cost of capital²⁸⁰ and hence to a decrease in their relative²⁸¹ price competitiveness (the magnitude of the decrease would also depend on how much of the increase in the cost of capital could be absorbed by the banks, and not passed on to their clients). It may also lead to a temporary decrease in the attractiveness of EU banks to investors in case banks decided to retain a high portion of their profits to build up the necessary capital to meet the increased requirements (although it is also possible that banks would actually keep dividend payments high in order to attract investors to buy new capital the banks would issue to meet those requirements).

Note that the change in the relative price competitiveness of EU bank will also depend on the exact way in which the other jurisdictions will implement the final elements of the Basel III reform. For example, it is not necessarily the case that those jurisdictions that currently apply to their banks stricter requirements than those included in the final Basel III standards would decide to lower the level of their existing requirements to the level foreseen in those standards.

²⁸⁰ According to the Modigliani-Miller theorem, under certain conditions, an increase in the cost of equity would be offset by a corresponding decrease in the cost of debt, resulting in an unchanged cost of capital. However, since those conditions are usually not met in the real world (e.g. because of the preferential tax treatment of debt), this offset would not be perfect, and the increased cost of equity for EU banks would result in an increase in their overall cost of capital.

²⁸¹ The competitiveness of EU banks would deteriorate in relative term, but not necessarily in absolute terms (e.g. to the extent that EU banks currently have a more competitive price for a certain service, the gap with the prices offered by non-EU banks may close, but not necessarily reverse).

To ensure that there would not be a significant deterioration in the competitive position of EU banks as compared to their international peers the preferred policy option would introduce a number of EU specific adjustments that would reduce the increase in capital requirements due to the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform (as shown in Section 6.1). For example, the preferred policy option would allow adjusting capital requirements for trading activities, for which EU banks directly compete with their international peers on the global financial markets, in case other jurisdictions would significantly lower the capital requirements for those activities in their local implementation of the Basel III reform. Although the adoption of the preferred policy option would significantly reduce the impact of the reform on EU banks, the impact in terms of capital requirements may still remain higher than in other member jurisdictions implementing the Basel III reform. Also for this reason the preferred policy option would give EU banks 2 additional years to comply with the revised capital requirements than recommended by the BCBS.

The strengthened capital position of EU banks resulting from the reforms, as implemented under the preferred policy option, would restore the market confidence in the EU banking sector and thus increase its attractiveness for investors.

3. Impact on SMEs

As shown in *Figure 12*, SMEs rely heavily on banks to finance their business. It is therefore important to ensure that the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform does not result in a material deterioration in the banks' ability to finance SMEs.

As illustrated by *Figure 13* in EU banks' loans and advances to SMEs occurred between June 2019 and June 2020.



Figure 12: Relevance of various financing sources of euro area SMEs.

Source: Survey on the Access to Finance of Enterprises in the euro area (SAFE survey), ECB, November 2020. The sources of SMEs financing are gauged by the number of responses from participating SMEs to the SAFE survey conducted by the ECB between April and September 2020.

Figure 13: Evolution of EU banks loans and advances (in EUR trillions), by segment, between June 2019 and June 2020



Source: Risk Assessment of the European banking system, EBA, December 2020

As observed in

Figure 14, the obstacles to EU banks' financing of SMEs have been progressively reduced during the second half of the previous decade. It is likely that this was mainly due to the easing of the financing conditions spurred by the economic recovery during that period (after the severe recession during the previous years). However, it is possible that this trend may also have been influenced²⁸² by the introduction of policy measures in the CRR seeking to reduce the overall banks' capital requirements for SMEs' exposures (e.g. the introduction of the SME supporting factor and the exemption of derivatives transactions with non-financial companies from the capital requirement for CVA risk).

²⁸² While there isn't sufficient empirical evidence to claim that those measures have actively facilitated the easing of financing conditions for SMEs, it may be said that they likely contributed to preventing a deterioration in those conditions (by limiting increases in banks' capital cost associated with SME finance following the implementation of the initial Basel III reform in the EU).





Source: Survey on the Access to Finance of Enterprises in the euro area (SAFE survey), ECB, November 2020.

The potentiation deterioration of EU SMEs' financial situation as a consequence of the COVID-19 crisis ²⁸³ may lead to an increase in SME defaults and consequently in higher capital requirements for EU banks (non-performing exposures are subject to higher capital requirements compared to performing ones). This effect would, in turn, tighten the future financing conditions for the remaining SMEs (decrease the availability of credit or increase the cost of credit).

In this context, the implementation of the final Basel III standards has been carefully assessed in order to ensure it would not disrupt banks' financing to SMEs. To that end, the preferred option contains proposes a number of adjustments to the Basel standards:

- the existing SME supporting factor as well as the existing exemption of derivative transactions with non-financial companies (including SMEs) from the capital requirement for CVA risk would be maintained. ;
- for banks using internal models for credit risk, a transitional treatment for unrated companies under the output floor would be introduced. This would reduce the capital requirement for credit risk related to SMEs exposures under the output floor (the vast majority of EU corporates, including SMEs, are unrated);
- long-term equity holdings in unlisted SMEs would not be considered as speculative holdings. Hence, these equity holdings would benefit from the ordinary treatment of equities, which entails lower capital requirements than speculative equity holdings.

The individual impacts of the above measures, as estimated by the EBA, are provided in Section 6.1.

²⁸³ In its latest SAFE survey, the ECB has already observed this trend (see <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/stats/ecb_surveys/safe/html/ecb.safe202011~e3858add29.en.html</u>)

The other policy measures that would be included in the legislative proposal would affect banks' overall day-to-day risk management and supervision, and would therefore not have a direct impact on banks' financing to SMEs.

4. Macro-economic costs and benefits analysis

This section presents the macroeconomic costs and benefits analysis of the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in Union law. Other measures included in this legislative initiative were not included in the analysis because of lack of quantitative data. Nevertheless, those measures are expected to have a positive macroeconomic impact since they are aimed at improving banks' risk management, supervision and market discipline.

The analysis of the macroeconomic impacts of the implementation of the Basel III reform has been conducted by the ECB, in collaboration with the EBA, at the request of the Commission. The study updated²⁸⁴ the ECB macroeconomic costs and benefits analysis included in the EBA's second impact study on the final Basel III reforms published in December 2019²⁸⁵.

The ECB analysis relies on a semi-structural macroeconomic model that links the individual balance sheets of around 100 of the largest EU banks, their capital requirements based on a given prudential framework (either the current prudential framework applicable under the CRR or the final Basel III framework using certain implementation options) and a given set of forecasted macroeconomic indicators (including the annual EU Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth) using a set of dynamic assumptions. The full description of the model and its specifications is included in Section 2 of Annex 7.

The ECB has enhanced its previous analysis presented in the EBA's second impact study with two major improvements. First, the updated ECB analysis presented results under two different implementation options for the final elements of the Basel III reforms considered in Section 5.2.1, specifically the full alignment option (option 1) and the preferred policy option (option 3). Second, in order to respond to the Commission's request to reflect the potential consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic on the impact of implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform, the ECB analysis has been performed under two different sets of forecasted macroeconomic indicators²⁸⁶. The first set has been estimated based on Q4 2019 data, i.e. before the outbreak of the pandemic²⁸⁷

²⁸⁴ In this updated analysis, the ECB was able to reflect the latest available estimates of banks' individual impacts of the Basel III reforms, consistent with the overall EBA impacts shown in Section 6.1, as well as the recent ECB macroeconomic projections for the EU economy, including amid COVID-19 pandemic.
²⁸⁵ See EBA second impact study on the final Basel III reforms, December 2019

²⁸⁶ The forecasted macroeconomic indicators are consistent with the economic forecasts published by the Commission (see <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-performance-and-forecasts/economic-forecasts_en</u>).

²⁸⁷ For the complete set of ECB macroeconomic projections, see <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/projections/html/ecb.projections201912_eurosystemstaff~c7a91336cb.en.h</u> <u>tml</u>

(pre-COVID scenario). The second set has been estimated based on Q2 2020 data, i.e. after the first wave of the pandemic²⁸⁸ (COVID scenario).

Every year starting from one year after the envisaged date of application of the final elements of the Basel III reform, the ECB analysis has produced two main macroeconomic metrics to assess the macroeconomic costs and benefits of implementing the final Basel III reforms:

- the **expected impact of the reform on EU GDP growth** as defined by the difference between the expected future annual EU GDP²⁸⁹ growth as simulated under two prudential frameworks (i.e. the final Basel III standards under a given implementation option and the current prudential framework). A negative difference between two expected future annual EU GDPs growths would imply an expected macroeconomic cost resulting from the introduction of reforms, while a positive difference would imply a macroeconomic benefit;
- the impact of the reform on banks' to support EU GDP growth in case of an economic downturn as defined by the difference between a low percentile²⁹⁰ of the future annual EU GDP distribution as simulated under two different prudential frameworks (see previous point). A positive difference between the same percentiles of the two future annual EU GDP growth distributions would imply a macroeconomic benefit from the introduction of the reform under an economic downturn, whereas a negative difference would imply a macroeconomic cost under an economic downturn. This approach is based on the so-called Growth-at-Risk (GaR) macroeconomic concept²⁹¹ which focuses on the lower tail of the simulated annual EU GDP growth distribution in order to assess the ability of the banking sector to uphold lending to the real economy, thereby supporting growth, during an economic downturn.

As highlighted in the objectives, the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU would increase the resilience of the EU banking system in the long term, while giving rise to limited transitional costs in the short term. The results of the

²⁸⁸ For the complete set of ECB macroeconomic projections, see <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/projections/html/ecb.projections202006_eurosystemstaff~7628a8cf43.en.ht</u><u>ml</u>

²⁸⁹ In this context, the expected future EU GDP growth for a given year is the mathematical mean of the distribution of the EU GDPs growth generated by the model, for a given set of model specifications (ie given prudential framework and given set of ECB macroeconomic projections for the first three years). ²⁹⁰ The ECB chose the 10th percentile of this distribution in their analysis.

²⁹¹ In its previous analysis presented in the EBA's second impact study, the ECB also used another, alternative methodology to assess the long-term benefits of the implementation of the Basel III reforms, based on the Long-term Economic Impact (LEI) framework developed by the BCBS. The results of this alternative methodology showed that the implementation of the Basel III reforms would lead to a 1.2% reduction in the probability of a banking crisis within the EU financial system once the reforms are fully applied and would translate into a long-term net benefit of around 0.6% permanent increase in the EU annual GDP. Due to time and resource constraints, the present analysis focuses on the GaR approach to assess the long-term benefits which has the advantage to be more intuitive than the LEI framework.

ECB analysis support this conclusion. Importantly, they also support the preferred policy option.

In fact, the preferred policy option appears to strike the best trade-off in terms of limiting the transitional costs in the short term while producing a reasonable permanent benefit over the long term. More specifically:

- as illustrated by *Figure 15* below, the **expected impact of the reform on EU GDP growth**, under the pre-COVID scenario and the full alignment implementation option, would amount to a moderate macroeconomic net cost in terms of the annual EU GDP growth, increasing in the first three years of application (i.e. during the transitional arrangement), with a peak size of 0.13 p.p. of annual EU GDP growth, then decreasing to less 0.025p.p of annual GDP growth at the end of the transitional arrangement when the reform would be fully applicable, and finally turning into a small benefit of 0.01 p.p. afterwards. This outcome could be explained by a limited contraction of banks' lending during the transitional arrangement while banks adjust their balance sheets. Under the more severe COVID-19 scenario, macroeconomic net costs on the annual EU GDP growth would be more pronounced for a longer period but would nevertheless remain contained, reaching a peak of 0.13 p.p. one year later than under the pre-COVID scenario, and start to slowly decrease afterwards;
- the preferred policy option would mitigate the short term macroeconomic net costs resulting from the full alignment option, first in terms of magnitude, and second, because those costs would start to affect the annual EU GDP growth later as the result of the postponement of the start of the application of the reforms to 1 January 2025. In particular, this mitigating effect reducing the cost of the reforms on the EU GDP growth as compared to the full alignment option would last longer, at least until the end of the transitional arrangement when the reforms are fully applicable. This is particularly important for the recovery of the EU economy post COVID-19 in which banks will need to play a key role.
- as illustrated by *Figure 16*, **the impact of the reform on banks' ability to support EU GDP growth during economic downturns** would be positive, with a macroeconomic benefit starting 3 years after the full application of the reform, under all the different implementation options considered. Under the pre-COVID scenario²⁹², the net benefit would converge in the long term to above 0.1p.p of annual EU GDP growth under the full alignment option against above 0.04% under the preferred option. These results are mainly explained by the fact that better capitalised banks (and the reform would increase capital requirements) are better equipped to keep lending in case of an economic downturn thus avoiding (or at least

²⁹² The ECB only provided to the Commission the impacts of the reform on banks' ability to support EU GDP growth under economic downturns using the pre-COVID scenario, the difference of impacts using the COVID scenario being negligible.

significantly limiting) the probability of a credit crunch and the negative consequences it has on economic activity.

Figure 15: Comparison between the expected impacts on the EU GDP growth over time resulting from the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform under the different implementation options and under the pre-COVID scenario (left-hand-side) and COVID-scenario (right-hand side).



Source: ECB analysis of the macroeconomic costs/benefits of implementing the final Basel III reforms, 2021. Note: the green and blue (resp. dotted) lines represent the date of full (resp. partial) application of the final Basel III reforms at the end (resp. start) of the transitional arrangement under, respectively, the BCBS timelines, ie 1 January 2028 (resp. 1 January 2023), and under our preferred policy option, i.e. 1 January 2030, (resp. 1 January 2025).

Figure 16: Comparison between the impact of the reforms to support EU GDP growth under an economic downturn over time resulting from the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform under the different implementation options and under the pre-COVID scenario



Source: ECB analysis of the macroeconomic costs/benefits of implementing the final Basel III reforms, 2021. Note: the green and blue lines represent the date of full application of the final Basel III reforms at the end of the transitional arrangement under the BCBS timelines, ie 1 January 2028, and under our preferred policy option, ie 1 January 2030, respectively.

These results corroborate the conclusions of the previous ECB analysis on the macroeconomic costs and benefits of implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform. Despite more severe economic shocks reflected in the projected macroeconomic indicators under the updated ECB analysis, banks' improved capital ratios and the reduced impact of the final Basel III reform on individual banks as compared to the previous ECB analysis²⁹³.

The findings presented in the updated ECB analysis are also consistent with the conclusions of previous macroeconomic studies^{294,295,296} assessing the interaction between the appropriate level of banks' capital requirements and their capacity to continue financing the real economy amid economic downturns.

For the sake of completeness, it is worth mentioning another study dedicated to the macroeconomic impact of the Basel III reform on the EU economy, showing different findings than the ECB analysis. The study²⁹⁷ commissioned by the European Banking Federation and conducted by the Copenhagen Economics consultancy in 2021 concluded that EU GDP would decrease by 0.4% points on a permanent basis due to the full implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform (the study also showed that the Basel III reforms should provide societal benefits of some 0.1% of EU GDP, bringing the total net societal costs of the package to a decrease of 0.3% of EU GDP). However, the modelling assumptions taken in this analysis appear more conservative than in the ECB analysis and do not take into account the specific measures adopted in the preferred policy options to mitigate the impacts of the Basel III reforms.

²⁹⁴ Impact of the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) on the access to finance for business and long-term investment, London Economics Europe, 2016 (see <u>https://londoneconomics.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Assessing-the-impact-of-the-Capital-Requirements-Regulation-CRR-on-the-access-to-finance-for-business-and-long-term-investments.pdf)</u>

²⁹⁵ Optimal Bank capital, Bank of England, 2011 (see <u>https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/external-mpc-discussion-paper/2011/optimal-bank-capital</u>)

²⁹³ Section 1 and Section 6.1 provide supporting evidence for these observations.

²⁹⁶ Do Better Capitalized Banks Lend Less?, International Finance, 2014 (see <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/infi.12041</u>)

²⁹⁷ See <u>copenhagen-economics_eu-implementation-of-the-final-basel-iii.pdf (copenhageneconomics.com)</u>

ANNEX 7: ANALYTICAL METHODS

1. EBA impact analysis

In May 2018, the Commission requested technical advice from the EBA on the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU. The EBA submitted its advice in two parts, on 5 August 2019 and on 4 December 2019. The first part ('August 2019 CfA response') covered the areas of credit risk, operational risk, securities financing transactions and output floor. The second part ('December 2019 CfA response') covered the areas of market risk and credit valuation adjustment risk standards, as well as a macroeconomic impact assessment carried out by the ECB. The advice included a detailed quantitative impact analysis on the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU, based on data as of end-June 2028.

This sample has been reduced from the 189 banks from 18 Member States and Norway included in the previous EBA analysis published in the August 2019 and December 2019 CfA responses, which covered 86% the total banking assets of those countries. As the consequence, some Member States (see

Table **1**) and business models (see *Table 3*) were not represented in the sample used for the December 2020 CfA response, while others had a much more limited representation. In addition, the coverage in terms of small and medium-sized banks was considerably reduced (4 small banks and 22 medium-sized banks; see *Table 2*).

The level of coverage varies across jurisdictions (see *Error! Reference source not found.* below). It is lowest for Austria (13%) and varies from 42% to 143% of the remaining jurisdictions. The coverage reaches above 100% in those jurisdictions where some QIS participants are EU-located subsidiaries of non-EU controlled (e.g. US) groups and are therefore not included in the denominator of the coverage ratio. It should be noted that while at the EU level the reduction in coverage relative to the August 2019 and December 2019 CfA responses is not considered material, this is not the case for some countries. In particular, the coverage in Austria (from 74% to 13%), Luxembourg (from 103% to 65%) and Poland (from 88% to 42%) has dropped significantly. Therefore, for those Member States the results in the December 2020 CfA response are much less representative and are either not displayed in the country breakdowns or, if displayed, should be interpreted with caution.

In order to avoid double-counting the impacts, banks participating in the QIS data collection exercise were asked to report data at the highest level of EU consolidation. Unless stated otherwise, subsidiaries of EU parents are included in the average calculations only when impact results are presented by business model or by country, provided that they do not belong to the same business model or country as their parent entity.

Member States	Number of banks		Q4 2019 sample
	Q2 2018	Q4 2019 QIS	coverage in terms of
	sample	sample	banking assets in
			Member States
AT	15	5	13%
BE	7	4	93%
DE	40	24	56%
DK	8	4	89%
EE	2	0	-
ES	10	6	79%
FI	5	1	71%
FR	14	7	87%
GR	2	3	73%
HU	1	1	75%
IE	8	8	143%
IT	24	11	89%
LU	6	2	65%
MT	1	0	-
NL	12	7	89%
NO	6	2	67%
PL	9	4	42%
РТ	6	4	72%
SE	11	6	84%
Total	189	99	76%

Table 1: Breakdown of banks included in Q2 2018 and Q4 2019 samples of EBA quantitative impact analysis, per Member States

Source: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020

Notes: Percentages higher than 100% are due to the presence of foreign-controlled (non-EU) subsidiaries in the QIS sample of certain EU Member States (e.g. subsidiaries of US institutions located in the EU

The EBA quantitative impact analysis used two other criteria to differentiate the impacts of the final elements of the Basel III reform on EU banks:

- <u>bank size</u> the EBA defined three size categories: large, medium and small. The definitions of 'large' and 'small' banks were based on the respective CRR definitions²⁹⁸ ('medium' banks, which are not defined in the CRR, are banks that meet neither of the CRR definitions);
- <u>bank business model</u> the EBA defined thirteen business model categories: crossborder universal banks (Cross-Border U), local universal banks (Local U), automotive and consumer credit banks (Autos & Cons), building societies (Building Soc), locally active saving and loan associations/cooperative banks (S&L/Coop), private banks (Private), custody banks (Custody), central counterparties (CCP), merchant banks (Merchant), leasing and factoring banks

²⁹⁸ See point 146 of Article4 of the CRR for the definition of large banks and point 145 Article 4 of the CRR for the definition of small (and non-complex) banks.

(Leasing), public development banks (Public Dev), mortgage banks²⁹⁹ (Mortgage), and other specialised banks (Other special). These categories are further described in the August 2019 CfA response.

Table 2: Breakdown of banks included in Q2 2018 and Q4 2019 samples of EBA quantitative impact analysis, per size

Size	Number of banks	
	Q2 2018 sample	Q4 2019 QIS
		sample
Large	104	73
of which: G-SIIs	8	8
of which: O-SIIs	67	46
Medium	61	22
Small	24	4
Total	189	99

Source: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; European Commission estimates.

Table 3: Breakdown of banks included in Q2 2018 and Q4 2019 samples of EBAquantitative impact analysis, per size

Business Model	Number of banks		
	Q2 2018 sample	Q4 2019 QIS	
		sample	
Cross-border U	40	34	
Local U	52	31	
Auto & Cons	7	2	
Building Soc	6	2	
S&L / Coop	34	11	
Private	8	2	
Custody	7	3	
ССР	1	1	
Merchant	5	2	
Leasing	1	0	
Public Dev	10	4	
Mortgage	8	5	
Other special	10	2	
Total	189	99	

Source: Basel III reforms impact study, EBA, December 2020; European Commission estimates.

<u>Methodology</u>

The methodology used to calculate the impact estimates in terms of change in minimum capital requirements, regulatory capital ratios and shortfalls remained unchanged in relation to the estimates published in the August and December 2019 CfA responses (the full details of the methodology used is described in the respective responses).

²⁹⁹ Including pass-through financing models.

The impact estimates are not directly comparable to those of the Basel III monitoring report as of the same date (i.e. based on Q4 2019) which have been published by the EBA in December 2020^{300} . This is due to the fact that they are based on different samples of EU banks but also to some methodological differences, as described in the December 2020 CfA response.

In accordance with the requests of the Commission in its CfA, the impact analysis presented in this December 2020 CfA response is based on two different implementation options for the final elements of the Basel III reform in the EU.

The first implementation option (labelled 'Basel III') corresponds to the Basel III central scenario in the August 2019 and December 2019 CfA responses. It represents the situation as it would have been in Q4 2019 if the Basel III framework had already been fully implemented and the transitional period had passed. The impact estimates under this option are used to quantify the policy option 1 in Section 5.2.1.

The second implementation option (labelled 'EU-specific') considers additional EU specific adjustments requested by the Commission in its CfA, specifically:

- maintaining the supporting factor for exposures to SMEs as amended by the CRR II under both the SA-CR and the IRBA³⁰¹ (including for the purpose of the output floor calculation);
- maintaining the current CVA exemptions;
- reusing the eligibility criteria of the original exposure method (OEM) (see Article 273a(2) of the CRR) for the eligibility criteria of the simplified method for calculating the capital requirements for CVA risk;
- assuming that the discretion included in the final Basel III framework to set ILM equal to 1 in the SMA for operational risk would be exercised permanently for all 'bucket 2' and 'bucket 3' banks.

The impact estimates of the EU-specific scenario included in the December 2020 CfA response serve as a starting point to quantify the impact of policy options 2 and 3 in Section 5.2.1. In fact, those policy options propose a number of additional EU specific adjustments that the EBA was unable to quantify due to data constrains. Since the EU-specific scenario does not include the additional EU specific adjustments, the impacts of those policy options are overestimated. Therefore, in order to produce more realistic estimates of the actual impacts of those two policy options, the Commission services used expert judgement and additional data sources to estimate the impact of the additional EU specific adjustments. These estimates do not have the same degree of

See

³⁰⁰

https://www.eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/Publications/Reports/2020/9607 97/Basel%20III%20monitoring%20report%20-%20Dec%202020.pdf.

³⁰¹ In the absence of available impact estimates for this EU specific adjustment in the end-December 2019 QIS templates, the EBA use for this EU specific adjustments a proxy impact estimates based on the Q2 2018 data

accuracy than the quantitative estimates carried by the EBA and must be interpreted with caution.

Furthermore, the analysis for the proposed approach to implement the output floor under policy options 2 and 3 in Section 5.2.1 is based on the estimates of the 'alternative approach' included in the December 2020 CfA response. This alternative approach provides a good proxy for the proposed approach to implement the output floor but it may overestimate its actual impact since the potential reduction of the P2R and the SyRB requirement as the result of supervisory action is not quantified. As explained in Section 5.2.1, such supervisory action would be proposed in order to avoid double counting aggressive modelling risk under the proposed approach.

It is also important to note that under both the Basel III and EU-specific scenarios used in the December 2020 CfA response, the impact of the final CVA framework published in July 2020 is reflected via a robust proxy (see the description of proxy in the response).

Finally, as requested by the Commission in its CfA, the EU-specific scenario also includes the effects of some support measures that have been adopted in 2020 to mitigate the effect of COVID-19 crisis on EU banks, specifically the frontloading of the prudential treatment of software assets adopted as part of the CRR quick fix package and the frontloading of the change in the P2R composition adopted by the ECB³⁰². In order to assess the pure impact of the final elements of the Basel III reform under this scenario, the EBA assumed that these policy measures were already in place in Q4 2019. Therefore, the effect of these measures are not reflected under the impact estimates of the EU-specific scenario published in the December 2020 CfA response³⁰³.

With regard to the specific analysis on the combined effect of the final elements of the Basel III reform and the potential effects of the COVID-19 crisis, the EBA had to develop several hypothetical scenarios on the potential deterioration of the financial situation of EU banks' borrowers and the effects of maintaining some support measures put in place by Member States and competent authorities should the crisis last, as requested in the Commission August 2020 CfA. All these assumptions are extensively described in the December 2020 CfA response. This combined effect has only been assessed by the EBA under the EU-specific scenario.

Limitations/Caveats

The updated impact analysis contained in the December 2020 CfA response is subject to the following limitations/caveats, which have to be taken into account when interpreting the results of the analysis:

³⁰² See <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2020/html/ecb.pr200312~45417d8643.en.html</u>.

³⁰³ For the sake of completeness, the EBA also provided in an annex to the December 2020 CfA response a partial set of impact estimates under the EU-specific scenario in which the effects of these support measures are visible. However, for the sake of comparison with the Basel III scenario, in which these support measures are not reflected, this impact assessment uses the impact estimates of the EU-specific scenario in which the support measures are not reflected.

- <u>limited sample</u>: the sample of banks included in the December 2020 CfA response is significantly smaller than the sample used for the August and December 2019 CfA responses. As observed in the above description of the sample used, EU banks in some Member States are absent from the sample and the number of EU banks in certain categories is too limited to be representative;
- <u>conservative assumptions for the impact estimates</u>: as for the August 2019 and December 2019 CfA responses, a number of simplifying and conservative assumptions have been applied for the impact estimates in the December 2020 CfA response. These assumptions are likely to result in an overestimation of the impacts. For instance, the EBA used the assumption of a static balance sheet under which banks do not react to the revised requirements by adjusting their businesses and/or managing their regulatory capital costs. Also, the EBA used conservative proxies to estimate some impacts in the situation that the actual impacts in the Q4 2019 data were not available (e.g. for the EU specific adjustment on the SME supporting factor and for the impact of the final CVA framework);
- <u>conservative assumptions under the COVID-19 scenarios</u>: as explained in Section 6.1, the EBA used very conservative assumptions in its specific quantitative analysis of the combined effect on EU banks of the final elements of the Basel III reform and the potential consequences of the COVID-19 crisis. In particular, the EBA methodology uses a stress-testing approach which assumes a simultaneous deterioration in the financial situation of all borrowers of EU banks, i.e. even for borrowers that do not currently experience difficulties. Also, the most severe COVID-19 scenario assumes two cumulative shocks, one global and one sectorial, to infer the deterioration of the financial situation of a sectorial shock only would not be sufficient to assess the impacts on the sectors of the real economy that are the most affected by the COVID-19 crisis.

2. ECB macroeconomic costs and benefits analysis

The ECB macroeconomic analysis presented in this impact assessment is an update of the previous macroeconomic analysis published in the December 2019 CfA response.

Following the one-year delay for the implementation of the final elements of the Basel III reform agreed by the BCBS in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Commission asked the ECB in August 2020 to update its quantitative impact analysis with the most recent available data, considering the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the EU banking sector and the wider economy.

Data sources

The structure of banks' balance sheets is sourced from the stress test templates of the 2018 EU-wide exercise and updated with the information from FINREP / COREP based on Q4 2019 data. Estimated impacts of the final elements of the Basel III reform are based on the templates used for the regular Basel III monitoring exercise based on Q4 2019 data. The data sources are therefore consistent with the EBA impact analysis presented in the December 2020 CfA response.

The bank-level behavioural dynamics and their sensitivity to external factors (e.g. IRFS 9 parameters) are estimated with the use of FINREP / COREP data, balance sheet items (BSI) and MFI interest rate (MIR) statistics collected by euro-area central banks for monetary policy purposes, public bank-level information, and external market data. The macroeconomic dataset consists of the aggregate information from Eurostat on national accounts, price indices, interest rates and central bank assets approximating the intensity of unconventional monetary policy.

Sample of the analysis

The ECB macroeconomic impact analysis includes 100 EU banks from 19 euro-area Member States and one Norwegian bank, reporting data of sufficient quality at the highest level of consolidation. This sample covers over 70% of total euro-area banking sector assets. The country breakdown of banks included in the sample is provided in *Table 4* below. No additional information about the profiles of the banks included in the sample has been provided by the ECB. The findings of the ECB analysis included in this impact assessment relate to both the EU and Norwegian economies but only references to the EU economy have been included for the sake of simplicity.

Member States	Number of banks in the sample
AT	6
BE	6
CY	2
DE	20
DK	3
EL	4
ES	11
FI	2
FR	10
HU	1
IE	4
IT	9

Table 4 : Breakdown of banks included the Q4 2019 sample of ECB macroeconomic analysis, per Member States and Norway

LU	5
MT	2
NL	6
NO	1
PL	2
РТ	2
SE	3
SI	2
Total	101

Source: ECB

<u>Methodology</u>

The ECB macroeconomic impact analysis relies on the Banking Euro Area Stress Test (BEAST) model which is a semi-structural macroeconomic model that links the dynamics of individual banks' balance sheets with macroeconomic indicators³⁰⁴.

Using a set of dynamical assumptions, the model links the individual banks' balance sheets to their capital requirements based on a given specification for the applicable prudential framework (either the current prudential framework under the CRR or an implementation option for the final Basel III framework) and a given set of macroeconomic indicators (including the EU Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth). For a given specification, the model generates multiple times the potential evolution of the macro-economic indicators for every year over a long time horizon, leading to a probabilistic distribution of these indicators ³⁰⁵, the model is calibrated to match those forecasts over the first three years of the time horizon, and thereafter these indicators are generated according to the model dynamics.

On the asset side of banks' balance sheets, the model distinguishes various classes of banks' exposures and applies dynamical assumptions for the evolution of the IFRS 9 credit stages to those exposure classes (stage 1 to3) using endogenous transition rates that depend on the macroeconomic indicators. The dynamics assumptions also adjust, for each exposure class, banks' loan volumes and the interest rates charged on those loans in response to loan demand conditions, monetary policy rates and depending on their own capital position, profitability or the quality of assets.

On the liability side of banks' balance sheets, the model distinguishes various forms of deposits and their level depending on the types of banks' depositors. The dynamical

³⁰⁴ For more details in about this model, see ECB Working papers series, December 2020 (<u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/scpwps/ecb.wp2469~a139d2f5cd.en.pdf?a8fe33c3c9c7d0c629daa9d9</u> c9b1e6b3).

³⁰⁵ See <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/projections/html/index.en.html; these projections are consistent with the Commission's economic forecast.</u>

assumptions changes banks' costs of funding depending on the macroeconomic conditions and, as regards wholesale funding, on banks' capitalisation and asset quality.

Regarding banks' profits and losses, the model recalculates banks' net interest income, loan loss provisions and net fee and commission income in details over the simulation. Certain components of P&L, such as dividend income or changes to the trading book assets, follow a simpler evolution generated by dynamic assumptions.

The model also incorporates a number of support measures adopted in light of the COVID-19 crisis, including country-specific public moratoria and guarantee schemes adopted by Member States as well as capital release measures adopted by the ECB and supervisory authorities³⁰⁶.

The effects of the final elements of the Basel III reform are assessed using the same data impacts and broad methodology than the EBA analysis, although the sample of banks included in the ECB analysis is slightly different. The ECB analysis includes two implementation options for the implementation of the reform. The first implementation option is based on the full alignment with the final Basel III standards and BCBS timelines, similar to option 1 in Section 5.2.1. The second implementation option of EU specific adjustments (these adjustments are limited to those that EBA was able to quantify; see Section 1 of this Annex). The second implementation option is also based on the same 'alternative approach' for the implementation of the output floor as in the EBA updated impact analysis. Therefore, the second implementation option could be considered as a good proxy for the impact of the preferred option in Section 5.2.1

Every year starting from one year after the envisaged date of application of the final elements of the Basel III reform, the ECB analysis produces two main macroeconomic metrics to assess the macroeconomic costs and benefits of implementing the reform:

• the expected impact of the reform on EU GDP growth as defined by the difference between the expected future EU GDP³⁰⁷ growth as simulated under two different set of rules for the capital requirements calculations, the first one based on one of the options considered for implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform and the second one based on the current prudential framework. A negative difference between two expected future EU GDPs growths would imply an expected macroeconomic cost resulting from the introduction of the reform, and vice versa. It is important to note that in the ECB model an increase in banks' capital requirements can lead to a reduction in bank lending, and occasionally a reduction in GDP growth;

³⁰⁶ For more detailed description see <u>Budnik et al. (2021)</u>, <u>Policies in support of lending following the</u> coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, ECB Occasional Paper, mimeo

³⁰⁷ In this context, the expected future EU GDP growth for a given year is the mathematical mean of the distribution of the EU GDPs growth generated by the model, for a given set of model specifications (ie given prudential framework and given set of ECB projected macroeconomic indicators for the first three years).

• the impact of the reform to support EU GDP growth under economic downturns as defined by the difference between a low percentile³⁰⁸ of the future EU GDP distribution as simulated under two different sets of rules for the capital requirements calculations, the first one based on one of the options considered for implementing the final elements of the Basel III reform and the second one based on the current prudential framework. A positive difference between the same percentiles of the two future EU GDP growth distributions would imply a macroeconomic benefit from the introduction of reforms under an economic downturn, and vice versa. This approach is based on the so-called Growth-at-Risk (GaR) macroeconomic concept which focuses on the lower tail of the simulated EU GDP growth distribution in order to assess the ability of the banking sector to keep lending to the real economy during an economic downturn, thereby supporting growth.





Source: ECB

Limitations/Caveats

The ECB macroeconomic impact analysis is subject to the following limitations/caveats, which have to be carefully taken into account when interpreting the results:

- <u>limited sample</u>: as for the EBA updated impact analysis, the sample size used in the ECB analysis is limited to the largest banks of EU Member States and Norway. However, these banks hold the majority of banking assets in those countries;
- <u>assumptions of the macroeconomic model</u>: the assumptions of the ECB model tend to translate an increase in banks' capital requirements into a reduction in banks' lending and a reduction in EU GDP growth. This assumption is rather conservative and, may not be met in reality (for instance, the large increase in EU banks' capital requirements resulting from the reforms adopted post-GFC did not lead to a large reduction in bank lending);

³⁰⁸ The ECB chose the 10th percentile of this distribution in their analysis.

• <u>overestimation of the impact of the EU specific implementation option</u>: similarly to the EBA updated impact analysis, the ECB analysis only reflected a limited number of EU specific adjustments that are proposed under options 2 and 3 of Section 5.2.1. This may lead to an overestimation (underestimation) of the macroeconomic costs (benefits) of the reform, although likely not to a significant degree.